Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Monday, 18th October, 2021 at 10.30 am
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 10.00 a.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
S Burke -

Middleton Park;

P Carlill -

Calverley and Farsley;

D Chapman S Firth B Flynn S Hamilton J Heselwood A Hutchison J McKenna A Scopes (Chair) S Seary -

Rothwell;
Harewood;
Adel and Wharfedale
Moortown;
Bramley and Stanningley;
Morley North;
Armley;
Beeston and Holbeck;
Pudsey;

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting: Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk)
Members of the public are now able to attend the meeting in person but please be mindful
that Coronavirus is still circulating in Leeds. Therefore, even if you have had the vaccine, if
you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high temperature; a new, continuous cough; or a loss
or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should NOT attend the meeting and stay at
home and get a PCR test. For those who are attending the meeting, please bring a face
covering unless you are exempt.

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rob Clayton
Tel: 37 88790
Produced on Recycled Paper

A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3
If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

Item
No
3

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 20 SEPTEMBER 2021

7 - 14

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting held on 20 September 2021
7

THE VALUE OF CULTURE AND CREATIVITY IN
LEEDS’ SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC RECOVERY
FROM COVID-19
To consider a report from the Chief Officer, Culture
and Economy setting out the cultural offer in
Leeds, highlighting its value to the city in terms of
health and well-being and wider economic benefit,
setting out the role culture can play in recovery
from the Covid-19 pandemic and highlighting the
significant milestone and linked opportunities for
Leeds that will arise from the Year of Culture in
2023.

C

15 44

Item
No
8

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
FUTURE WASTE STRATEGY INQUIRY –
FINANCE AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

45 62

To consider a report from the Head of Democratic
Services setting out the agreed Terms of
Reference and remit for the work of the Board on
recycling services in Leeds as part of a joint work
item with the Environment, Housing and
Communities Scrutiny Board. The report also
provides initial information on finance matters
related to recycling to guide the Boards initial work
on this subject.

9

BUDGET 2021/22 FINANCIAL HEALTH
UPDATE, FINANCIAL CHALLENGE AND
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

63 178

To consider a report from the Head of Democratic
Services providing a financial update to members
following work initiated in July which established a
focus on ensuring budget robustness and longterm budget sustainability during the board’s work
in 2021/22. The Council’s Medium Term Financial
Strategy and latest Financial Health report are
presented to members as part of this approach.
10

ANNUAL CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT
REPORT

179 202

To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services presenting the Annual Corporate Risk
Management Report considered by Executive
Board in July 2021.
11

WORK PROGRAMME
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work programme
for the 2021/22 municipal year.

12

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting of the Board is on Monday, 29
November 2021 at 10.30am (Pre-meeting for all
Board Members at 10.00 am)

D

203 224

Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
THIRD PARTY RECORDING
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of
those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.

E

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
MONDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor A Scopes in the Chair
Councillors K Brooks, S Burke, P Carlill,
D Chapman, S Firth, B Flynn, K Renshaw
and S Seary

CHAIRS OPENING COMMENTS
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting, the first face to face meeting of the
Board since February 2020, the start of the pandemic.

1

He also sent best wishes to Cllr McKenna, who had tested positive for
Coronavirus. He said that the Board wished him well and he was in their
thoughts and prayers.
Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents

2

There were no appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

3

There were no exempt items.
Late Items

4

There were no late items.
Declaration of Interests

5

Declaration of interests were declared by Cllr Sam Firth in relation to Agenda
Item 8 Electoral Services Update. It was noted that Cllr Firth was the Chair of
Leeds East Constituency Conservatives and Deputy Chair for West Yorkshire
Conservatives.
Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes
Apologies were received from Councillors Hamilton, Heselwood, Hutchison
and McKenna.

6

Councillor Brooks was present as substitute for Councillor Heselwood and
Councillor Renshaw was present as substitute for Councillor Hamilton.
Meeting Notes - 19 July 2021

7

RESOLVED – That the meeting notes of the consultative meeting held on 19th
July 2021, be approved as a correct record.
Matters arising

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 7

The Board was advised that a response has been received from Government
in relation to the letter sent on behalf of Scrutiny Boards, Strategy and
Resources and Adults and Health and Active Lifestyles. The letter had been
sent to seek information from Government about long term funding of Adult
Social Care.
The letter from Government had been circulated to Board Members in
advance of the meeting.

8

Board Members said that they were grateful for the response but were
disappointed in the length of time that it had taken.
Improving the experience and outcomes of Black, Asian and Minority
Ethnic colleagues at Leeds City Council
The Director of Resources submitted a report to provide an update to the
Board on the joint commitment from Corporate Leadership Team and the
BAME Staff Network to improve the work experience and outcomes for BAME
colleagues at Leeds City Council.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr Debra Coupar- Executive Member for Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources
 Graham Sephton – Human Resources
The Board was advised of the following points:
 That good progress had been made with the establishment of a Race
Equality Action Plan. The action plan would look at progression
opportunities and recruitment, a zero-tolerance approach and work to a
stronger data set.
 Good work was progressing through all the Directorates to ensure that
the Council was representative of all the communities of the City.
 BAME Network were continuing to listen to experiences of staff through
network groups and surveys. It was recognised that using BAME
characteristics would not being enough to cover whether all minorities
were represented and that further analysis should be undertaken to
ensure all protected characteristics and communities were
represented.
 Sal Tariq the Director of Children and Families was leading on work
highlighted as key themes. It was noted that it was important to have
peers and partner groups also involved, as well as high level
leadership.
 A wider piece of work was to be undertaken to look at inclusion for
other protected characteristics such as disability and carers
 Work on inclusion with other anchor organisations such as CPS, NHS,
Police and other health partners will also feed into this work.
The Boards discussions included:
 The correct use of terminology, building trust so that staff can talk
honestly about their experiences.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 8









9

Establishing inclusive or independent recruitment panels. Further
training to be given to recruitment panels. Assessments and
applications to be as inclusive as possible for all the diverse
communities.
How outcomes will be measured, monitored and challenged. It was
noted that the working group is currently putting together a set of
measures which would cover race, gender, disability, and other
protected characteristics. It was recognised that often data was
presented without detail, the new measures would look to provide more
detailed information than previously and compare with the working age
population.
Members acknowledged the use of anonymised shortlisting and
welcomed this approach and were interested to learn if it made a
difference through comparison with other organisations that have
already introduced it.
Exit surveys. Members showed interest in gathering information from
leavers interviews and also the frequency of these interviews, to see
what lessons could be learned. Members were advised that information
from leavers interviews would be included in the next update report.

RESOLVED – To:
a) Note the contents of the report
b) Note the Race Equality Action Plan 2021-23 and the Council wide
activity in place to support the work
c) Receive further updates and reports
d) Receive wider inclusion updates to future meetings including staff
networks providing direct feedback to the Board
Electoral Services Update - voting behaviour, postal voting and turnout
The Head of Electoral Services submitted a report to provide an update and
inform the Board in relation to voter behaviour at the May 2021 elections and
the proposed Elections Bill.
In attendance for this item were:
 John Mulcahy – Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory
 Sue Wolfe – Deputy Head of Electoral Services
The Board were informed of the following points:
 At the elections held in May 2021, there had been a significant
increase in voters using the postal service to vote. It was noted that
205k voters used the service. Members were advised that this was the
largest number of postal voters in a single local authority in England.
Following the May elections, the number of postal voters reduced due
to the removal of applications made for these elections specifically, and
a small number of cancellation requests. It was acknowledged that
postal voters now stand at 195k.
 With regards to the Election Bill and the proposal for voter ID, the
Board were advised that the Elections Team were still awaiting further
information from Government.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 9

Responding to questions from Members, the Board were informed of the
following:
 The number of rejected votes was the same as usual. Information on
the number of rejected votes can be provided and can be broken down
to wards.
 It was acknowledged that there had been no use of portacabins at the
May elections due to Covid. Polling stations had been assessed prior
to the elections to ensure that they were accessible to all. It was
recognised that portacabins were not always accessible to all and there
were cost implication in getting the portacabins and arranging for them
to be ramped. It was not yet known if there would be any changes to
polling stations at future elections. There is a planned review of the
polling districts, through the Polling District Review which may have
potential implications to polling stations.
 It was noted that polling districts are reviewed every 5 years. The
Board was informed that proposals would be sent to all Members for
their views and comments. The review would also take account of the
views submitted by the public.
 The 2021 Election count had been carried over to the following
morning as the verification process of all ballot papers had not finished
until 3am on the Friday morning. This was due to postal votes arriving
at polling stations on election day. Members requested to know how
many postal votes had been handed in to polling stations. It was noted
that this information was available.
 Guidance and instructions are provided to staff and voters. All staff at
polling stations receive training, Polling staff are also able to contact
Electoral Service to ask advice.
 Should voter ID become part of the election system the Government
would cover the costs, there would be no cost to the voter.
Members also discussed the following:
 The importance of using portacabins as polling stations for certain
areas for ease of access to vote.
 The importance of linking voting to the school curriculum.
 Instructions for voting to be simplified.
The Board was advised that there was a cross party electoral working group
which was well attended by all parties. The working group would be involved
in the Polling District Review and any potential changes to voting.
The Elections Team were thanked for all the work that had been undertaken
prior to, during and after the election.

10

RESOLVED – To note the content of the report and for the Head of Electoral
Services to provide a further update to the Scrutiny Board once a timeline for
implementation of the Elections Bill has been published.
IDS - Vision, Project and Programme Management - Third Report

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 10

The report of the Chief Digital Information Officer expanded on the overall
vision and plans reported at the Scrutiny Board, Strategy and Resources at
the June and July meetings.
In attendance for this item were:
 Councillor Debra Coupar – Executive Member for Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources
 Jason Tutin – Digital and Learning Development Manager
 Bev Fisher – Deputy Head Integrated Digital Services
Members were advised that this was the third report and provided further
details on the following:
 Citizen digital skills
 Council staff digital leadership and skills
 Service desk calls and performance improvement
The presenting officers informed the Board of the following points:
 One of the Councils priorities is to ensure that everyone in the city has
access to digital inclusion. It was recognised that this would have
financial implications in respect of delivering savings by providing skills
that could potentially reduce the volume of contacts with the Council.
 Need to build skills within the Council’s workforce. It was
acknowledged that when services are designed, they should be
designed around a user perspective. IDS have signed up to the
Government Digital Standards, which looks to provide appropriate
training. IDS are also looking at agile working methods, that involves
clear understanding of roles and working collaboratively with the
business and citizens within short two-week periods known as ‘sprints’.
IDS are currently looking at training for this collaborative style of
working.
 In terms of skills for staff IDS are looking at more training around the
Government Digital Standards, on the role of agile, online training
through Bubo and Union Learn which provides skills for life not just for
working for the Council. It was recognised that technology is constantly
changing and that this will become the ‘business norm’.
 The service desk has had significant challenges over the last eighteen
months in meeting service targets. This had been a combination of
capacity of people to answer the phones, and the number of people
who have left the organisation. It was acknowledged that during Covid
calls had increased, but there had also been the implementation of a
number of changes which had also generated more calls. The
Leadership Team have put in place several actions to address the
issue, including recruitment, improved technology that the service
could use and also looking at how calls are responded to and recorded.
Responding to questions from Members, the Board were informed of the
following points:
 Pre pandemic there were motivation barriers to digital inclusion. Covid
showed that there was a need to use technology. It was recognised
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 11










that there were still issues in getting digital inclusion for all. The IDS
team are working with other organisations to bring a voice to those who
have no digital access and how to improve the service.
It was noted that more up to date performance information could be
provided to Board Members.
The Service appreciated that it had been frustrating for all those using
the service desk over the last eighteen months, but they were sure that
they would be able to provide a good service once they were back at
full capacity, and that the use of web chats and automated services,
such as ‘bots’, would improve service to customers.
Discussions were ongoing in relation to the removal of the drop-in
centre in Civic Hall to Apex and whether this would be reinstated.
The performance information is provided in a standard format, linked to
industry standards, and it has been reviewed previously.
It was noted that IDS were working with a number of partner
organisations including neighbourhood networks and social prescribing
teams. It was recognised that face to face contact as well as digital
inclusion were both important. Members were of the view that there
was a need for the services to be integrated and joined together.
The Library Service have been a part of the service including face to
face and providing access to digital services. They were able to provide
assistance with digital skills and offer a lending scheme for equipment
to residents.

RESOLVED – To:
a) Note the existing actions underway around Citizen digital skills
through the 100% Digital Leeds programme and that work is already
underway on this through the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive
Growth Scrutiny Board
b) Note the need for and proposed actions around increasing digital
skills of our staff and leaders
c) Note the Service Desk performance and improvement action plan.

11

Cllr Flynn joined the meeting at 11:57 during discussions on this item.
Future Working Arrangements, agile working and estate realisation
The report of the Head of Democratic Services presented a scrutiny statement
following four evidence sessions and a summary of evidence report all looking
at future working arrangements, agile working and estate realisation at Leeds
City Council. Feedback from a further session held in July at the Board’s
consultative meeting was appended to the report at Appendix 1.
In attendance for this item were:
 Councillor Coupar – Executive Member for Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources
 Graham Sephton – Human Resources
In response to Members questions the Board were informed of the following:

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 12







The last staff survey had been held been held in May 2021. The survey
had shown that 30% were not happy about returning to the office.
Some of the reasons provided had been anxiety due to covid and
transport to and from offices, it was recognised that some of those who
had shown anxiety about returning were classed as clinically
vulnerable. Most staff wanted to come back into offices to work in a
team environment. It was noted that taster days were being used to
support staff back into the office environment throughout the Summer
and in September.
It was recognised that whilst the report focussed on staff, service
delivery must always come first. Services would consider a mix of
office and home working, but it will be with an emphasis on what is best
for the service. It was noted that there was no shortage of office space
for staff and that a plan going forward for service delivery would be in
place by the end of September.
It was noted that the next Wellbeing survey was due to be sent to all
staff and that the outcomes of the survey would be available for the
Board to discuss in November.

RESOLVED – To note the content of the report and discuss again at the
November meeting.

12

Work Programme 2021/22
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report which detailed the
Boards work programme for this municipal year. This was appended to the
report.
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser presented the report.
Members were advised of a joint scrutiny inquiry with the Environment,
Housing and Communities Board into recycling with the focus of Strategy and
Resources to be tightly focused on funding and costs. The Chair said that he
and Cllr Chapman would be attending the Environment, Housing and
Communities Board at the invitation of Cllr Anderson, the Chair of that Board.
He extended the invite to other Members should they wish to be included and
requested that they inform him of their intention to join the forthcoming
meeting.
Board Members had noted that the Polling Districts were due to be reviewed
and requested that this item be scheduled for a forthcoming meeting later in
the municipal year. Members also wished to consider the potential impact of
voter ID for future elections.
It was acknowledged that the Board had previously considered Devolution
and Board Members requested that an update be brought for consideration to
include how the Board might engage with the WYCA Mayor. It was
recognised that the Mayoral role was in the early stages. The Chair would
consider when it was best to bring this item back to the Board.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 13

The Board was informed that Leeds 2023 would form part of the agenda for
the next meeting along with possible links to digital inclusion through the wider
Leeds 2023 programme.
Members requested that the future work programme should include all the
items that had been discussed at this meeting.

13

RESOLVED -To note the content of the report and the work programme
updated to reflect discussions of today’s meeting.
Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED – That the next meeting of the Board to be on Monday 18 th
October 2021, at 10:30am with a pre-meeting for all Board Members at
10:00am.
The meeting concluded at 13:10

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 18th October, 2021

Page 14

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Pam Johnson, Head of
Culture Programmes

=[]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]

Tel: 07891 274 884

The value of culture and creativity in Leeds’ social and
economic recovery from Covid-19
Date: 01 October 2021
Report of: Chief Officer, Culture & Economy
Report to: Scrutiny Board, Strategy and Resources
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The long-held recognition of cultural value is the reason why Leeds City Council (LCC) has
preserved a strong culture service and invests to support a vibrant creative sector for the
benefit of the city and its citizens. Even in the face of the recession and local government cuts
when many UK authorities were choosing to sell cultural assets, LCC took the strategic
decision to maintain its culture service with an understanding of the role culture and creativity
plays in a city’s social and economic wellbeing. Many other local authorities across the UK
are now following suit as the world recovers from the pandemic.

•

The Leeds Economic Recovery Framework, published in October 2020, outlines our
approach to recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic as being centred around the need to
Respond, Reset and Renew and Build Resilience, all within our overall ambition to create a
strong economy set within a compassionate city.

•

We said: “The Arts and Culture sector has a hugely important role to play in our economic
and social recovery. Leeds is nationally recognised for the strength of its creative sector,
which was demonstrated during lockdown as the sector adapted to reach and engage
households and communities across the city in new ways. We will facilitate consolidation of
best practice from this period whilst capitalising on opportunities to stabilise and re-establish
sector growth”.

•

As well as economic benefit, cultural value is measured by its impacts on people and place
and Leeds’ growing creative sector (cultural and creative industries) delivers significant value
to the city on these terms. This report provides an overview of:
o cultural provision in the city and why a strong and stable cultural offer is critical now
and for the city’s future recovery and growth; and
o how Leeds 2023 – our Year of Culture – will be a catalyst to accelerate recovery.

•

This report demonstrates alignment with and contribution to key council strategies including
the Best Council Plan and the Inclusive Growth Strategy:
Page 15

o Inclusive Growth Strategy / Economic Recovery Plan – Supporting the city’s economic
recovery from COVID-19 and building longer-term economic resilience. And as one of
the 12 ‘big ideas: maximising the economic benefits of culture.
o Culture – Growing the cultural and creative sector; Ensuring that culture can be
created and experienced by anyone; Enhancing the image of Leeds through major
events and attractions.
o Health and Wellbeing – Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles.
o Sustainable Infrastructure – Promoting a more competitive, less wasteful, more
resource efficient, low carbon economy.
o Child-friendly City – Improving social, emotional and mental health and wellbeing;
Enhancing the city now and for future generations.
o Safe Strong Communities – Promoting community respect and resilience.
Recommendations
a) Scrutiny Board is requested to note and provide comments on the information provided in this
report which outlines the value of culture to the city; and,
b) Scrutiny Board is also asked to feedback on plans for the refresh and delivery of the city’s
Culture Strategy, including Leeds 2023 as a significant milestone in the city’s social and
economic recovery.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
Leeds Culture Strategy Delivery Framework
1

On 17th July 2017 Leeds City Council’s Executive Board adopted a new Culture Strategy
for Leeds 2017–301. The Culture Strategy was the first of its kind in Leeds which was coproduced with the residents, artists and businesses of the city. The strategy includes six
guiding values and principles, five aims and seven objectives.
On 14th February 2018, a further Scrutiny Board session approved the direction of travel
and agreed to the Delivery Plan being extended up to 2023, to align with the Leeds 2023
Year of Culture.
Furthermore, on 1 April 2019 Scrutiny Board endorsed the continuation of a co-produced
approach to developing the Culture Strategy Delivery Plan including the creation of an opensource online platform to host it.

2

Whilst progress was being made to deliver on these proposals, global events over the last
18 months has required that we review and adapt our approach to this work. We are now
focusing on producing a Culture Strategy Delivery Framework which allows us to focus
priorities on current needs and opportunities for city development. As such, we are
reinterpreting the culture strategy ‘areas of focus’ to create more defined priority areas for
our work. These draft priorities are:
•
•

1

Leeds 2023 – as a significant milestone in the city’s culture strategy, boosting Leeds’
cultural, social and economic recovery.
A thriving and innovative creative sector – supporting the recovery of the city’s creative
sector and a return to cultural vibrancy.

The strategy can be downloaded at www.leedsculturestrategy.co.uk.

Page 16

•

•

•

Children, families and young people – promoting Leeds as a centre for excellence
underpinned by the cultural and creative entitlement for all children and young people
across the city and increasing opportunities for young people, including strengthening
pathways into the industry and wider employment.
People, communities and place – enhancing the lived experience of people and
communities across Leeds and promoting the city as a great place to live, work, study,
visit and invest.
International – Promoting Leeds as a global and collaborative city whilst celebrating
our inherent internationalism through the communities that have settled here.

The draft Delivery Framework also has three essential cross-cutting themes:
•
•
•

Equality, diversity and inclusion.
Environmental sustainability.
Maximising impact and measuring success.

Consultation on these priority areas commenced in November 2020 and is expected to
conclude in early October 2021.
Leeds City Council Culture Service
3

Part of the City Development Directorate, Leeds’ has one of the largest culture services in
the UK. This is testament to the Council’s commitment to culture and its understanding of
cultural value. This positions the Council well to respond to post-pandemic challenges for its
creative sector, for residents and for visitors.

4

The Arts, Events and Venues (AEV) portfolio covers a range of activities from bands in
Leeds parks in the summer, to major events such as the World Triathlon, the Rugby League
World Cup and Light Night Leeds with the main objective being to ensure residents and
visitors can both experience and engage in the development of high-quality cultural
provision. The service promotes Leeds as a major centre of creativity nationally and
internationally. AEV comprises:
•

Artistic Programming – Programming and management of the Town Hall, the
Carriageworks Theatre and Millennium Square. With a strong emphasis on music,
major annual programmes include oversight and delivery of Leeds International
Concert Season, Leeds International Orchestral Season and Leeds International
Chamber Season. Additionally, the team deliver summer activities in Leeds Parks
such as the best of Brass series comprising over 100 band concerts across Leeds.

•

The Breeze team – Targeting young people in the city, Breeze delivers, a rich menu
of cultural and sporting activities that are accessible, safe and inspiring. This includes
the Lotherton Christmas Experience, and the summer, school holiday activities.
Breeze also operates the Breeze app – replacing the Breeze card which had over
140,000 card holders, this is an interactive tool to support young people’s
engagement with the city’s wider cultural and sporting offer.

•

Major Events Programme – Delivery of high-profile events coming to Leeds such as
the World Triathlon, Rugby League World Cup and the Transplant Games. Work is
now underway to develop a new Major Events Strategy so the city might capitalise
on the economic and social benefits that only major cultural and sporting events
activate.
Page 17

•

Events Team and Leeds Lights – Responsible for delivery and promotion of a yearround programme of outdoor events including Light Night Leeds, Holocaust Memorial
Day and Armed Forces Day as well as the management of Victoria Gardens and
Millennium Square. Leeds Lights delivers city centre Christmas lights and the displays
in wards across the city.

•

Leeds Film – Supported by the British Film Institute as one of its national delivery
partners, the Leeds Film team delivers three annual film festivals, Leeds International
Film Festival, Leeds Young Film Festival, and Directions Film Festival.

•

Commercial Team – Manages business activity across AEV including commercial
hires, corporate meetings and delivers income generating activity such as the
International Beer Festival at Leeds Town Hall.

In 2018/19 Leeds Town Hall generated approx. £1.57million of income – comprising
commercial activity generating £382k, food & beverage sales £188k and Programming £998k
(including Leeds International Concert Season).
5

Leeds Museums and Galleries (LMG) operating across 9 sites2, is the largest Local
Authority run museum service in the country and has one of the largest and most significant
multidisciplinary collections in the UK totalling 1.3M objects. 4 of the collections are
designated to be of national or international importance. In 2018/19, LMG sites welcomed
1.69M visitors. In 2019/20:
•
•
•
•
•

LMG worked with over 180 community groups and organisations across Leeds and
37,882 people took part in LMG’s programme of community activities.
330 citizens contributed 10,709 hours, worth £187,707 through LMG’s volunteer
programme.
LMG sites were visited by 49,069 pupils and supported by 6,279 teachers.
2,033 teachers benefited from targeted training opportunities.
137,903 children and adults participated in family activities at LMG venues and in our
communities.

The Service is in receipt of the largest Arts Council England National Portfolio Organisation
(NPO) grant for any single museum service in the country of £1.59m per annum (2018-23).
This is incorporated in section 10. of this report.
6

Culture Programmes was formed after the Chief Officer Culture & Sport retired in
November 2020 and following a minor re-organisation with the culture service. The team’s
work encompasses a range of activities that seek to promote the city’s rich and diverse
cultural offer and works to maximise the social and economic benefits of culture for Leeds’
residents and visitors.
The wider team collaborates across Council directorates to help ensure that culture is
embedded across the Council’s work and core strategies: The Service includes the following
work areas:

2

Abbey House Museum (Grade II*), Kirkstall Abbey (Grade I listed and Scheduled Ancient Monument), Leeds Art Gallery (Grade II),
Leeds Industrial Museum (Grade II* and Grade II listed), Thwaite Watermill (Grade II), Leeds Discovery Centre, Lotherton Hall and
Temple Newsam House (Grade I listed).

Page 18

•
•

•

•

•
•

•

7

Leeds Culture Strategy – oversight of the city’s Culture Strategy and responsible for
the development a delivery plan / framework, (as 2. above).
Managing the Council’s primary cultural grants programmes Leeds Inspired and
arts@leeds which support the current cultural infrastructure and facilitate wider public
engagement with culture and creative activities (see 9, below).
Leeds2023 – Oversees the Council’s grant agreement with Leeds Culture Trust,
supporting the Chief Officer to manage the day-to-day operational relationship and
supporting development of the Leeds 2023 Legacy Plan.
Strategic Projects – responsible for managing and/or supporting strategic
interventions on behalf of the Council including: National Poetry Centre, Women’s
Memorial Project, Morley Towns Fund, Statues Review and contributing to the British
Library North vision.
Sector relationship management and strategic partnerships – maintaining a broad
range of relationships across Leeds’ cultural industries.
International – represents Leeds and the Council through international working
groups: EUROCITIES Culture Forum, Culture Next and Pilot Cities (a United Cities
and Local Government initiative).
Cultural impacts – Developing and delivering approaches to capturing Leeds cultural
impacts including an audit of cultural and creative provision for children and young
people in the city, developing an overview of library provision across Leeds and
ongoing work to assess the impacts of the pandemic on Leeds’ creative sector.

The delivery of cultural and creative opportunities extends beyond City Development
including:
• Leeds Library Service – In Communities, Housing and Environment directorate,
Leeds Library Service comprises Leeds Central Library and 34 community library
hubs across the city. The hubs are a strategic part of the city’s cultural infrastructure,
enabling reach and engagement with Leeds communities.
• Leeds Music Service – situated in the Children and Families directorate, Leeds boasts
the largest music service outside London. The service maintains Music Centres
across the city and provides music education both in and out of school. The service
currently benefits from means tested Arts Council ‘Music Education Hub’ investment
currently totalling £1,165,599 for 2021/22.

Economic benefits of culture
8

In a recent Yorkshire Evening Post article (June 2021), Darren Henley, Chief Executive of
Arts Council England (ACE) said:
“Culture is integral to the future prosperity of Bradford and Leeds.
And I’m heartened and impressed by the path being forged in Leeds and Bradford – and
indeed across West Yorkshire – where culture and creativity is placed at the heart of both
economic and community recovery. The commitment to arts, culture and creativity we are
seeing now builds on a long history of local authorities here recognising the value of this
sector.
And there is plenty to recognise in West Yorkshire, home to a rich mixture of nationally
significant cultural institutions, much-loved historic venues, innovative artists and
organisations and dynamic digital-led initiatives.”
Page 19

9

Leeds’ strong cultural offer is vital to the city’s economy and the social wellbeing of its
residents. Underpinning this, the Council operates two primary cultural funding programmes:
• Leeds Inspired – a rolling, small grants programme for one off projects and events.
• arts@leeds – providing annual support for 44 cultural, voluntary and community
organisations to create opportunities for residents across the city to engage in cultural
activity as a participant, an attendee or a creator.
For 2020/21, Leeds City Council (LCC) investment through these programmes totalled
£2,177,0773.

10 Levels of ACE funding, alongside other major investors, signify the strength and value of the
city’s cultural and creative sector. The Council’s ongoing financial commitment to culture and
creativity is circular, whereby LCC funding levers significant levels of investment into the city.
For ACE funding alone:
• 25 cultural organisations in Leeds (including Leeds Museums and Galleries) are
designated National Portfolio Organisations (NPOs) and attract a total £21,591,650 per
annum (2018-2023).
• 72% of arts@leeds annual investment supports 14 Arts Council NPOs. This equates to
£1,557,890 arts@leeds funding supporting NPOs attracting £17,223,464 NPO funding.
• In addition, ACE Project Grants (a rolling funding programme) supports a broad range
of creativity activities, of different scales, in and for the city. It is standard (prepandemic) that applicants are required to provide a minimum 10% match funding. In
2019/20, Projects Grants funding in Leeds totalled £2,195,194. Many applicants use
Leeds Inspired funding awards as match funding to lever Project Grants investment.
• As above, the Council’s Music Service benefits with annual Music Education Hub
funding. For 2021/22, this totals £1,165,599.
In terms of the circularity, for every £1 LCC invests:
• arts@leeds funded organisations matched this by £24.78 in 2020/21 – a decrease of
14% compared to 2019/20, due to the pandemic.
• For 2020/21 the ratio of LCC to ACE funding (not including the Culture Recovery
Fund) was at least 1:12.
• The return on investment also delivers significant cultural and creative engagement
opportunities for Leeds citizens and visitors.
11 We regularly monitor and report on the benefits of arts@leeds and Leeds Inspired funded
activity across the city, including the geographical spread of benefits by ward.
In January 2022, the Culture Programmes team will conduct a full review of both funding
programmes to ensure ongoing alignment with key Council strategies and the emerging
Culture Strategy Delivery Framework priorities.
The 2019/20 arts@leeds monitoring report is attached at Appendix 1
The social impacts of culture and creativity
12 The social impacts of culture and creativity are multifaceted and difficult to measure.
However, there is growing appetite to better understand the role culture and creativity plays

3

arts@leeds funding reduced by £293,545 as part of Service Reviews with effect from April 2021.

Page 20

in enhancing the lives of UK citizens. This appetite is further fuelled by Covid-19 and its
broad impacts on people, communities, towns and cities.
In 2015, to assess the positive benefits of engagement with culture and sport, DCMS
commissioned research as part of the Culture and Sport Evidence (CASE) strategic
research programme. The CASE programme is jointly funded by the Department for Culture,
Media and Sport, Arts Council England, English Heritage and Sport England. The research,
titled Further analysis to value the health and educational benefits of culture and
sport4, conducted analysis using Understanding Society and the British Household Panel
Survey data.
Health and wellbeing
13 For health and wellbeing, key findings included (with text modified for the purpose of this
report):
• People who engaged in the arts as an audience member, had visited heritage sites,
libraries or museums in the last year are all more likely to report good health.
•

The predicted reduction in GP visits as a result of good health associated with culture
participation has a value to society in that it leads to costs savings for the NHS of
£5.07 (audience arts), £2.59 (heritage), £1.05 (library) and £1.89 (museum) per
person per annum.

•

The predicted reduction in the use of mental health services as a result of good health
associated with culture participation has a value to society in that it leads to costs
savings for the NHS of £6.84 (audience arts), £3.50 (heritage), £1.42 (library) and
£2.55 (museum) per person per annum.

14 The All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health and Wellbeing (APPGAHW) was
convened in 2014 with aims to improve awareness of the benefits that the arts can bring to
health and wellbeing. During 2015–17, the APPGAHW conducted an inquiry into practice
and research in the arts in health and social care, with a view to making recommendations to
improve policy and practice. The resulting Creative Health report was published in 2017 and
is influencing local and national policy in this field of work – e.g. Arts Council England’s 10
year strategy ‘Let’s Create’ responds to Creative Health recommendations.
The National Centre for Creative Health (NCCH), the new national centre for creativity and
wellbeing, launched on 9th March 2021, also in response to the Creative Health report.
NCCH aims to make creativity integral to health and social care systems. The NCCH is
driving the development of Creative Health hubs across the country, local partnerships led
by the health sector. Indications are that the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health Care
Partnership is responding to this brief.
15 The Leeds Arts Health and Wellbeing Network (LAHWN) was launched in 2019 to enable
different sectors to work together, supporting Leeds residents to enjoy fulfilling lives. The
Network was created in response to the Creative Health report and works to a vision: Arts
and creativity support Leeds to be a healthy city, where people who are the poorest improve
their health the fastest’.

4

The full report can be found here: Health_and_educational_benefits_of_sport_and_culture.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Page 21

The Network, now with over 700 members in the city, exists to drive collaboration between
creative arts, culture, academia, health and social care sectors with aims to transform
communities and improve the health and wellbeing of citizens.
The membership of the LAWHN Reference Group includes representation from LCC’s
Culture Programmes, Carmel Langstaff for LCC Adult Social Care, Dr Jim Barwick for Leeds
GP Confederation, creative sector, Leeds Arts University and The Cultural Institute at
University of Leeds.
LAHWN is well positioned to ensure that Leeds capitalises on opportunities emanating from
the new NCCH and to drive best practice collaborations in the city to advance local practice,
for example in Social Prescribing.
Employment and skills
16 The DCMS Further analysis to value the health and educational benefits of culture and
sport also assessed the likelihood of young people progressing into further education. Its
findings:
•

On average, within a sub-sample of 16-18 year olds, participants in the arts and those
who visited heritage or libraries were found to be more likely on average to go on to
further education in later years (0.99%, 1.02%, and 0.66% respectively). This is a
statistically significant increase in the likelihood.

•

The benefit of engaging in these cultural activities has an estimated value of about
£3,000 for participation in arts and heritage and about £2,000 for library over the
person’s lifetime due to increased earnings.
These figures only represent the increase in earnings resulting from the increased
likelihood of attending further education associated with cultural engagement.

17 The World Economic Forum’s (WEF) most recent Future of Jobs report5 maintains creativity
in the top 10 skills for future employment – ‘creativity, originality and initiative’.
A WEF senior writer, explains, ‘With the avalanche of new products, new technologies and
new ways of working, employees are going to have to become more creative in order to
benefit from these changes. Robots may help us get to where we want to be faster, but they
can’t be as creative as humans (yet).’
Within the city’s emerging Culture Strategy Delivery Framework, we aim to uphold culture
and creativity as an entitlement of every child and young person in the city.
18 The Council is working with the wider industry through the Leeds Cultural Education
Partnership and Grand Futures Leeds to better coordinate and increase skills development
and employment pathways into the creative sector and for wider employment.
Further to this, Leeds City Council and Leeds Culture Trust have jointly appointed a Children
and Young People’s Partnership Manager to help ensure that Leeds 2023 delivers strategic
benefit for children and young people across the city.

5

World Economic Forum, Future of Jobs report (October 2020): WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2020.pdf (weforum.org)

Page 22

Leeds’ creative sector recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic
19 Government figures show the country’s Creative Industries contributed £111.7 billion to the
UK economy in 2018, equivalent to £306 million every day; £12.7m every hour. The split
across different areas of the creative industries was:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

£45,444m – IT, Software and Games
£20,814m – TV and film
£18,623m – Advertising and marketing
£10,042m – Publishing
£9,317m – Music, Arts and Culture
£3,641m – Architecture
£2,518m – Design and Fashion

Overall, this growth was up 7.4 per cent on the previous year, meaning growth in the sector
was more than five times larger than growth across the UK economy as a whole, which
increased by 1.4 per cent.
Integrated within the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Culture and Economy is capitalising
on the booming creative economy for the benefit of the city and its future growth, for
example:
•

•

•

The Leeds Innovation District brings together the Leeds NHS Trust, University of
Leeds, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds College of Art and Leeds City Council in an
ambitious partnership to create a 21st century science and innovation park in the
centre of Leeds. It will provide a base for entrepreneurs, start-up and scale-up
companies to mix with established hi-tech businesses and tap into the expertise of
world-class education institutions to create innovative new products and services.
The relocation of Channel 4 headquarters to Leeds is boosting local growth in this
industry. Working in collaboration with Bradford City Council, Screen Yorkshire and
Channel 4, Culture and Economy is driving skills development initiatives that seek to
grow the screen and content industries in the city whilst diversifying the workforce.
Advertising and marketing were two of the key drivers of UK growth in the Creative
Industries. This is a key area of strength for Leeds with a high number of advertising
and marketing businesses based in the city.

20 The economic power of the UK’s creative industries gives some indication of the impact of
the pandemic on the UK’s creative sector, one of the hardest hit sectors which struggled with
the uncertainties of reopening and reclosure over the last 12 months.
In March 2020, when the majority of our creative sector ‘closed their doors’, many creative
small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and freelancers had their work dry up and saw their
projects disappear almost immediately. The Creative Industries Federation reported in April
2020 that more than 50% of creative organisations and professionals had already lost 100%
of their income. A survey by creativehub6 in May 2020 also found that 56% of ‘professional
creatives’ had no work booked in.
21 To assess the impact of the pandemic on the region’s creative sector, Leeds City Council
worked with other West Yorkshire authorities to survey the sector in May 2020. The findings
were quite bleak.

6

creativehub is a representative and development body for the independent creative sector

Page 23

We received 289 completed responses, 198 of which were employers, representing 8,808
staff and 2,737 volunteers. Of a total £99.6m pre-pandemic turnover across the respondents,
82% said they had suffered financially, and 25% were fearful of whether they would survive
beyond the next month.
22 Responding to the coronavirus pandemic, and the unprecedented challenges it brought to
culture and creativity across the UK, the government announced a series of measures in
March 2020 to ‘help save’ these sectors, maintain jobs and keep businesses afloat.
These included:
•
•
•
•

The Bounce Back Loan Schemes.
The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme – extended to the end of September 2021.
VAT reduction from 20% to 5% for tourism and hospitality firms – extended to the end
of September 2021.
The Self-Employment Income Support Scheme – extended to the end of September
2021.

On 5 July 2020, the Secretary of State for the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and
Sport (DCMS) announced a £1.57bn Culture Recovery Fund (CRF) rescue package for
cultural organisations to help the sector survive, and when possible, reopen.
The CRF has brought some respite for Leeds organisations, drawing £19,982,648 into the
city to date. A third round of the fund launched in June 2021 to distribute the remaining
£300m from the CRF package.
A more detailed summary of CRF investments in Leeds is attached at Appendix 2
23 However, whilst it’s positive that some Leeds organisations have benefited from the Culture
Recovery Fund, as well as a range of other support mechanisms, the majority of community,
voluntary and small commercial organisations did not. Freelancers also struggled to find
support risking their permanent loss from the sector.
24 To help mitigate local impacts, LCC quickly adapted its cultural funding programmes to
maintain arts@leeds funding for 44 organisations to help ensure their survival. We also
increased the frequency of Leeds Inspired funding rounds to enable creative organisations to
reach and engage people where they live whilst sustaining freelancers in the city. And as
Government restrictions were lifted in 2021, the Council invested a further £320k in the
sector through Covid-19 Additional Restrictions Grants.
25 As the creative sector returns to becoming fully operational (subject to future Covid
restrictions), we will continue to monitor the impacts on the sector to re-establish sector
vibrancy in the city.
One of the greatest challenges will be in re-building public confidence to return to cultural
venues whilst growing public engagement with culture. While footfall is returning to city and
district centres, it will take longer for our creative sector to see audiences return to, at least,
pre-pandemic levels. Leeds 2023 will provide a much-needed boost for public engagement
with culture as well as a range of social benefits, including those set out below.
26 Informed by the creative sector Covid-19 impacts survey, Culture and Creative Industries are
also integrated within the West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s Economic Recovery Plan.

Page 24

Now also with the support of a new Metropolitan Mayor for West Yorkshire, we are confident
that culture is at the forefront as a catalyst for wider regional recovery – tackling inequalities,
individual and community wellbeing, skills development and a return to economic growth.
Mayor Tracy Brabin pledged: “I will lead a West Yorkshire Creative New Deal to ensure our
creative industries are part of the broader recovery strategy”.
In June 2021, the Combined Authority also approved £500,000 of funding to support
capacity building and development for the delivery of a Creative New Deal7 to realise the
potential of the creative and cultural industries in West Yorkshire, which will focus on
upskilling the creative sector, providing placement opportunities for young people and
supporting our night-time economy.
Culture and the future of our city and local centres
27 The Leeds Economic Recovery Framework provided a catalyst for us to undertake a number
of pieces of work to consider what the future of our city and local centres may be. In
September 2021 a report was taken to Executive Board, entitled Future trends and
opportunities in our city and local centres8, outlining the work that had been and was
being undertaken in relation to the future of our centres and what it showed us, as well as
what actions and interventions could be taken as a result.
One of the major findings from the work (which included a public survey/city conversation
that received 1,300 responses) was the huge role Culture has to play in the renewal of our
high streets and city centre, the significant opportunity for Culture as part of the future role of
our centres and how, because of this, we should ensure to capitalise on Culture and the
creative industries to bring people together, shape place identity and support communities.
28 Culture has an important role to play in the city’s economic and social recovery, bringing
communities together, supporting creativity and spin-offs into the wider economy, sharing
knowledge and innovation via spill-overs into other sectors and strengthening the city’s
identity and brand. The work outlined in the future of our centres Executive Board report
referenced above also highlighted how the role of our centres is changing to being one more
of overall experience, including retail and consumption but also other areas such as Culture,
Leisure and events.
Culture can act as a major draw in its own right for people to access our city and local
centres, providing a shared experience that is not replicable online. For the same reason,
Leisure is likely to play a similarly greater role in our centres from now and into the future.
29 As well as its direct benefits around community cohesion, creativity, learning and place
brand, Culture can boost visitor footfall and spending, both during the daytime and by
encouraging people into centres in the evening.
The run-up to Leeds 2023, as an example, provides a clear opportunity to use Culture to
help reinvigorate the economy of both our local centres and our city centre by developing
new connections and collaborations across our communities and enabling an everyday
Culture by encouraging small acts of community and creativity and sharing experiences
amongst people.
7
8

West Yorkshire Mayor, Creative New Deal: Creative Industries - Tracy Brabin for West Yorkshire Mayor (laboursites.org)
Executive Board Report: Local Centres Cover Report 130921.pdf (leeds.gov.uk)

Page 25

30 There are opportunities to reimagine our city and local centres as more collaborative, social,
playful, liveable, inclusive, creative and sustainable places. Culture is vitally important here
and we are committed to working to capitalise on its role for the future of our centres,
including the opportunities presented through Leeds 2023 and its legacy. Culture is already
a key strength for our city but we want to support and grow its importance across our local
centres and in our city centre further, supporting grass roots cultural activities, securing
investment in continued improvements to landmark cultural facilities and destinations and
protecting and identifying space for creative and cultural activities in local centres and the
city centre alike. Leeds 2023, in particular, provides a fantastic opportunity within our
communities to embed long-term aspirations around cultural and creative assets and
activities.
31 Major capital projects can also be transformational for the wider economy, the social and
cultural experiences available to Leeds residents and the growth of the city’s creative
industries. Over the next five years the city will see major developments that will expand the
built infrastructure.
Public investment in the city’s cultural infrastructure provides a strong indication of the
confidence national agencies, such as Arts Council England (ACE) and National Lottery
Heritage Fund (NLHF), have in Leeds’ culture and creative industries. For example:
•

British Library (BL) – £90m has been committed by the Government to support
increased British Library presence outside London – a significant majority of this
investment will be in Leeds. The development is two-fold:
Redeveloping the BL Boston Spa site to create much-needed storage capacity for
the collection. Plans include to construct a new state-of-the-art storage facility and
refurbish existing buildings to improve working environments for BL's 550 staff in the
city. On a 44-acre campus close to Wetherby, BL Boston Spa is home to over three
quarters of BL's collection of over 170 million items. BL will also open up the Library
at Boston Spa with tours, public displays and new Reading Rooms, as well as a
restaurant and café for visitors.
This improved public offer at Boston Spa will develop in parallel with BL North growing the institution’s cultural and learning presence in Leeds city centre, with
reach across the wider-North. As part of the expansion of Leeds city centre,
development of Temple Works in Holbeck has started to revision this heritage site as
the home for future creative and educational engagement. BL North will create new
jobs in the city and new opportunities for the city’s residents, students and visitors.
The latest press release on the project: Major step closer to British Library site at
Temple Works in Leeds.

•

Plans are underway to establish the UK’s first National Poetry Centre (NPC) in
Leeds – with local, national and international reach. The NPC will be a contemporary,
globally significant, accessible, public facing home for readers and writers. It will
celebrate poetry from the 20th century onwards, reimagining and extending the art
form. It will engage with everyone from all communities, but especially young people.
This project is the vison of Poet Laureate Simon Armitage. We have received positive
indications of public investment support from Government, the Arts Council and
Historic England.
Page 26

•

NLHF very recently announced £250,000 investment toward the restoration of Leeds
Town Hall (LTH). The project will involve the regeneration of the decorative features
in the Victoria Hall, the main auditorium in LTH – the original Victorian designs on the
walls, columns and doors of the hall date back to 1858, and over the years have
become faded. Damaged by environmental pollution, they were also affected by
insensitive renovations in the 1950s and 60s and are currently hidden from public
view. The restoration will enhance public experience of LTH, once voted the city’s
favourite building.

Culture also has a role to play in wider city regeneration projects.
•

In March 2020, the Council launched the Our Spaces Strategy – a regeneration of
public spaces to transform how we connect with each other and with the city. Culture
Programmes played an instrumental role in developing the strategy, ensuring that we
develop our public spaces to host and celebrate the city’s rich culture and
commissioning artists to animate media boxes across the city. The development of
City Square is also enabling us to re-design the space as a cultural meeting space
reflecting the ‘city welcome’ we want the Leeds to inhabit. City Square will play host to
Leeds 2023 as a central hub before being developed as a key city social and event
space beyond the Year of Culture.

•

The Morley Towns Fund also presents opportunity for us to develop and understand
approaches to integrating culture in our district centres. The Council received £24.3m
from the Government’s Town Fund initiative for a programme of activity focused on
connectivity improvements, greenspace and woodland creation, employment and skills
and the heritage-led regeneration of the town centre. Culture flows through much of
this but is particularly emphasised in the refurbishment of the Grade 1 listed Town Hall,
new town centre public realm and a grants scheme focused on improvements to town
centre properties. Alongside the wider regeneration of the town, a key ambition
through the Town Investment Plan is that investment in this infrastructure could
support the growth of the creative and cultural sector in the town, creating a
sustainable foundation for continuing local growth and vibrancy.

Leeds 2023 and the value of major events
32 The European Capital of Culture (ECoC) initiative was established in 1985 with aims to:
•
•
•
•

Highlight the richness and diversity of cultures in Europe
Celebrate the cultural features Europeans share
Increase European citizens' sense of belonging to a common cultural area
Foster the contribution of culture to the development of cities

In addition to this, and across the 60+ ECoC designated cities in over 30 countries to date,
the event provided excellent opportunity for:
• Regenerating cities
• Raising the international profile of cities
• Enhancing the image of cities in the eyes of their own inhabitants
• Breathing new life into a city's culture
• Boosting tourism

Page 27

These were Leeds City Council’s baseline expectations when bidding to become a 2023
ECoC and, following global events that have deeply affected how people live, these
objectives are critical to the recovery and future growth of the UK’s third largest city.
33 A growing number of UK towns and cities are now looking to the ‘Year of Culture’ model to
effect social and economic recovery. A record number of places (20) across the UK are
bidding to become City of Culture 2025. The London Mayor has announced the continuation
of his London Borough of Culture initiative. Building on the ‘Year of Culture’ model, the
Government has maintained its commitment to Festival UK 20229 – a collection of 10, largescale, creative commissions designed to bring people together and showcase UK creativity
globally.
It would be fair to assert that Leeds 2023 is influencing UK towns and cities to give
prominence to the role of culture and creativity in recovery. Across West Yorkshire alone, the
next five years could see:
• Leeds 2023
• Kirklees Year of Music 2023
• Calderdale Year of Culture 2024
• Either Bradford or Wakefield named as City of Culture 2025
And the West Yorkshire’s Mayor is exploring a ‘Town of Culture’ initiative as part of her
Creative New Deal.
34 When the EU determined that UK cities could no longer take part in the ECoC competition,
Leeds City Council, confirmed that we would ‘do it anyway’ with clear sight of the defined
local benefits. Post pandemic, these include:
• Economic recovery attracting inward investment and promoting Leeds as a great
place to live, work, study and visit.
• Boosting the visitor economy and associated benefits for the hospitality industry –
building on a pre-pandemic baseline whereby 35% of visitors to the city were
attracted by the city’s cultural offer.
• Creative sector recovery providing employment for freelancers, boosting public reengagement with culture and promoting cultural and creative opportunities across the
city.
• The health and well-being of Leeds residents – boosting confidence and connecting
people in the city.
• Community voice and cohesion – enabling communities to create, share and
celebrate culture and heritage where they live.
• Young people – developing a strong learning offer for young people through which
they can develop new skills and creative industry experiences.
Leeds Culture Trust and Leeds 2023
35 The city’s journey toward Leeds 2023 has been long and complex starting in 2013 when
initial informal discussions with elected members, internal and external stakeholders and the
city’s creative sector sought views on Leeds bidding to become European Capital of Culture
(ECoC) in 2023.
On 18th March 2015, Executive Board10, following extensive city-wide consultation, agreed a
proposal that Leeds should bid for ECoC 2023 and that the city should seek to create a new
Culture Strategy (a bidding requirement), co-produced with the citizens of Leeds. The
9

Festival UK 2022 - Home | Festival UK* 2022 (festival2022.uk)
Executive Board 18 March 2015 – Item 178: European Capital of Culture 2023 - Should Leeds Bid? See Background papers

10

Page 28

establishment of an Independent Steering Group comprising representatives from the
creative sector, higher education, private business and three elected members (to reflect the
cross-party political support), to oversee the bid development, was also approved.
36 When the UK voted to leave the European Union in June 2016, DCMS announced its
decision to launch the competition in December 2016. In response, the Independent
Steering Group and Council officers, spearheaded an intensive programme of work to
develop the city’s bid, drawing ideas and responding to ambitions from across the city.
An Interim report to Executive Board on 17 July 201711, reported actions being taken to
establish a charitable trust in preparation, should Leeds win, to deliver the European Capital
of Culture year of activity starting during the five years leading up to 2023.
37 On 18th October 201712, Executive Board agreed to adopt the Leeds 2023 bid as
recommended to it by the Independent Steering Group and with the support of major
businesses and institutions in the city including Yorkshire Water, Yorkshire Building Society
and many others. The report included a funding commitment from the Council of £12m to the
project.
Six weeks later, the European Commission cancelled the ECoC competition for UK bidding
cities, as a consequence of Brexit negotiations – just days before the 5 UK bidding cities
were scheduled to present their bids.
38 Following this setback, it was resolved at Full Council on 10 January 2018: “…Rather than
lose the work that has already gone into this ambitious project, this Council calls for an
alternative approach that would see Leeds host its very own ‘Year of Culture’ by 2023.”13
Wider public support for this decision was tested at a public meeting at the end of January
2018 when, with relatively short notice, 700 people attended a meeting at Leeds Town Hall
to hear about the Council’s resolution to continue with Leeds 2023. The Leader of the
Council announced a commitment to invest fully in the plans for Leeds 2023 and invited the
Independent Steering Group members to remain in place for an additional 12 months to
oversee the implementation of revised plans.
39 On 27 June 201814, to determine arrangements for delivering Leeds 2023, Executive Board
resolved that officers be requested to develop Leeds Culture Trust as the delivery vehicle for
Leeds 2023, and to develop a Service Level Agreement between the Council and Leeds
Culture Trust which reflects the Council as a major funder.
Leeds Culture Trust was first registered in March 2017 as a Company Limited by Guarantee.
Following Executive Board Resolution, Council officers moved to establish governance
arrangements for the Trust as the Leeds 2023 delivery vehicle. An independent Chair was
appointed in 2018 and the Board was developed to include Council representation by (then)
Councillor Judith Blake and Councillor Dan Cohen. When (now) Baroness Blake stood down
from Leeds City Council, Councillor Jonathan Pryor, as Executive Member for Culture, was
appointed to this role on the Board.
The Trust was incorporated as a Charity in 2019.
11

Executive Board 17 July 2017 – Item 35: Leeds 2023 European Capital of Culture Bid Interim Report. See Background papers
Executive Board 18 October 2017 – item 76: Leeds 2023 European Capital of Culture Bid. See Background papers
13
Full Council meeting 10 January 2018 – Item 80: White Paper Motion (in the name of Councillor Buckley) - Capital of Culture.
See Background papers
14
Executive Board 27 June 2018 – Item 10: Leeds 2023 Update. See Background papers
12

Page 29

At the outset, the Chief Officer, Culture and Sport attended Board meetings as an observer.
The Chief Officer, Culture and Economy now observes Leeds Culture Trust Board meetings
40 Significant time, commitment and resource, as set out in this report, has been invested in
realising Leeds 2023, borne out of Leeds’ profile as a culturally vibrant and richly diverse
city, driven by a world class creative sector. Leeds City Council’s nationally distinct
commitment to culture continues to generate investment and support well beyond our
cultural offer and now positions Leeds well, with the significant boost offered by Leeds 2023,
to create the conditions for social and economic recovery.
Leeds City Council grant agreement with Leeds Culture Trust
41 In July 2019, the Council entered into a grant agreement with Leeds Culture Trust for
delivery of Leeds 2023 over the period July 2019 to March 2024. The original grant award
was for £12,015,000, with grant payments through quarterly instalments.
42 When, in 2020/21, Leeds faced a series of unprecedented financial challenges, largely due
to the impacts of Coronavirus on the city, the Council reviewed and consulted on several
service areas across the authority to identify potential savings whilst protecting front line
services and jobs.
43 The proposal to reduce the remaining grant for Leeds 2023 by 15% (£1.35m) was taken to
Executive Board in October 2020. This proposal was subsequently opened to public
consultation (the results summary is below). At that time, the remaining grant in scope of
cost savings (i.e., the amount still due to paid to Leeds Culture Trust) was £8.8m.
Leeds 2023 public consultations results
Strongly agree

35.89%

285

Agree

29.85%

237

Neither agree nor disagree

8.82%

70

Disagree

12.22%

97

Strongly disagree

13.22%

105

Following the outcome of the public consultation, the 15% reduction to the remaining grant
for Leeds 2023 was confirmed at Full Council on 24 February 2021.
44 During January 2021, the Council also achieved a £1,100,107 contribution to Leeds 2023
from the city’s Gainshare allocation. These funds have substituted the allocation of funds
from Leeds City Council by the same amount, increasing the Council’s financial saving,
for the remaining period, to £2,450,107.
45 Council officers subsequently entered into a process of re-setting the grant agreement with
the Trust, integrating these savings whilst at the same time refreshing the agreement in light
of Covid-19 impacts on the economy and creative sector.
Payment conditions are set against each payment; each set of conditions need to be met
prior to the release of funds. A snapshot of payment conditions for 2021/22 is set out below.

Page 30

45. Leeds Culture Trust – payment conditions 2021/22
01/05/2021

Business/strategic plan for 2021/22 approved by your Board and with KPIs agreed by LCC
Budget for 2021/22 reviewed and approved by your Board
Financial report including cashflow projection for 2021/22
Risk Register and Insurance Review
Most recent Board papers
Company policies that demonstrate compliance with the grant agreement

01/07/2021

Progress report (against business/strategic plan)
Financial report including updated cashflow projection
Annual monitoring report (for the previous financial year)
Most recent Board papers

01/10/2021

Progress report (against business/strategic plan)
Financial report including updated cashflow projection
Annual accounts for the previous financial year
Updated legacy plan
Most recent Board papers

01/01/2022

Progress report (against business/strategic plan)
Financial report including updated cashflow projection
Most recent Board papers
An evaluation framework for Leeds 2023 (agreed by Leeds City Council)

46 The Council’s contribution remains significant and will continue to be properly scrutinised
through the revised grant agreement. The Council’s financial contribution for Leeds 2023 is
summarised below – (46a) the original schedule of payments and (46b) the revised schedule
incorporating budget savings.
Covering a five-year period between July 2019 and end March 2024, the value of the original
grant agreement was £12,015,000.
46a. Original Leeds 2023 Payment Schedule

Original allocation of
funds for Leeds 2023
LCC resourcing Leeds
2023
Grant Payments to
Leeds Culture Trust
Substitutions
Business Rates Pool
Funding
Net LCC payments to
Leeds Culture Trust

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Total

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

385,000

1,465,000

1,850,000

2,000,000

3,060,000

3,940,000

12,700,000

(385,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

0

1,405,000

1,790,000

1,940,000

3,000,000

3,880,000

0

(350,000)

(350,000)

0

0

0

0

1,055,000

1,440,000

1,940,000

3,000,000

3,880,000

Page 31

(685,000)
12,015,000

(700,000)
11,315,000

46b. Revised Leeds 2023 Payment Schedule Reflecting 2021/22 Budget Savings
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Total

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

385,000

1,465,000

1,850,000

2,000,000

3,060,000

3,940,000

12,700,000

(385,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(60,000)

(685,000)

0

0

0

(300,000)

(459,000)

(591,000)

(1,350,000)

0

1,405,000

1,790,000

1,640,000

2,541,000

3,289,000

10,665,000

Business Rates Pool

0

(350,000)

(350,000)

0

0

0

(700,000)

21/22 Gainshare

0

0

0

(1,100,107)

0

0

(1,100,107)

Net LCC payments to
Leeds Culture Trust

0

1,055,000

1,440,000

539,893

2,541,000

3,289,000

8,864,893

Original allocation of
funds for Leeds 2023
LCC resourcing Leeds
2023
2021/22 budget
savings (15%)
Grant payments to
Leeds Culture Trust
Substitutions

Leeds 2023 budget
47 Leeds 2023 has an ambitious budget target of £32m with aims to invest 50% of this in
programme delivery. This is commensurate with the actual spend in Hull 2017 (£31.6m) and
the budget for Coventry City of Culture 2021 (£31.3m). However, Hull and Coventry are
fractions of the size of Leeds. Reaching this £32m target will be challenging, especially in the
current post-pandemic climate.
48 Leeds 2023’s recent business plan (June 2021) also offers two alternative budget
envelopes: one at £25m and one at £15m. Costs of overhead and awareness raising about
the year will not reduce in line and a £25m budget would likely reduce the proportion of
budget to be invested in the programme. An open and transparent management of
expectation externally and internally is going to be critical.
49 Despite these challenges, Leeds Culture Trust is working to ensure that Leeds 2023 will
deliver wide social and economic benefits. Modelling on a £20m budget, recent work
(January 2021) undertaken by BOP Consulting for Leeds 2023 suggests that the year will
still deliver a positive (direct and indirect) impact on the Leeds’s visitor economy of c. £114m
– a sixfold return on investment. Other defined benefits include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1,310 new jobs in the visitor economy, rising to 1,620 by 2030.
10% growth in the Leeds visitor economy in 2023 and 4% growth thereafter
1,000 freelance opportunities and 2,000 trained volunteers
150 internships/work placements for students and young people
100 apprenticeships/accredited training opportunities
50 entry-level opportunities for young people via education programmes and
partnerships and,
6 to 1 return on investment for Leeds (as well as 8 to 1 investment for West Yorkshire
and a £49m annual boost to the regional visitor economy).

Page 32

Leeds 2023 Progress
50 Kully Thiarai was appointed as the Creative Director for Leeds 2023 in 2019 and
commenced in post in January 2020. Weeks later, the UK went into lockdown. Like the rest
of the creative sector, this significantly affected the rate at which Leeds Culture Trust could
progress its plans towards the Year of Culture.
As the economy began to reopen in 2020, Leeds Culture Trust worked quickly to regain
ground – recruiting to the wider team and delivering engagement sessions in schools and
communities and creating new opportunities for Leeds’ creative sector, particularly freelance
practitioners and small organisations.
The Trust’s organogram is effectively structured for the development and delivery of a
transformative Year of Culture with specialist roles incorporated to deliver meaningful
engagement opportunities across the city and to maximise cultural and social impacts – e.g.,
a Community, Collaborations and Partnerships Producer is in place to develop Leeds
communities’ capacity to respond to and engage with Leeds 2023; and a Children and
Young People's Partnership Manager was jointly appointed by Leeds City Council and
Leeds Culture Trust to advance cultural learning opportunities for the children and young
people of Leeds.
Other examples of this progress are set out below, aligned with the emerging culture
strategy delivery framework.
A thriving and innovative creative sector
• Supporting the recovery of the city’s creative sector, Leeds 2023 has provided at least
48 new creative commissions, involving 1 or more artists. This is making a strong
contribution to sector recovery with greatest benefit to SMEs and freelancers. These
commissioning opportunities are spread across the themes below.
Children, families and young people
• Leeds City Council and Leeds Culture Trust has jointly appointed a Children and
Young People’s Partnership Manager to work with the city’s Local Cultural Education
Partnership (LCEP) delivering strategic creative learning benefits for children and
young people across the city in the run up to and during the Year of Culture.
•

During 2021, the Leeds 2023 team worked with 6 Leeds schools to ask children to
submit their ideas for ‘a Leeds of the future’. The children’s drawings, models, writing
and ideas will inform a series of posters designed by four Leeds Arts University
graduates. Leeds 2023 will return to work with the six schools to lead training
sessions with the teachers and deliver creative workshops next term.

•

A new Head of Creative Learning and Engagement is now in post and will be working
closely with the Leeds 2023 team to shape and structure the programme for the
benefit of children and young people in the city.

People, communities and place
• With Arts Council England funding, ‘My World, My City, My Neighbourhood’ received
60 applications from artists/organisations for the opportunity to embed and work
closely with Leeds communities to develop their creative and curatorial engagement
with Leeds 2023.
Page 33

23 artists/organisations have been selected to deliver a mix of locality-based projects
and a few wider city-based projects working with underrepresented communities.
They will come together as a peer learning network through which they will foster the
guiding principles around co-creation when working alongside communities.
•

The next engagement phase with communities will prioritise social and geographical
areas of the city with limited engagement with Leeds 2023, to date. This will focus on
increasing the visibility of Leeds 2023, delivering new activity and forging interactions
with key influencers across the city and testing new approaches through co-creation
with targeted communities including Older People, Faith Sector, Sports Sector and
deepening the relationship with Leeds schools.

International
Leeds Culture Trust has established a strong working relationship with the British Council
creating new opportunities for artists and organisations to collaborate internationally. There
were four recent opportunities open for applications; each one distinctly different to solicit a
wide response under the four categories below:
•

Tech for the Public Good – an online international residency programme for 10
people who want to work together to find answers to some of the biggest challenges
faced by citizens around the world.

•

The World in our City, our City in the World – applications were invited for projects
that will be co-created between artists/groups in Leeds and artists/groups in the
identified countries; focus on exchange and research and development of projects
that could be realised in both Leeds and the participating countries in 2023. These
projects should enable a collaboration that wouldn’t be possible otherwise
Applications are sought from people based in Leeds and in the British Council’s
priority areas of ODA countries.

•

International Consultant – to research and produce a scoping study for the
international dimension of Leeds 2023 National Retrospective as part of our Windrush
75 programme - a retrospective of work by international artists that have influenced
the UK’s cultural landscape.

•

Independent Producer – is a freelance opportunity for an experienced producer with
understanding of working nationally and internationally on partnership programmes.
We are actively encouraging applications from people with lived experience as part of
a diaspora community, or of diasporic lineage

Leeds 2023 Legacy
51 Leeds Culture Trust is currently in the process of contracting the Evaluation Partner for the
Year of Culture. While the full evaluation of Year of Culture might take around 6 months after
the year to be delivered, we will work closely with the Leeds Culture Trust to develop a
shared plan for the Leeds 2023 legacy. The legacy needs to be comprehensive, helping to
ensure that the Council’s cultural services can maintain the connections and impacts for the
benefit of all who live and work in the city.
We will also work to maintain cross-council working to ensure that culture remains
embedded and impactful across directorates e.g., Adults and health promoting the positive
Page 34

impacts of culture on the city’s wellbeing; regeneration continuing to integrate culture in the
city’s growing infrastructure; Children and Families maintaining a high quality cultural
education offer in Leeds’ schools and Communities, Housing and Environment enabling
everyday creativity to foster local ownership, leadership, voice and pride.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐Yes

☒No

52 This paper sets out wide ranging benefits of culture in Leeds through Leeds Culture
Strategy, Leeds 2023 (a significant milestone within the culture strategy) and through the
Council’s Culture Service and wider provision.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
53 A comprehensive and inclusive programme of consultation was undertaken in developing
the city’s culture strategy and the Leeds Bid Book for European Capital of Culture (ECoC).
Subsequently, when the UK was excluded from the ECoC competition, the public was invited
to respond to the proposal to continue with the Leeds 2023 Year of Culture. Finally, the
public was consulted about the proposed 15% reduction of Leeds City Council’s remaining
grant for Leeds 2023.
54 The Culture Programmes team has delivered a wide-ranging programme of internal and
external consultations (framed as internal workshops and external conversations) on the
draft Culture Strategy Delivery Framework. This work is expected to conclude in October
2021.
What are the resource implications?
55 The Council’s original total commitment for Leeds 2023 was £12,700,000, of which:
• £685,000 is retained by the Council for resourcing and staffing costs toward Leeds
2023 (2018-24).
• £1,350,000 was withdrawn in 2021/22 Council cost savings.
Substitutions from the Business Rates Pool and Gainshare reduce the Council’s total net
commitment to £8,864,894.
•
•
•

£4,425,000 has been paid to Leeds Culture Trust, to date (October 2021).
Of which £2,624,893 (59%) came from LCC core budget and £1,800,107 (41%) is
from Business Rates Pool and Gainshare funds.
The remaining commitment is now £6,240,000.

56 There are ongoing resource implications associated with maintaining the city’s cultural
investment programmes Leeds Inspired and arts@leeds. Based on current levels, this will be
at least £2,177,077 per annum.
What are the legal implications?
57 There are no significant legal issues relating to the recommendations in this report.

Page 35

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
58 The Council recognises that growing the economy has positive benefits to the city and that
our work developing the city’s culture strategy and the successful delivery of Leeds 2023 are
crucial components of achieving our Inclusive Growth Strategy ambitions.
59 It is a requirement of funding that Leeds Culture Trust maintains a risk register and that this
is monitored by the Board. As a condition of payment, the Trust files a copy of the risk
register with the Council, at least annually.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

60 The Council’s three pillars provide a framework for the culture strategy and its associated
delivery framework priorities and cross-cutting themes.
61 Culture and Leeds 2023 are integrated within the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Economic
Recovery Plan and Best Council Plan.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
62 N/A
b) How will success be measured?
63 Within the current period of the culture strategy delivery framework, 2021-25, we will
continue our work to establish a comprehensive and coherent approach to measuring
cultural impacts.
64 Alongside this, we will engage the people and communities of Leeds and generate case
studies which promote the benefits of culture in the city whilst also promoting Leeds as a
great place to live, learn, work, visit and invest.
65 We will continue to work with Economic Development colleagues to explore the integration
of culture within a Social Progress Index for the city.
66 We will continue to play an active role in regional, national and international networks and
partnerships such as West Yorkshire Cultural Leads network, Core Cities Culture Forum and
EUROCITIES Culture Forum to benchmark Leeds’ cultural performance whilst promoting
and drawing on best cultural practice.
67 Finally, we will continue to support Leeds 2023 to develop and deliver an effective evaluation
of the Year of Culture and to develop a meaningful Leeds 2023 Legacy Plan which seeks to
capitalise on and sustain the multiple positive impacts of the Year of Culture on the city.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
68 A number of policy development areas and strategic initiatives are cited in this report with
implementation across the period 2021-2025. We will continue to work cross-directorates to
maximise the opportunities and benefits for culture and creativity in Leeds.
The WY Mayor is developing a delivery plan for her Creative New Deal. We will work with
WYCA to support these developments and ensure that Leeds’ cultural offer is positioned to
Page 36

capitalise on emerging opportunities. We will also continue to advocate for culture as part of
the region’s Economic Recovery Plan.

Appendices
1
2

arts@leeds report
CRF data summary

Background papers
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

Leeds Culture Strategy: www.leedsculturestrategy.co.uk.
Leeds Economic Recovery Framework: Leeds Economic Recovery Framework – Leeds
Inclusive Growth Strategy (leedsgrowthstrategy.co.uk)
Creative Health: All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health and Wellbeing
(culturehealthandwellbeing.org.uk)
DCMS ‘Further analysis to value the health and educational benefits of sport and culture’:
Health_and_educational_benefits_of_sport_and_culture.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk)
World Economic Forum, Future of Jobs report (October 2020):
WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2020.pdf (weforum.org)
Executive Board Report: Local Centres Cover Report 130921.pdf (leeds.gov.uk)
Executive Board 18 March 2015 – Item 178: European Capital of Culture 2023 - Should
Leeds Bid? Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk)
Executive Board 17 July 2017 – Item 35: Leeds 2023 European Capital of Culture Bid
Interim Report Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk)
Executive Board 18 October 2017 – item 76: Leeds 2023 European Capital of Culture Bid
Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk)
Full Council meeting 10 January 2018 – Item 80: White Paper Motion (in the name of
Councillor Buckley) - Capital of Culture .
Executive Board 27 June 2018 – Item 10: Leeds 2023 Update. Council and democracy
(leeds.gov.uk)

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Board, Strategy and Resources

2019-20 report
The arts@leeds programme provides support for cultural, voluntary and community
organisations to create opportunities for residents from across the city to engage in cultural activity as a
participant, an attendee or a creator. Alongside our funding programme we offer advice, advocacy and
workshops for both our funded organisations and also for grassroots organisations and individual artists,
enabling them to benefit from the unique position the arts@leeds team are situated in with an overview
of the cultural life of the city.
The scheme addresses a range of Council priorities including working with communities, supporting
inclusive economic growth, promoting a positive image of the city, and making Leeds a better, richer and
more diverse place to live, work and visit. It is the cornerstone of achieving the Best City outcome that
people should “enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts”. The Culture Strategy frames
our approach for how the city can support the arts and culture sector, and the arts@leeds grant scheme
is one of the elements of that strategy. The arts@leeds is a 4 year scheme (running 2019-2022) and this
report covers year 2 of the scheme, 2019-20. The data collected for this report covers the period of 1st
April 2019 – 31st March 2020, please be aware due to the Covid pandemic in March organisations had to
cancel or postpone the last 3 weeks of their planned programme.

arts@leeds engagement programme
22 one to one sessions were held in 2019/20, these hour long face to face
conversations were tailored towards the individual or organisation. Attendees
were given an overview of the Arts Development Team and the Arts Venues
and Events Service and from this conversation the actions followed up by the
Arts Development Officer were a mix of e introductions to artists and arts
organisations, links to informative websites, links to sign up to newsletters
(including the arts@leeds newsletter) and suggestions of next steps.

The arts@leeds development programme
Financial investment from £4,000 annually
Overview: Open to all Leeds based cultural organisations, this programme supports small to midscale
cultural organisations. It provides an annual package of cash funding and tailored business development
from the Council to help them to thrive.

The arts@leeds investment programme
Financial investment from £45,000 annually
Overview: This programme is aimed at larger organisations that
are able to deliver on more council priorities, offer a greater
contribution to the economy, can develop the city's international
cultural offer, support the development of employment & skills
for the industry, and reach a wider audience. Due to the level of
funding being invested, organisations funded through this
scheme are required to deliver additional activity for the council
which will include; specific activity in targeted locations;
delivering a percentage of their work with an international focus, offer explicit support to emerging
organisations, and implement plans to pay a living wage.

arts@leeds business programme
2 arts@leeds business programme sessions were run in this period, a seminar about sustainable
organisations in May and a session about Keyfund in July. The sustainable organisations group resulted
in many of the organisations reviewing their own current sustainable practice.

Page 39

Page 40

Page 41

arts@leeds development funded organisations
A Quiet Word
Artlink West Yorkshire
Assembly House
CLAY
Cloth Cat
Compass Festival
DAZL
Geraldine Connor Foundation
Heads Together
Interplay Theatre
Invisible Flock
Irish Arts Foundation
Jazz Leeds
Left Bank
Leeds Community Arts Network
Leeds Lieder
Leeds Big Bookend & Northern Short Story Festival
Music:Leeds
Morley Arts Festival
Leeds International Piano Competition
Northern Opera Group
Otley Courthouse
Pavilion
Pyramid of Arts
RJC Dance
Skippko
Slung Low
South Asian Arts-uk
Space 2
The Leeds Library
Transform
Tutti Frutti
Theatre Company Blah Blah Blah

arts@leeds investment funded organisations
East Street Arts
Leeds Playhouse
Phoenix Dance Theatre

Leeds Grand Theatre, Hyde Park Picture House & City Varieties
Northern Ballet
Opera North
PSL – The Tetley
Yorkshire Dance

city events programme funded organisations
Black Music Festival

Leeds St Patricks Day Parade

Leeds West Indian Carnival

arts@leeds newsletter
see our Twitter account @LeedsArts for our most recent edition
Our newsletter is a source of information, opportunities and news targeted towards the culture sector in
Leeds, for creators rather than consumers. The newsletter contains regular sections: arts@leeds
engagement, training, funding, commissioning opportunities, vacancies and sector news.
Images supplied by: The Assembly House, Northern Opera Group, Invisible Flock, Geraldine Connor
Foundation, Black Music Festival, Leeds Grand Theatre, Hyde Park Picture House & City Varieties,
Music:Leeds, Compass Festival, RJC, Heads Together, Morley Arts Festival, Left Bank, Leeds Playhouse

Page 42

Appendix 2 – Culture Recovery Funds in Leeds

Analysis of The Culture Recovery Fund (CRF) Data
Breakdown by distributor across Leeds
Type of Funding (Distributor)

Local Authority

Total (£)

Arts Council England (ACE) Capital Kickstart

Leeds

£2,312,650

ACE grants round 1

Leeds

£11,852,884

ACE grants round 2

Leeds

£5,559,523

British Film Institute (BFI)

Leeds

£79,991

National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF)

Leeds

£177,600
£19,982,648.00

This table shows the breakdown by the different funding distributors of the CRF.
There is a marked difference in between the ACE grant rounds which could be down to
many differing factors such as immediate need during the initial financial impact of the
pandemic. This tracks with organisations that have venues/buildings which was the focus
of the fund from DCMS (and to an extent it still is).
Overall, the NPO/non-NPO breakdown in Leeds was 40% NPO and 60% non-NPO which
could indicate that regular funding helped support those organisations and so their need
was not as great. This is a theme which has been highlighted across Centre for Cultural
Value case study interviews with different sub-sectors. Similarly, this reveals that much of
the cultural ecology in Leeds is constituted by small-medium size organisations that are
non-NPO status, and they are applying for smaller amounts.1

Breakdown by Constituency within Leeds
Unsurprisingly, Leeds Central received the majority of the funding at 79.58% of the total
funding. This correlates with the geographic clustering of institutions, organisations and
venues within the city but also illuminates some potential inequalities in terms geographic
spread within the city. For example, the lowest distribution per constituency was
West/North West at just over 4.5% and Leeds East/North East at 6.5% respectively.

1

The split is 55 Non-NPO and 11 NPO. This is of course an indicative trend and there are anomalies. It
also does not take into account the many organisations that were ineligible.

Page 43

1

Breakdown by Art Form
Art Form

Total (£)

Theatre

£7,128,631

Music

£5,656,106

Dance

£1,165,748

Museums

£1,570,245

Combined

£1,131,248

Visual Arts

£970,102

Not Discipline Specified

£2,102,977

This was a combination of all the funds thus far. Music and theatre have received the
majority of the funding. However, when each art form is broken down into organisational
spread the picture becomes more nuanced. There were 8 visual arts, 23 music and 10
combined arts organisations. Whereas the spread over dance (2), theatre (5, if you
don’t count Leeds City Council as a 6th funding recipient) and museums (2) looks
relatively more concentrated in distribution. This further supports the assertion that the
Leeds ecology is made up primarily of numerous small to medium sized organisations
with a smaller number of large institutions. However, what it does reveal is an anomaly in
the form of dance-based organisations that received the CRF. There are many possible
reasons behind this number, not all negative, but it does raise the question about
adequate provision for dance organisations across the city.

Page 44

2

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Robert Clayton
Tel: 0113 37 88790

Future Waste Strategy Inquiry – Finance and Terms of
Reference
Date: 18 October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The Terms of Reference (at Appendix 1) outline a proposed joint inquiry to be conducted by
the Environment, Housing and Communities and Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Boards.

•

The Terms of Reference reflect requests from members of both Boards to consider in detail
issues associated with the strategic direction of waste services, and specifically ways in
which recycling rates can be improved and at what cost. The role of Strategy and Resources
will be tightly focused on the finances involved in recycling in Leeds and not service delivery
which falls under the remit of the Environment, Housing and Communities Board.

•

Given this remit, it is proposed that the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny
Board leads an inquiry into the future of the Council’s waste services, focusing on resilience,
sustainability and interventions that can improve the future services including increasing the
percentage of waste that is recycled.

•

However, given the wide breadth of issues relating to waste services, it is proposed that
capacity within the scrutiny service is maximised through the delegation of specific elements
of the work – expressly related to finance - to the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board.
Strategy and Resources has a number of financial delegations within its scrutiny remit
including setting, supporting and monitoring the council’s policies and procedures for
budgets, managing and monitoring the Council’s revenue budget and capital programme
and reporting on the robustness of the Council’s financial plans.

•

This joint approach will enable members of the Strategy and Resources Board, along with at
least two representatives of the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board, to
examine some of the budgetary aspects of waste services in detail with a view to reporting
those findings back to the Environment, Housing and Communities Board.

Page 45

•

In conducting this inquiry, the two Boards aim to support the aspirations set out in the Best
Council Plan 2020-2025, to identify ways in which to increase the percentage of waste
recycled and to prioritise sustainable infrastructure that responds to the 2019 declaration of
a climate emergency and the Council’s aspiration to be a net zero carbon city by 2030.

•

As set out above the Environment, Housing and Communities Board agreed to delegate the
finance element of the remit to the Strategy and Resources Board at its meeting on 23
September.

•

To initiate discussion on the financial issues associated with increasing the percentage of
waste that is recycled Appendix 2 to this report provides a high level summary of existing
costs, contractual costs associated with waste and the estimated costs of increasing the
collection of kerbside recyclable material.

Recommendations
a) Members are asked to note the contents of Appendix 1 t and note the agreed Terms of
Reference delegating responsibility for financial matters as they relate to recycling services
in the city to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board.
b) To note the content of Appendix 2 and highlight further scrutiny work linked to these issues
to be incorporated into the Board’s Work Programme.
c) The Board is also asked to confirm at least two representatives to join members of the
Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board in their deliberations and wider
inquiry into this issue.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

In considering their future work programmes members of both the Environment, Housing
and Communities and Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Boards requested that opportunity
be made available to examine issues relating to waste services in this municipal year.

2

The remit of the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board includes refuse
services and climate change, both of which are significant ongoing priorities for the Board.
It is therefore deemed appropriate that the Environment, Housing and Communities
Scrutiny Board has overall responsibility and oversight for the establishment, delivery, and
conclusion of the proposed inquiry.

3

The Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board has, however, also specifically requested
opportunity to examine the budgetary implications of proposals to increase recycling rates.
To maximise capacity and potential added value, and to avoid duplication, the Chairs are
therefore proposing a joint approach to this work.

4

The Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board will lead the inquiry with the
Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board reporting its findings for inclusion in the final inquiry
recommendations via a scrutiny statement once the financial work has been completed.

5

By way of context, members have been mindful that the future of waste services is a
significant priority for decision makers locally and nationally, with any future action likely to
have the potential to contribute towards achieving wider ambitions linked to climate change.
Page 46

The discussions will be informed by the detail set out in the delayed Government Waste
Strategy and any additional resources provided by Government related to it.

6

Members of the Boards in question have also suggested it is timely to consider the options
available to the Council to improve recycling rates – and their associated financial
implications – in light of the significant long-term financial challenges facing local
authorities.

7

Given the financial focus on this issue Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board will need to
consider additional costs linked to increasing recycling volumes and where additional
resource might come form to provide that set against the ongoing financial challenge faced
by the Council. The Board may wish to consider options such as invest to save, sources of
additional Government or wider funding and making better or alternative use or resources
within the existing financial envelope.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

8

☐Yes

☒No

The Vision for Scrutiny sets out the ambition for Leeds City Council’s Scrutiny function to
engage in policy review and development, which can contribute to achieving service
improvements, thereby adding value for the people of Leeds. Scrutiny Board members
have identified future waste services as an area in which they believe their engagement,
challenge and review could achieve such results.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
9

Consultation on the Terms of Reference has taken place between both Chairs, along with
the Executive Board Member for Environment and Housing, the Director of Communities,
Housing and Environment and the Chief Officer for Environmental Services.

What are the resource implications?
10 Resources to support the Scrutiny function are, like all other Council functions, under
considerable pressure and constructive consultation should therefore take place between
the Executive and Scrutiny about the availability of resources prior to any work being
undertaken.
11 Scrutiny Boards should:
• Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member about
available resources
• Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue
• Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose, will add value, and can
be delivered within an agreed time frame

Page 47

11 Enhancing the volume of recycled material will have cost implications and these are dealt
with in more detail in Appendix 2.
What are the legal implications?
12 There are no specific legal implications associated with this report.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
13 There are no specific risk management issues associated with this report.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

Appendices
14 Appendix 1 – Draft Terms of Reference
15 Appendix 2 – High level summary of funding and cost factors associated with recycling
service in Leeds

Background papers
16 None

Page 48

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES,
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
EXPANSION OF RECYCLING IN LEEDS AND CHANGING WASTE
PROFILE
TERMS OF REFERENCE
1.0

Introduction

1.1

In considering the future work programmes of their respective Boards
both the Environment, Housing and Communities and Strategy and
Resources Boards expressed a desire to look in more detail at
recycling in Leeds in 2021/22.

1.2

Waste services fall within the remit of Environment, Housing and
Communities Scrutiny Board and this is a significant ongoing priority for
Board members, as is the way in which the waste service can
contribute to the Council’s response to the declared Climate
Emergency. However, it is the view of both Chairs that in looking at the
future of Waste Services, there is the potential to provide added
organisational value through some elements of joint working.

1.3

It is therefore proposed that the Environment, Housing and
Communities Board will lead a joint inquiry with responsibility for
initiating and commissioning the various elements of the inquiry, as
well as finalising and presenting the joint recommendations that
emerge from the deliberations of both Boards.

1.4

The involvement of the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board would be
via representation at the Environment Housing and Communities Board
meeting in September and delegation of a specific element of the
inquiry, namely finance, to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board for
further examination.

1.5

The financial elements of the inquiry will be examined by the Strategy
and Resources Scrutiny Board with the involvement of at least two
representatives from the Environment, Housing and Communities
Board. The conclusions of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
would then be reported back to the Environment, Housing and
Communities Scrutiny Board for inclusion in the final inquiry report.

1.6

Both Chairs have expressed their support for this approach, subject to
the endorsement of their respective Board members.

1.7

The Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board will focus
on the strategic future direction of the waste service taking into account
the anticipated detail emerging from the Government’s Waste Strategy
and the Council’s wider response to the Climate Emergency. The
Board will focus on ways in which to develop the long-term sustainable
1
Page 49

future of the service to increase resilience and improve performance in
line with the aspirations of Best Council and Best City Plans, and will
also examine ways in which to work with local members to improve
community recycling rates.
1.8

The proposed areas of delegated work - expressly related to finance include the budget implications of expanding recycling, the contractual
issues that underpin recycling in Leeds and how expanded recycling
services fit with the strategic Best Council Plan priority to promote a
more competitive, less wasteful, more resource efficient, low carbon
economy.

1.9

From a budgetary perspective the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny
Board will look at current budget allocations to recycling of waste, the
costs of expanding the recycling offer and carry out an analysis of
where additional budget might be allocated from in order to provide
enhanced recycling services to residents. Part of this work will involve
analysis of existing waste contracts, comparison with other local
authorities in West Yorkshire and a focus on Government policy and
funding in this area linked to ongoing delays in consultation on the
Resources and Waste Strategy published in 2018 and the launch of a
Government consultation on Consistency in Household and Business
Recycling in May 2021.

1.10

The launch of the Government consultation also included additional
details around what local authorities will be expected to collect in terms
of recyclable materials from households and businesses and details on
how expanded collection might be funded. Furthermore, the
Government has restated its commitment to recycling at least 65% of
municipal waste by 2035, with a maximum of 10% being landfilled.
Given that the involvement of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny
Board will be focussed on overall financial strategy in this regard the
consultation provides useful context and possible direction for the
Board to use when carrying out its work.

2.0

Scope of the inquiry
Environment Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board

2.1

Environment Housing and Communities will focus its work on
performance and policy with a commitment to carry out a forwardlooking review of how recycling services could be enhanced and how
the service as a whole could become more sustainable and resilient,
for the ultimate benefit of Leeds residents. This will focus on:
➢ Volumes of waste and what the city does with it – As a starting
point the board will analyse what the city currently throws away in
terms of volume, type and where it goes once collected and the
services that are used to dispose of waste. Key questions would be:
are these free, are they subsidised and how is it disposed of once
2
Page 50

collected? A breakdown of this information will be essential to the work
of both Boards and to some degree could assist in developing an
approach similar to ‘zero based budgeting’ through which a clear
understanding of the city’s waste and the costs associated can be
established.
➢ Waste Strategy – how is Leeds interpreting the information that has
been published to date and what might that mean for the service?
What will the Council be compelled to do, stop doing or change, and
where might the potential be for delivering enhanced collections as a
result?
➢ Climate Emergency – Understanding the extent to which changes in
the service can potentially contribute to the Council’s ambition
associated with tackling the declared climate emergency in the city.
➢ Local recycling – members have expressed a desire to understand
whether there is more that can be done at a local level – and in
conjunction with local ward members - to boost recycling rates,
particularly in communities which have traditionally had lower than
average rates.
➢ The city’s waste profile – A potentially lasting change brought about
by the Covid-19 pandemic is that significant volumes of workers who
used to work in Leeds City Centre will now spend more time working at
home. In order to look at how the service might change it will be
important to understand the impact this has had on the city’s waste
profile and how the behaviour of residents has changed as a result.
➢ Current performance – The Board will also be looking at the ways in
which performance can continue to be improved as the service adapts
to future environmental and financial challenges. Member may explore
the continued work around the city’s route review and the way in which
changes may enable a wider range of waste services to operate.
➢ Policy – Ultimately the Board will assess and review existing policies
and where appropriate make recommendations to decision makers in
order to introduce new policy particularly around recycling but also
service wide to look to enhance the service offered to residents of
Leeds.
Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
2.2

The purpose of the Board’s involvement is to gain an understanding
and make recommendations, where appropriate, on the options open
to the Council in terms of expanding its recycling offer with a focus on
costs and contracts related to delivery of new services for Leeds
residents. This will focus on:

3
Page 51

➢ Cost and viability of alternative waste streams – A key initial
question will focus on whether the Council can recycle more waste and
introduce recycling of food, glass and a wider range of plastics as part
of its kerbside collection service and to determine the cost and viability
issues associated with any planned expansion. The Council is
committed to the delivery invest to save measures and the Board will
look at potential opportunities to develop policies that align with that
agenda as a means to secure additional funding.
➢ Contractual issues/recycling markets – A major factor in availability
of kerbside collection is the resale value of the recycled material.
Understanding any limitations linked to the resale value of recycled
material and any wider limitations in terms of appropriate facilities or
availability of a structure to take the recycled waste in Leeds and any
associated costs of delivering them. It will also be important to
understand the current contract status in terms of where recycled
waste goes once collected in Leeds and whether there is room for this
to include more materials and at what potential cost.
➢ RERF – The RERF facility has a 10% recycling target as part of the
existing contract with the Council, this target has historically been
missed with financial compensation paid as per the contractual terms.
This is an area of interest both in terms of how that compensation is
used by the Council and what measures might be introduced to ensure
that the 10% target is met, and more items are recycled in the future.
➢ Government Waste Strategy – The Resources and Waste Strategy
was published in 2018 but due to delays caused by Brexit and then
Covid-19 consultation on this has yet to fully complete with the
remainder of it expected to take place in 2021. As a consequence of
these delays the Council is also in a holding pattern in terms of
developing and evolving the service to recycle more materials which is
a clear aim of the Government strategy and the Climate Emergency
related aims of the Council. A key issue is funding for new services, as
this agenda develops in 2021 more clarity may also emerge on funding
and timescales which would be helpful to the Council but could also
offer scrutiny an opportunity to be involved in the process pre-decision
in terms of developing and delivering additional recycling services in
Leeds. The recently announced Government consultation, noted
above, offers some initial information on this in terms of materials to be
recycled by local authorities and possible additional funding though it is
recognised that a significant limitation is that currently funding levels
are not confirmed.

3.0

Desired Outcomes and Measures of Success

3.1

It is important to consider how the Scrutiny Boards will deem if their
inquiry has been successful in making a difference to local people.

4
Page 52

Some measures of success may be obvious and others may become
apparent as the inquiry progresses and discussions take place.
3.2

However, the primary aim of this Inquiry is to assist, from a budgetary
and strategic viewpoint, in enhancing the recycling services offered to
Leeds residents particularly at a time when there is major policy focus
on this agenda through the declaration of a Climate Emergency in
Leeds in March 2019.

4.0

Comments of the relevant Director and Executive Member

4.1

In line with Scrutiny Board Procedure Rule 32, where a Scrutiny Board
undertakes an Inquiry the Scrutiny Board shall consult with any
relevant Director and Executive Member on the terms of reference. A
meeting took place on 29 June to consult with both the Executive
Board Member for Housing and Environment and Director of
Communities and Environment. This meeting confirmed that this will be
a work item in 2021/22 and also confirmed the renewed focus on
enhanced services and a forward looking strategic overview of how the
service is structured and how changes might be made to improve
recycling services and wider waste services to Leeds residents.

5.0

Timetable for the inquiry

5.1

The Inquiry will commence through an initial item at the Environment,
Housing and Communities Board on 23 September 2021.
Representatives from the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board will
be invited to attend the meeting on 23 September and through this
mechanism work will be assigned to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny
Board in relation to recycling finance. The work will then feature at both
boards in October. Further work will take place at Environment,
Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board throughout the municipal
year.

6.0

Submission of evidence

6.1

September 2021 – Environment, Housing and Communities
Scrutiny Board
To consider evidence in relation to the following:
➢ Breakdown of the city’s waste in terms of volume, type and how it
is disposed of and comparison with other local authorities.
➢ Consider the impact of the pandemic on the city’s waste profile and
how behaviour has changed in relation to waste disposal and types
of waste disposed of.
➢ High level performance monitoring: where are the challenges in
performance and what steps need to be taken to address those.
5
Page 53

➢ Ways in which locally targets work, in conjunction with ward
members, could improve recycling rates particularly in communities
with traditionally low rates.
➢ Consideration of feedback, if any, there has been from residents in
terms of a desire for enhanced recycling

6.2

October 2021 - Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
➢ Costs associated with offering additional recycling services in
Leeds: food, glass and a wider variety of plastics
➢ The potential implications of enhanced services on the overall
financial position of the authority and the existing budget
commitment to waste services
➢ Government policy and the likelihood, or otherwise, of additional
funding from Government to deliver enhanced recycling services
➢ Recycling markets and how they impact the viability of collection of
recyclable materials
➢ Comparison of recycling services and associated costs with other
local authorities in West Yorkshire
➢ The current contractual position in terms of the RERF and other
waste contracts held by the Council
➢ How expanded recycling services could fit with the Best Council
Plan priority to promote a more competitive, less wasteful, more
resource efficient, low carbon economy in Leeds.

6.3

October 2021 – Both Scrutiny Boards
➢ Consideration of findings from the initial work

7.0

Witnesses

7.1

The following have been identified as possible contributors to the
inquiry, however others may be identified during the course of the
inquiry:
•
•
•
•
•

Executive Member for Environment and Housing
Director of Communities, Housing and Environment
Chief Officer Environmental Services
Representation from the Council’s Finance Department
Representation from the recycling sector

8.0

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

8.1

The Equality Improvement Priorities have been developed to ensure
the Council’s legal duties are met under the Equality Act 2010. The
priorities will help the council to achieve its ambition to be the best City
6
Page 54

in the UK and ensure that as a city work takes place to reduce
disadvantage, discrimination and inequalities of opportunity.
8.2

Equality and diversity will be a consideration throughout the Scrutiny
Inquiry and due regard will be given to equality through the use of
evidence, written and verbal, outcomes from consultation and
engagement activities.

8.3

The Scrutiny Board may engage and involve interested parties and
individuals (both internal and external to the council) to inform
recommendations.

8.4

Where an impact has been identified this will be reflected in the final
inquiry report, post inquiry. Where a Scrutiny Board recommendation is
agreed the individual, organisation or group responsible for
implementation or delivery should give due regard to equality and
diversity, conducting impact assessments where it is deemed
appropriate.

9.0

Post inquiry report monitoring arrangements

9.1

Following the completion of the Scrutiny inquiry and the publication of
the final inquiry report and recommendations, the implementation of the
agreed recommendations will be monitored.

9.2

The final inquiry report will include information on the detailed
arrangements for how the implementation of recommendations will be
monitored.

7
Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
Collection of household waste and recycling in Leeds – baseline position
Purpose:

This appendix summarises how we currently collect and process household waste across Leeds for our 357,000
households, the outcomes in quantities of waste and recycling percentages/rates, and at what financial cost.

1. How we collect and process waste currently:
(a)

Dry recyclable waste (green bins)
COLLECTION - All residents in Leeds have access to a green bin (or green bags) where they can choose to
dispose of a wide range of items/material for recycling. The vast majority of households have their own
green bin, but some share communal green bins (eg in flats/high rise). Most (76%) of households have a
fortnightly collection of their green bin, alternated with the black bin. However, about 5,000 properties in
the Headingley, Hyde Park and Chapeltown areas receive a weekly black and fortnightly green bin
collection. The rest get a 4-weekly collection (with a weekly black bin collection). A small number (approx.
5,000 households) have opted out of green bin collections altogether. The current household guide to what
is accepted in a green bin is included in this appendix for info. In summary, that includes most plastics,
metal cans, pots/tubs/trays, paper, cardboard – but not glass or food.
DISPOSAL – All waste collected in green bins is taken to our current contractor, HW Martins, to sort and
process at their site off Dewsbury Road. Known as the Materials Recovery Facility (MRF), through a series
of mechanical and manual sorting processes the different recyclable materials are separated, cleaned and
processed into the required format ready to send to manufacturers who will recycle into new products.
The facility does as much of the separating and processing as possible to minimise a further stage being
necessary before recycling. An example is the sorting and processing into flakes of plastics at the site into
the various types ready for the market. This cuts down on unnecessary transportation, and helps ensure
more direct, sustainable and valuable markets can be found; reducing cost, allowing more materials to be
collected in the green bin and improving the recyclable life of materials.

(b)

Garden waste (brown bins)
COLLECTION – Leeds currently collects significantly more garden waste from households than any other
council in the UK. We are in the minority of councils that still offer this discretionary service without an
additional charge. Most councils charge, and consequently collect significantly less waste. When councils
have moved to a chargeable service, they have typically seen a reduction of around 50-60% in the number
of households they collect from. Leeds collects brown bins every fortnight from 216,000 households
citywide. The service was designed and introduced with the aim to help those households with sufficiently
sized gardens reduce the amount of garden waste going in their black bin, and to supplement home
composting and free disposal at HWRCs. Hence the policy agreed in 2014 for one brown bin per household,
around which the routes are designed and resourced.
DISPOSAL – Currently we have two contractors that we use to take our garden waste to, for them to process
into compost. These are Wastewise (located near Esholt) and Biffa (located at Skelton). Wastewise mainly
dispose of the compost they create to farmers for agricultural use. The compost created by Biffa is used as
part of the land reclamation project at Skelton.

(c)

Residual waste (black bins)
COLLECTION – Every household has access to a black bin (or bagged collection), most have their own and
some share communal bins. Most (76%) of households have a fortnightly collection of their black bin,
alternated with the green bin. The rest get a weekly collection of their black bin (or bag). If residents were

Page 57

using the green and brown bins/composting to their fullest and taking glass and textiles to a local bring
banks, the main contents in black bin would be food waste, a small number of plastics non-recyclable paper
and card and other items such as nappies and other miscellaneous non -recyclable items.
DISPOSAL – All our black bin waste is collected and taken to the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility
(RERF) at Cross Green, operated through a contract by Veolia. None of our black bin waste goes to landfill.
A small amount of the waste is separated for recycling before incineration (ferrous and non-ferrous
metals). The waste material is then incinerated and the energy created used to generate electricity that is
fed into the national grid and the heat created is used to feed the Leeds Pipes network which provides
heating to households and businesses. The resultant ash from the process has further metals extracted for
recycling and the remaining ash is mostly used in construction aggregates, such as for road building.
(d)

Glass (glass banks)
COLLECTION – We currently provide a local network of over 700 bottle banks throughout the city where
mixed glass bottles and jars (and lids) can be disposed of. The bottle banks are provided by LCC, but the
collection/emptying and transportation to the processing plant is through the contractor, URM Ltd. A
bunker at Kirkstall HWRC is used as a waste transfer facility by the contractor.
DISPOSAL – All our glass is collected and taken to their processing plant by our contractor URM Ltd. The
glass is washed, separated and processed into “cullets” at the plant. Because we collect glass separately,
the glass produced at URM is of the highest grade. This means the glass can be recycled more times and
has a greater financial value. The cullets are taken to a neighbouring plant, where new bottles are made.
The carbon footprint of the recycling/manufacturing process is therefore minimised.

(e)

Food (Rothwell kerbside trial) – currently suspended
COLLECTION – A small scale trial started in 2009 in the Rothwell and surrounding area/villages. About
12,400 households are able to use a kitchen caddy/compostable liners system to leave food waste out for
collection. One refuse crew/vehicle was dedicated to this, offering a weekly collection service. Each caddy
would be emptied into a wheely bin which, when full, would then be emptied into the wagon as normal.
DISPOSAL – Under the existing contract, the food is taken by our crew to the contractor’s transfer facility
in Dewsbury operated by Biffa Waste Services. From here Biffa transfer the food to an Anaerobic Digestion
plant in Cannock. The process of anaerobic digestion produces bio-methane which is a source of renewable
energy and bio-fertiliser which is rich in nutrients and used in agriculture.

(f)

Other materials
Textiles (on council land)
COLLECTION – We currently have 50 banks on 40 sites which are council bring sites (usually alongside glass
and paper banks) and venues such as leisure centres. We have in recent years undertaken expansion of
the network of banks during the student changeover period to help with waste reduction. The contract is
held by Nathans Wastesavers who provide the banks, collect, re-use and recycle the textiles, and are based
in Denny, Scotland where they where the mixed textiles are sorted and graded.
DISPOSAL - The graded textiles are sold and exported to counties in Europe and Africa. The textiles
unsuitable for re-use are recycled in the UK to make rags and cloths. The council receives an income for
the textiles collected which is at the current market rate.
Paper Banks (on council land)
COLLECTION – We currently have 79 banks on council bring sites (usually alongside glass and textile banks).
The long-term contract is held by Saica Nutur who provide the banks, collect and recycle the paper. Saica
are based in Doncaster where the material is taken to for processing.

Page 58

DISPOSAL – The material is sorted and then baled for onward transport to Saica’s papermill in Manchester
where the material is recycled into new paper products. The council receives the current market rate for
the paper materials which is offset by a service charge.
WEEE Banks (on council land)
COLLECTION – We currently have 40 banks over 31 sites that collect a range of WEEE (Electrical) Items. The
contractor, Wastepak are responsible for the collection and onward recycling/treatment.
DISPOSAL – The electrical Items collected are sorted into high value items such as mobile phone, games
consoles and laptops etc. The high value items are wiped using various mechanical and electronical
methods and are then stripped down to their valuable component parts which are sold to be reused or
used as raw materials. The sale of these materials generates an income to the council. The lower value
items are recycled with other mixed electricals whereby the process involves stripping down the products
mechanically and separating the various materials into things that have a value and can be recycled.
Batteries
COLLECTION – We currently have around 400 battery collection points at business, community halls and
council buildings around Leeds. The contractor Wastepak are responsible for the collection and onward
recycling/treatment of the batteries.
DISPOSAL – The batteries are collected and bulked up and taken to a treatment facility in Manchester
where the batteries are both mechanically and chemically processed to extract valuable metals, earth
metals and compounds which are then used as raw materials to be recycled into other products or used in
the manufacture of new batteries.

2.

The current cost of providing the services:
Table A: The following is a high-level breakdown of the 2021/22 operational budget, split as far as possible
into the different elements of the service. Some broad assumptions have been made to provide these
figures; they do not include any senior manager, back office/support/contract management staff or
depot/site management costs. The figures should therefore be taken as indicative only. Also included is
the cost of disposing of the waste by each waste type. These base budget figures do NOT include any extra
staffing or tonnages relating to Covid.
Bin Collection Routes
Budget
Staff Numbers (FTEs)

Operational only

Employees

Chargehands/Loaders Operatives
Additional ops cover pool
Supervisors and Managers

Premises

Depot running costs etc

Supplies and services

Bin bags, PPE, incabs/software

Transport

Fleet SLA, fuel, maintenance/repairs, RCV hire

Central Charges

Other
New Depot Borrowing - annual repayment
Purchase Of New Bins - annual repayment

Waste disposal/processing costs
Income

2nd collections in high rise paid for by HRA
New/replacement wheely bins contribution
Net sales of recylates

Grand Totals (Net costs):

Page 59

Black

Green

Brown

delivery/sh
unts

Totals

145.6

156.4

61.1

11.2

374.4

4,612,475
302,118
732,198
5,646,791

4,952,400
324,350
786,079
6,062,829

1,936,808
126,818
307,348
2,370,974

334,582
23,328
56,536
414,446

11,836,265
776,614
1,882,161
14,495,040

35,743

38,373

15,004

2,760

91,880

157,502

169,093

66,113

12,161

404,870

1,650,567

1,772,029

692,844

80,400

4,195,840

63,060
79,749
-

67,701
85,618
-

26,470
33,476
-

4,869
6,158
827,000

162,100
205,000
827,000

11,641,958

1,464,000

913,275

-

14,019,233

(347,260)
-

(492,000)

-

(283,610)
-

(347,260)
(283,610)
(492,000)

18,928,111

9,167,642

4,118,156

1,064,184

33,278,093

Table B: The following table summarises by waste types the tonnages collected and cost of disposing,
together with how much income we get from each recyclate (this includes at Households Waste and
Recycling Centre (HWRCs) and bring banks). Note – these are the 2021/22 base budget figures, and so do
not include the effect of Covid on tonnages.

Estimated
Tonnes Total Cost
2021/22
2021/22
£
Residual Materials (non-recylable)
167,985 11,641,958
9,357
334,813
130
16,524
387
24,413
12
9,055
174
19,049
3,283
52,531
25,869 2,602,642
976
96,304

Black bin waste
Green bin waste (unrecyclable material)
Asbestos - HWRCs
Plasterboard - HWRCs
Incinerated Medical - Medi waste
Offensive waste Medical - Medi waste
Inerts - HWRCs
Residual Waste - HWRCs
Collection Contracts

208,172 14,797,289
Recycling Materials
Green bin waste (net)
Brown bin (garden waste)
Garden waste - at HWRCs
Garden waste - Trade at HWRCs
Leaf Fall - collected by CNT
Street sweepings - collected by CNT
Timber - HWRCs
Food - collections
Tyres - HWRCs
Paint - HWRCs
Recycling Credits
Mineral Oil - HWRCs
Carpets - HWRCs
Books - HWRCs
Chemicals - HWRCs
Paper - HWRCs + bring banks
Cardboard - HWRCs + bring banks
Scrap Metal - HWRCs
Textiles - HWRCs + bring banks
Glass - HWRCs, bring banks and collection
Batteries - HWRCs and bring banks
Ink - HWRCs
Vegetable oil - HWRCs
Small Electrical (Weee) - HWRCs and bring banks
Totals

31,567
33,213
6,900
1,170
1,246
8,096
14,111
0
50
373
701
59
0
60
300
515
2,433
2,968
542
10,134
64
0
12
1,342

637,533
913,275
189,159
30,886
44,856
291,455
0
0
53
156,377
57,915
28
0
1,218
33,495
27,859
(34,062)
(290,824)
(99,062)
132,332
(38,884)
(0)
(365)
(40,874)

115,857

2,012,369

324,029 16,809,658

Grand Totals:

Page 60

3. How this translates to the current city wide recycling rate as measure by DEFRA

Table C: The following table summarises our current city recycling rate, as defined by Government;
Covid note: the 2020/21 actuals shown in this table include the effect of Covid on tonnages/rates

Waste collection method

Green bins
Brown Bins
Food
Kerbside Recycling

Tonnages

City Recycling
Percentage
2019/20 2020/21
2019/20 2020/21
Actuals
Actuals
Actuals
Actuals
tonnes
tonnes
rate
rate
29,751
33,190
736
63,677

31,567
32,894
0
64,461

9.8%
10.9%
0.2%
20.9%

10.0%
10.4%
0.0%
20.4%

6,856
8,280

7,174
6,438

2.3%
2.7%

2.3%
2.0%

HWRCs
Bring banks and Other

27,243
10,216

19,111
13,996

9.0%
3.4%

6.0%
4.4%

Total other

52,595

46,719

17.3%

14.8%

116,272

111,180

38.3%

35.1%

Recycled via AWM/Veolia
Recycled Street Sweepings

Totals

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790
Budget 2021/22 Financial Health Update, Financial Challenge and Medium Term Financial
Strategy

Date: 18 October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a standing commitment to monitor financial
performance throughout the financial year as part of its remit and to identify emerging
issues and suggest alternative approaches as appropriate.

•

The role of scrutiny as a ‘critical friend’ on financial performance and management
contributes to supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising
organisation.

•

Following the Covid-19 pandemic the Council is facing a period of significant financial
challenge. Prior to the pandemic budgets were already under significant pressure due to
Government funding reductions but this situation has been exacerbated by increased
expenditure and reduced income brought about by the pandemic. To illustrate the challenge
faced by the authority the overspend linked to managing the impact of the pandemic and
the wider fiscal environment in 2020/21 totalled £160.5m.

•

The Council has also faced significant uncertainty in relation to its budget planning having
had consecutive one-year financial settlements from the Government in 2019 and 2020.
The next Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) is expected on 27 October to be
announced alongside the Budget. The CSR is expected to set local authority budgets for
the period 2022/23 to 2024/25 which will greatly assist the Council in its medium-term
financial strategy by setting firm budget expectations over a longer period as opposed to
just year to year.

•

A further issue impacting on the Council’s budgetary outlook relates to Government support
for any further Covid related budget pressures. Government support for additional general
expenditure and eligible income losses related to COVID in 2021/22 ended on 30th June
2021. A range of schemes supporting businesses are also reducing now that the country
has moved to step 4 of the Government roadmap for the easing of COVID restrictions. This
includes the reduction and subsequent removal of additional support for business rates and
it is not yet clear how this reduced level of support will impact on the Council’s financial
position.
Page 63

•

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has therefore identified a need to ensure the
robustness and long-term sustainability of the Council’s revenue budget as a key area of
interest in 2021/22 and in the years that follow. This report follows an item considered in
July 2021 and aims to build on the Board’s ongoing interest in these issues through
consideration of the latest Financial Health report and the Council’s updated Medium Term
Financial Strategy both of which featured at the September 2021 Executive Board. In
addition, further specific work focussed on the 2022/23 budget round will take place through
a Scrutiny Board Working Group in December.

Recommendations
Board members are asked to note the content of the report and appendices within the wider
remit linked to financial sustainability and long-term budgetary robustness.
Board members are also asked to highlight any future areas of scrutiny work should any
arise during discussion of this item.
Board members are asked to note the plan for a Working Group to take place in December
2021.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has several key financial functions within its remit.
These include the scrutiny of the Council’s functions with regard to the setting of the
Budget and the Council’s financial Strategy, i.e. ensuring effective financial management
and controls; setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for
budgets; administering effective financial management and controls; and setting,
supporting and monitoring the Council’s financial strategy. As a consequence, the Board
will closely monitor financial performance in 2021/22. This report presents the latest
iteration of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) at Appendix 1 and the latest
financial health position in respect of the revenue budget and Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) at Appendix 2.

2

The Scrutiny Board last considered financial health matters at its meeting in July 2021
dealing with the Financial Outturn position for financial year 2020/21, the latest financial
health reports and also a reminder of the service reviews, and linked savings, that were
agreed as part of the budget setting process for financial year 2021/22.

3

The MTFS aims to set out a consistent and sustainable approach to establishing and
maintaining a stable and prudent financial basis on which the Council’s services can be
delivered. The strategy covers the period 2022/23 to 2026/27 and is subject to an annual
update. The wider context of ongoing budget challenge is clearly set out, the MTFS
identifies an estimated budget gap of £146.5m for the five-year period covered by the
Strategy, of which £65.4m relates to 2022/23.

4

As noted above the Council continues to face a period of significant financial challenge
linked to funding reductions, increased demand for services and the residual and ongoing
impact of Covid-19. Between the 2010/11 and 2021/22 budgets, the Council’s annual core
settlement funding from Government has reduced by around £263m, or nearly 60%.
Additionally, the Council has faced significant demand-led cost pressures, especially within
Adult Social Care and Children’s Services. Given the board’s remit on budgetary matters
and the wider role of scrutiny as a critical friend within the Council, the financial challenge
programme and how it could impact the Council’s services and workforce are a key driver
for the Board’s work in 2021/22.
Page 64

5

In addition to covering issues from a performance monitoring perspective the Board will
also be carrying out work through a working group in December that looks in greater detail
at budgetary plans for the next financial year. Managing the financial challenge
successfully is an important element of the successful delivery of Council services and
meeting the aims and ambitions set out in the Best Council Plan.

6

The MTFS makes a number of assumptions when forecasting the financial envelope for
future years and several uncertainties linked to external factors play a contributing role to
this position. The Government has indicated that the CSR due to be announced on 27
October will be the first multi-year departmental funding settlement in three years. This
could provide much needed certainty to enable the Council to plan more effectively against
future service delivery requirements. For the past two years the CSR has been limited to a
single year primarily because of Brexit and then the impact of Covid-19. Added to the
uncertainty of one year settlements, the Government has also been considering a move to
75% business rates retention nationally, the resetting of business rates baselines and
implementation of the outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding review of the
methodology which determines current funding baselines and is based on an assessment
of relative needs and resources. All of these issues create an environment where planning
for budgets in future years relies on assumptions as opposed to certainty in terms of the
likely funding that will be available from Government.

7

Despite these challenges the Medium Term Financial Strategy continues the journey that
began in 2019 whereby the Council’s revenue budget becomes more financially robust,
resilient and sustainable by moving away from the use of one off sources of funding such
as capital receipts and reserves to fund recurring expenditure. The MTFS also commits to
providing additional budget resiliency through planned budgeted contributions to the
General Reserve, an example of which is noted below at Paragraph 9.

8

In respect of financial health, the report considered by Executive Board in September set
out a projected overspend of £0.4m net of the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s budget.
The Covid related overspend stands at £24.9m for 20-21/22 so far but this is offset by
Government grant funding of £24.6m (of which £21.2m will be used to address this
overspend) and an estimated £3.7m contribution from the Government to account for lost
income. The HRA is projecting a balanced budget.

9

An important element of financial sustainability and robustness is availability of reserves to
deal with unexpected events and unplanned expenditure. Following the closure of the
2020/21 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve stands at £27.8m. The 2021/22
budget assumes a contribution of £4m to this reserve during the current financial year. The
Council created a Covid Reserve of £16.7m for 2021/22 to address expected Covid related
pressures during the financial year, this is now approaching full utilisation after Quarter 1 of
the financial year with £1.7m remaining.

10 There are two other notable pressures highlighted in the Financial Health report. These
relate to energy prices and pay negotiations for the staff pay award for 2021/22. As has
been reported in the national media energy prices have increased significantly since late
2020 linked to increases in global prices. The Council purchases gas and electricity in
advance in line with its agreed risk strategy, and so has already hedged the price for the
vast majority of its energy requirement for 2021/22, and for a substantial proportion for
2022/23. However, there remains a proportion of the forecast volume requirement for
which the price has not yet been secured. An Energy Reserve of £1.07m was created to
deal with fluctuations in prices in 2021/22 and whilst there is a degree of uncertainty as to
the overall budget pressure on the general fund it is estimated to range from £0.5m to
£1.5m. It is therefore likely a substantial call on this reserve may be made.
Page 65

11 In relation to the staff pay award the Council has budgeted for a £1.6m increase in pay
costs to provide a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than
£24,000. However, pay negotiations are still ongoing and with the outcome of this still
unknown any additional costs are not currently reflected in the financial position. A 1% pay
increase would equate to approximately £4.3m, less the £1.6m already budgeted, and
would need to be absorbed within approved directorate budgets.
12 The Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board will continue to monitor the service reviews
that underpin the Budget in 2021/22 and will play an active role in the development of
proposals for financial year 2022/23 as savings proposals emerge through a planned
working group in December.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: Please state the specific wards affected here. If city-wide, state “All” for clarity.
Have ward members been consulted?

☐Yes

☒No

13 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a clear interest in the financial health of the
authority established through its remit. Ongoing scrutiny of budgetary matters will support
the Council in terms of budget robustness and long term sustainability and will support the
Best Council Ambition to be an efficient and enterprising organisation.
14 Having a robust and sustainable budget over the medium term will help the Council to
deliver against its wider ambitions to deliver inclusive growth and provides a sound
foundation from which to identify priorities for spend.
15 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Scrutiny Boards will also continue to
ensure that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration issues are considered in
decision making and policy formulation.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
16 The Council’s financial health monitoring is a factual report and is not subject to
consultation.
17 However, in terms of an area of scrutiny focus in 2021/22 the Director of Resources has
been consulted on the intention of the Board to regularly feature reports on finance on its
agendas throughout the municipal year.
What are the resource implications?
18 All resources, procurement and value for money implications are detailed in the main body
of the attached Executive Board reports at Appendices 1 and 2.
What are the legal implications?
19 This report has no specific legal implications.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
20 This report has no specific risk management implications.

Page 66

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

21 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best Council Plan.
22 Having a robust and sustainable budgetary position will enable the Council to deliver
against its priorities including the three key pillars set out above.

Appendices
23 Appendix 1 – Provides the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 – 2026/27 considered
by the Executive Board on 22 September 2021.
24 Appendix 2 – This provides the latest Financial Health Report considered by the Executive
Board at its September meeting.

Background papers
25 None

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27
Date: 22nd September 2021
Report of: Chief Officer – Financial Services
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

This report provides Executive Board with an update of the Council’s Medium-Term
Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27. The attached Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) provides a robust, consistent and sustainable approach to establishing and
maintaining a stable and prudent financial basis on which the Council’s services are
delivered.

•

The MTFS is one of the key strategies of the Council and is a five year strategy which sets
out the Council’s commitment to provide services that meet the needs of people locally and
that represent good value for money.

•

The MTFS 2022/23 – 2026/27 identifies an estimated budget gap of £146.5m for the five
year period covered by the Strategy, of which £65.4m relates to 2022/23.

•

The City ambitions set out in the Best Council Plan are: the Council, working in partnership,
will continue to tackle poverty and inequalities through strengthening the economy and doing
this in a way that is compassionate and caring. Three pillars underpin this vision: inclusive
growth, health and wellbeing, and the climate change emergency, all of which aim to embed
sustainability across the Council’s decision-making. The Authority’s internal ‘Best Council’
focus remains on becoming a more efficient, enterprising and healthy organisation.
Together, these ‘Best City’ and ‘Best Council’ ambitions set the strategic context for the
Medium Term Financial Strategy.

•

The Best Council Plan can only be delivered through a sound understanding of the
organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that
balance the resource implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This
is a primary purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy, which also provides the
financial framework for the annual budget.

Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:
Page 69

a) Note the updated Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23 to 2026/27.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 Executive Board members are required to recommend a balanced Revenue Budget and Capital
Programme for 2022/23 to Full Council in February. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy
provides a key part of the budget setting process.
2 This report presents an updated Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23 to 2026/27 and
the budget assumptions underlying that Strategy for Executive Board to note.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

3 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy informs the annual budget process. The 2022/23 budget
proposals will be presented to the Executive Board and to Full Council in February 2022.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
4 The Authority’s Financial Strategy is driven by its ambitions and priorities as set out in the Best
Council Plan 2020 to 2025. The Best Council Plan was subject to consultation with Members
and officers throughout its development, with additional extensive stakeholder consultation
carried out on the range of supporting plans and strategies.
5 The proposed Medium-Term Financial Strategy has also been informed by the public
consultation on the Council’s Proposed Budget for 2021/22. Whilst the consultation covered the
key 2021/22 proposals, it also incorporated questions around the Council’s priorities and the
principles that underlie the Authority’s financial plans and so the results are relevant to this
report. The full results of the consultation are publicly available in the 2021/22 Revenue Budget
and Council Tax report considered by Full Council on 24th February 2021.
What are the resource implications?
6 All resource implications are considered within the attached Medium-Term Financial Strategy
document.
What are the legal implications?
7 There are no legal implications arising from this report. The report recommends that Executive
Board note the Financial Strategy itself. Any proposals resulting from ongoing service / policy
reviews will be subject to specific decision-making processes in which the legal implications,
access to information and call-in will be considered in accordance with the Council’s decisionmaking framework. This includes compliance with the legal requirements around managing
staffing reductions.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
8 This Medium-Term Financial Strategy needs to be seen in the context of significant inherent
uncertainty for the Council in terms of future funding and spending assumptions.
Page 70

9 The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of risk management
processes. Not addressing the financial pressures in a sustainable way is identified as one of
the Council’s corporate risks, as is the Council’s financial position going into significant deficit in
any one year. Both of these risks are subject to regular review.
10 Risks relating to some of the assumptions contained within this Medium Term Financial
Strategy are addressed specifically in the appended Financial Strategy.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☐ Inclusive Growth

☐ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

11 The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes and
priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Three Pillars of inclusive growth,
health and wellbeing and the climate change emergency underpin this vision and these can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial
sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the
Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the determination of the Council’s annual
revenue budget.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
12 Not applicable.
How will success be measured?
13 Not applicable.
What is the timetable for implementation?
14 Not applicable.
Appendices
15 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27
Background papers
16 None.

Page 71

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy
2022/23 – 2026/27

Page 72

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Contents
Introduction to the Medium-Term Financial Strategy
Part 1: Executive Summary – Leeds City Council’s Medium-Term
Financial Strategy
Part 2: Introduction and Background to Leeds City Council
Part 3: The Influences, Strategies, Best Council Plan and Priorities affecting
the Medium-Term Financial Strategy
Part 4: The Five Year Financial Plan
Part 5: Financial Assurance
Part 6: Financial Strategies
Annexes
A

Best Council Plan on a page 2020-2025

B

Financial Strategy 2020-2025

C

People Strategy 2020-2025

Page 73

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Introduction
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is one of the key strategies of the
Council and is a five year strategy which sets out the Council’s commitment to
provide services that meet the needs of people locally and that represent good value
for money.
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy links the Council’s vision and priorities with its
financial budgets and details how the Council’s finances will be structured and
managed to ensure that this fits with, and supports, the priorities of the Council and
its partners.
The MTFS is aligned to the Council’s strategic plan, the ‘Best Council Plan’ and other
key Council strategies to ensure that our resources are directed to delivering the
priorities for the City.
Medium-term financial planning is critical to ensuring that the Council has a clear
understanding of the level of available resources, the costs of delivering existing
services and plans for new services. Financial planning facilitates strategic choices
around service delivery, efficiency and service reductions.
This Strategy considers:
•

The influences affecting our Council

•

Local factors which affect the Councils aims and priorities

•

The resources available to the Council

•

The requirements to deliver value for money services to the residents of
Leeds

•

How we safeguard public money

The MTFS brings together the key areas which affect our Revenue and Capital
budgets and plans for these over the medium term.

1

Page 74

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Part 1: Executive Summary – Leeds City Council’s MediumTerm Financial Strategy
1.1

Introduction - The Purpose and Key Objectives of the MTFS

1.1.1

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covers a five year period to
ensure that the available resources and requirements of Leeds City Council
are forecast over this period, identifying the influences which impact on the
availability and use of these resources. The priorities of the Council are
detailed in the Best Council Plan and provide the direction as to how the
resources of the Council are utilised.

1.1.2

There are a number of strategies which underpin the aims of the Best
Council Plan and these strategies are referenced in this Medium-Term
Financial Strategy.

1.1.3

This MTFS continues the journey that commenced in 2019, and which was
detailed in the Revenue Budget Update report to October’s Executive Board
in 2019, whereby the Council’s revenue budget becomes more financially
robust, resilient and sustainable by moving away from the use of one off
sources of funding such as capital receipts and reserves to fund recurring
expenditure. Subsequently the MTFS 2021/22 – 2025/26 and the Annual
Revenue Budget report 2021/22 received at September 2020 and February
2021 Executive Boards respectively further embedded the requirement to
make the Council’s revenue budget affordable and sustainable. This 2022-23
to 2026/27 Strategy also reflects the requirement to make the Council’s
financial position more resilient with the inclusion of planned budgeted
contributions to the General Reserve.

1.1.4

The impact of COVID-19 upon the Council’s financial position in both
2020/21 and 2021/22 has been significant. This Medium Term Financial
Strategy document does not provide specifically for the ongoing impact of
COVID-19 after 2021/22. It is assumed that there will not be a requirement
for further lockdowns and therefore the Council will not be required to incur
specific additional expenditure relating to COVID-19. In addition it is
assumed that income realisable from sales, fees and charges returns to preCOVID levels. These assumptions are consistent with the Government’s
current level of financial support which assumes that there will be no ongoing
financial impact of COVID after 2021/22.

1.1.5

The MTFS is a five year rolling strategy which informs the annual budget
process. The Council has a legal requirement to set a balanced budget each
year.

2

Page 75

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
1.1.6

The key objectives of the MTFS are as follows:
•

To ensure that effective financial planning and management contributes
to the Council achieving the priorities in the Best Council Plan

•

To ensure that the Council is financially resilient, stable and sustainable
for the future

•

To maximise the income from Council Tax and Business Rates revenue
to support the priorities of the Council

•

To forecast the influences on the resources available to the Council and
to plan for the reduction in these resources over the life of the Strategy

•

To estimate the expenditure requirements over the life of the Strategy to
ensure value for money is achieved and resources are utilised where
outcomes are measurable and have real impact.
•

To continue to improve value for money – managing our people and
money more efficiently and effectively to continue to improve value for
money, standardise, streamline and share best practice, getting better
value from commissioning and procurement, whilst seeking to minimise
the impact of budget savings on priority services.

1.2

The Best Council Plan

1.2.1

The Best Council Plan is the Council’s current strategic plan which sets out
its ambitions, outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local
Authority. The “Best City” and “Best Council” ambitions set the strategic
context for the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The Best Council Plan can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s
longer-term financial sustainability, which enables decisions to be made that
balance the resource implications of the Council’s policies against financial
constraints. This is the primary purpose of the MTFS which also provides the
financial framework for the annual budget.

1.2.2

To enable the achievement of this ambition the Council has developed a
Medium-Term Financial Strategy covering 5 years to direct the resources of
the Council to the priorities identified in the Best Council Plan.

1.2.3

The Best Council Plan will transition to a partner-developed ‘city plan’ over
the next few months, with engagement with partners and other stakeholders
taking place over the autumn and winter of 2021/22. The intention is that a
revised plan will then be considered by Full Council in February 2022.

1.3

The Influences Affecting The MTFS
International, National and Regional Influences

1.3.1

The funding available to local authorities, and the way this is used, can be
affected by factors at an international, national and regional level. Our
3

Page 76

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Medium-Term Financial Strategy has been produced at a time when Leeds is
facing significant change and challenges, some of which come as a result of
developments far beyond the city’s borders.
COVID-19 and a new operating context
1.3.2

COVID-19 has fundamentally affected the way in which the Council works.
Elements of this change which relate directly to crisis response will, in time,
revert largely back to normal. However, an event of this magnitude has
resulted in the Council needing to consider closely how its business and
services should operate and any ongoing impact of the pandemic will be one
of the elements shaping services in the future. This Medium Term Financial
Strategy document does not provide specifically for the ongoing impact of
COVID-19 after 2021/22. This is consistent with the Government’s current
level of financial support which assumes that there will be no ongoing
financial impact of COVID after 2021/22.
EU Exit

1.3.3

On January 31st 2020 the UK left the EU. While Leeds is prepared to take
advantage of the opportunities the EU exit presents, it is important to
recognise the potential impact of the loss of European Structural and
Investment Funds (ESIF). To replace it, the Government has announced the
establishment of the Shared Prosperity Fund. However there remains
significant uncertainty about the detailed operation of the scheme.
National Policy and Economy

1.3.4

The economy is recovering rapidly following the relaxation of lockdown
restrictions and the UK’s labour market has proved more resilient than was
initially expected. However, by the end of Q2 2021 UK GDP was still 4.4 per
cent below its Q4 2019 peak. Employment has begun to recover alongside
the recovery in economic activity but remains below the position at the start
of the pandemic.

1.3.5

The falling costs of Covid-related spending and improved tax receipts
nationally point to a rapid fall in Public Sector Net Borrowing (PSNB), as had
been forecast in March by the OBR. Nonetheless, high levels of spending will
continue for the immediate future. Indeed, the OBR’s July 2021 Fiscal Risks
report highlights Covid-related ‘legacy risks’ in the medium term, which are
particularly acute in health, education, and transport.
Levelling Up

1.3.6

1

Government’s flagship levelling up policy is intended to “level up
opportunities across all parts of the United Kingdom, supporting jobs,
businesses and economic growth and addressing the impact of the pandemic
on public services.”1 Government intends to publish a White Paper on its

Prime Minister’s Office, Queen's Speech 2021, 11 May 2021

4

Page 77

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
strategy later in the year and to provide further detail on how the Fund will
operate from 2022-23 onwards.2
NHS integration
1.3.7

The Health & Care Bill was introduced into Parliament on the 6th July 2021.
The Bill will ensure each part of England has an Integrated Care Board and
an Integrated Care Partnership responsible for bringing together local NHS
and local government, such as social care, mental health services and public
health advice, to deliver joined up care for its local population. Details around
future funding will become clearer later in the financial year and updates will
be provided accordingly.
2021 Comprehensive Spending Review

1.3.8

The upcoming 2021 Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) will report in
the Autumn on the Government’s spending plans for this parliament. It is
hoped that this will be the first multi-year departmental funding settlement in
three years, providing much needed certainty, but it may provide plans for
one year only. The March 2021 Budget indicated between £14bn and £17bn
of departmental reductions when compared with pre-Covid-19 intentions from
2022-23 onwards, with a particularly severe impact on ‘unprotected’
departments including Local Government. However, in the view of the
Institute of Fiscal Studies and other commentators these planned reductions
could be put under pressure.3 We expect there to be significant focus on
finding a sustainable model for social care.
West Yorkshire Devolution

1.3.9

Following the agreement of a devolution deal between the Government and
West Yorkshire Leaders in spring 2020, a West Yorkshire metro mayor was
elected in May 2021 with devolved powers across adult education, skills and
transport, and with access to a range of new funding streams from
government. The presence of a new regional body with significant funding
will naturally impact on how services are delivered regionally.

1.4

The Demography of Leeds

1.4.1

Leeds is a growing city with a diverse population estimated at 799,000 (ONS
Mid-Year Estimate 2020), an increase of about 48,000 since the 2011
Census. Intelligence regarding the demand for services confirms sometimes
very rapid demographic changes, particularly in our most deprived
communities.

1.4.2

The backdrop to these localised pressures is the wider trend of the city’s
ageing population, reflecting the UK picture. There are a range of
implications for service provision, in particular for health and social care.

2

The Levelling Up agenda, House of Commons, LGA Briefing, 15 June 2021
What does the changing economic outlook mean for the Spending Review, Institute for Fiscal
Studies, July 2021
3

5

Page 78

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
International evidence shows a strong correlation between deprivation,
income inequality and a variety of health problems. This correlation has
strengthened during the pandemic.
1.4.3

Leeds has one of the youngest age profiles of the Core Cities (the largest
cities outside London). Although the birth-rate ‘bulge-cohorts’ of the 2010s
has fallen back since 2017, these cohorts are now beginning to go through
secondary school, with potentially significant mid-term implications for post16 support and opportunities. These past decade has also seen the
population profile of children and young people become more diverse and
poorer.

1.4.4

It is too early to assess any full impact of Brexit on patterns of immigration
and wider population trends, as the pandemic has perhaps masked any more
deep-rooted changes.
Deprivation

1.4.5

Leeds’ diversity is reflected across all its communities and neighbourhoods,
both in the physical identity of our neighbourhoods and in the variety of
cultures and ethnic identities of our residents. However, it is the divergence
in economic characteristics that is most prominent, and perhaps more so
than most other Core Cities. The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 shows
that almost a quarter of Leeds’ Lower Layer Super Output Areas (areas with
populations of around 1,500 people) fall within the most deprived 10%
nationally, but also that significant areas of the city are relatively affluent.

1.5

Economy and Business Makeup
Economy

1.5.1

Leeds is well established as the main driver of economic growth for the city
region, and has key strengths in financial and business services, advanced
manufacturing, health and creative and digital industries, with a strong
knowledge-rich employment base. These strengths, linked to the city’s
universities and teaching hospitals, are major innovation assets for Leeds.
Leeds has also performed well in terms of business start-ups in recent years,
with strong growth in digital and medical technologies, telecommunications
and creative industries.

1.5.2

COVID-19 has brought unprecedented changes, accelerating trends around
digital transformation, remote working, and the shift from the high street to
on-line retail. The extent to which these changes are sustained and continue
to develop is still uncertain. However, the relative diversity of the Leeds
economy has been a key asset in the city’s resilience to economic shocks,
with the city being able to retain its manufacturing strength as well as
consolidate its position as a major centre for finance and business services,
during previous downturns. It is likely that this diversity will be a key factor as
we recover from the pandemic.
6

Page 79

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Labour Market
1.5.3

In common with other Core Cities, our economic output growth has only been
mid-table in recent years. In March 2020, unemployment in Leeds stood at
17,600 (3%), a decline of 44% over the previous five years. However, the
proportion of people claiming unemployment-related benefits rose
considerably during the coronavirus crisis, doubling to over 36,000. As
restrictions ease, it has fallen back slightly, standing at 32,590 (6.3%) as of
June 2021.

1.6

The Financial Challenge

1.6.1

Between the 2010/11 and 2021/22 budgets, the Council’s annual core
settlement funding from Government has reduced by around £263m, or
nearly 60%. Additionally, the Council has faced significant demand-led cost
pressures, especially within Adult Social Care and Children’s Services. To
date, the Council has responded successfully to the challenge since 2010
through a combination of stimulating good economic growth, creatively
managing demand for services, increasing traded and commercial income,
growing council tax from new properties and a significant programme of
organisational efficiencies, including reducing staffing levels since 2010/11
by over 2,800 FTEs.
Table 1.1 Decrease in settlement funding 2010/11 to 2021/22
Decrease in Settlement Funding and Cumulative Savings in Budget
(£ms)
700.00
600.00
500.00
400.00
300.00
200.00
100.00
-

1.6.2

Efficiencies

Service Changes

Accounting Measures/Reserves

Settlement Funding

Additional Income

Inevitably, managing the large reduction in Government funding combined
with increasing cost pressures has meant that the Council has had to make
some difficult decisions around the delivery of services, and it will remain
increasingly difficult over the coming years to identify further financial savings
without significant changes in what the Council does and how it does it. This
will have significant implications for directly provided services and those
commissioned by the Local Authority, impacting upon staff, partners and
service users. In order to deliver the Council’s ambitions of tackling poverty
and reducing inequalities, consideration may have to be given to stopping,
7

Page 80

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
delivering differently or charging for those services that are no longer
affordable and are a lesser priority than others. This will be achieved through
a continuing process of policy and service reviews across the Council’s
functions and ongoing consultation and engagement.
1.6.3

The financial challenge now facing the Council is to manage these pressures
alongside the significant impact brought by the current COVID-19 situation.
The needs of the communities served by Leeds City Council have already
increased and will continue to do so, and the various funding streams that
support local government will undoubtedly be affected by the longer term
economic scarring as a result of the virus.

1.6.4

This Financial Strategy provides a financial planning framework through to
2026/27 and forecasts the budget for the next five years. It should be
stressed that, under the Council’s constitution, decisions to set the annual
budget, the Council Tax base and the rate of Council Tax can only be taken
by Full Council and therefore these decisions will continue to be made as
part of the Council’s annual budget-setting process.

1.7

The Financial Challenge Programme

1.7.1

In 2020/21, the Council faced a significant projected gap in its revenue
budget for 2021/22 and so developed a Financial Challenge programme to
identify savings to ensure the budget remained robust, resilient and
sustainable. The same approach is being taken again to address the current
estimated gap for the three years 2022/23 to 2024/25 of £126.7m, of which
£65.4m relates to 2022/23. Savings proposals will be considered by the
Executive Board and, following member consideration and appropriate
consultation as required, approved savings will contribute towards the
authority being able to deliver a balanced budget in each of the years
covered by the Medium-Term Financial Strategy.
Service Reviews

1.7.2

Reviews are underway across all council services, some cross-cutting (such
as procurement and the next phase of reviewing our business administration
functions), whilst others are focused on specific services or activities. The
cross-council senior officer group established in 2020 to provide support and
ensure a co-ordinated, consistent approach across the Financial Challenge
programme, has been reconvened. Further support and challenge to identify
new proposals and consider options put forwards by officers is again being
provided by Scrutiny Board working groups.

1.8

Risks

1.8.1

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy makes assumptions in respect of the
level of resources that are receivable through Council Tax, Business Rates
and Government Grant. Any variations from these assumptions has
implications for the level of resources available to the Council. This Medium
Term Financial Strategy document does not provide specifically for the
ongoing impact of COVID-19 after 2021/22. If COVID-19 continues to have
8

Page 81

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
an impact upon the Council’s revenue budget, and no additional Government
support is forthcoming, then the impact will need to be managed within the
Council’s approved budget.
1.8.2

The outcome of the Government’s future spending plans covering the period
from April 1st 2022 won’t be known until the Autumn and the spending
intentions for Local Government could differ from assumptions contained in
this MTFS. Any differences will, in turn, impact upon the level of resources
available to the Council.

1.8.3

There remain significant uncertainties with regard to business rates reform,
the Government’s Fair Funding review, how the Government will support
local authorities in dealing with the ongoing financial impact of COVID-19,
any impacts of the UK leaving the EU and also the Government’s intentions
for the future funding of social care.

1.8.4

This Medium-Term Financial Strategy contains a number of inherent risks
which include estimating demand and demographic pressures within services
such as Adult Social Care and Children’s Services, determining key income
budgets that rely upon the number of users of a service, inflation being
higher than that assumed in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and that
costs associated with managing the Council’s debt are higher than budgeted
assumptions, for example as a consequence of higher than assumed interest
rates.

1.9

Principles of the MTFS

1.9.1

The Best Council Plan sets out the Council’s ambitions, outcomes and
priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. This Plan can only
be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer term
financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the
resource implications of the Council’s policies against the financial
constraints. This is a primary purpose of the -Medium-Term Financial
Strategy, which also provides the financial framework for the annual budget.

1.9.2

The Strategy contains provision for the Council’s Revenue Budget to become
both more financially resilient and sustainable, reducing the risks associated
with funding recurring revenue expenditure through a requirement to
generate capital receipts and making provision to unwind the utilisation of
reserves and capitalisation of staffing costs, reducing the extent to which the
Revenue Budget is supported by these mechanisms.

1.9.3

One of Leeds City Council’s values relates to “spending money wisely” and
ensuring that maximum value is extracted for every £1 spent. External Audit
provides independent assurance that value for money is being achieved and
the 2019/20 Annual Audit letter from Grant Thornton concluded that “ if
Covid-19 had not taken place, the Council’s financial position would have
continued to be sufficiently stable to manage the financial impact of small
unforeseen events as in previous years, however, the financial impact of
Covid-19 has been significant and highlights the inadequacy of the Council’s
9

Page 82

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
General Fund Reserves and balances to cushion the impact of major events,
requiring the Council to take a range of unplanned and short term measures
to manage the additional costs. This situation indicates weaknesses in the
level of General Fund Reserves to deal with significant unforeseen
circumstances resulting from the Council’s arrangements for financial
management. Except for this matter, the Council had proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.”
1.9.4

Whilst the Government’s spending plans for the forthcoming financial period
will not be known until the outcome of the Comprehensive Spending Review
is announced in the Chancellor’s Autumn speech, with full details being
contained in the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement in
December, this Medium-Term Financial Strategy assumes no growth in the
Settlement Funding Assessment (Business Rates baseline plus Revenue
Support Grant) for the period 2022/23 to 2026/27. It is assumed that 75%
Business Rates retention applies nationally from 2024/25 onwards.

1.9.5

Business Rates receivable over and above the Business Rates baseline
have been projected forward with account being taken of the ongoing impact
of COVID-19 upon the forecast level of business rates receivable. In respect
of Council Tax, a 1.99% per annum increase is forecast each year with the
Council Tax base growing by 1.36% in 2022/23 rising to 1.58% by 2025/26.

1.9.6

The purpose of the general reserve policy is to aid longer- term financial
stability and mitigate the potential impact of future events or developments
which may cause financial difficulty. General and useable reserves are a key
measure of the financial resilience of the Council, allowing the Authority to
address unexpected and unplanned pressures.

1.9.7

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy recognises the requirement to keep the
level of the Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are adequate
to meet the identified risks. Grant Thornton’s “Annual Audit Letter” for the
year ended 31st March 2020 noted “that the Council should consider the
adequacy of its reserves going forward and the appropriate level of balances
which should be linked to the approved MTFS and which should be reviewed
each year.” In accordance with this recommendation this Medium-Term
Financial Strategy provides for a £3m annual contribution to the General
Reserve from 2023/24 onwards. As a result, the balance on the General
Reserve is projected to be £43.7m by 2026/27.

1.9.8

In addition, as detailed in the 2020/21 revenue budget outturn report, there is
a balance of £24.3m in the Strategic Contingency reserve which has been
established to provide for any unforeseen events requiring additional
resources in 2021/22. The 2021/22 provides for a further net contribution of
£6.2m.

1.9.9

The 2021/22 budget also provides for the creation of three new reserves
which contribute towards ensuring that the Council’s financial position
becomes increasingly more sustainable and resilient. Specifically, a COVID
Reserve (£16.7m) which can be applied to any pressures arising which
10

Page 83

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
exceed the initial estimate of COVID impact in 2021/22; an Energy
Contingency Reserve to provide contingency funding should energy costs
exceed provision in the budget (£1.1m) and a Merrion House Reserve
(£1.1m) to resource annual lease payments for Merrion.
1.9.10 All of the above contribute towards the Council’s revenue budget becoming
more financially sustainable and resilient in the short term and under the
current level of uncertainty than it was before the pandemic.
1.9.11 The Strategy assumes a 2% pay award each year for employees and
inflation has been provided for where there is a contractual commitment but
anticipates that the majority of other spending budgets are cash limited. An
anticipated 3% rise in fees and charges, where they can be borne by the
market, has also been built into the Financial Strategy.
1.9.12 This Medium-Term Financial Strategy document does not provide specifically
for the ongoing impact of COVID-19 after 2021/22. It is assumed that there
will be not be a requirement for further lockdowns and therefore the Council
will not be required to incur specific additional expenditure relating to COVID19. In addition, it is assumed that income realisable from sales, fees and
charges returns to pre-COVID levels. These assumptions are consistent with
the Government’s current level of financial support which assumes that there
will be no ongoing financial impact of COVID after 2021/22.
1.9.13 Whilst funding for Devolution will in the first instance be devolved to WYCA,
the Council may need to think differently about the way in which services are
organised, funded and delivered as regional collaboration continues to be
strengthened over the coming years and this will influence the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy in future years.
1.9.14 The Council’s and City’s economic and fiscal position is clearly impacted
upon by the wider national economic context. The UK’s withdrawal from the
EU could potentially weaken the pound, increase inflation, reduce domestic
and foreign direct investment and impact upon borrowing costs. Conversely
the UK’s exit could have the opposite effect on the economy. What is also
unclear is to what extent the UK’s exit from the EU will impact upon the level
of resources available to the Council and the level of demand for the services
that it provides.
1.9.15 The approach to the determination of the Capital Programme considers the
affordability and the capital spending requirements over a 10 year period.
The greater integration of the Capital Programme within the Strategy better
reflects a more co-ordinated approach to capital investment requirements
whilst ensuring that affordability remains within the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy.
1.10

Summary / Conclusion

1.10.1 This Medium-Term Financial Strategy needs to be seen in the context of
significant inherent uncertainty for the Council in respect of future funding
and spending assumptions. Specifically, the implications of the Government’s
11

Page 84

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
future spending plans with regard to local government, and other areas of the
public sector from 2022/23 onwards, remain unknown and the level of
resources available to the Council will be heavily influenced by the
Government’s response to the significant increase in borrowing that has
been undertaken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
1.10.2 As a result of the pandemic the Council has incurred additional expenditure,
whilst at the same time seeing reductions in the level of resources available
through a combination of lower forecast income levels for both Business
Rates and Council Tax and a reduction in the level of income receivable from
sales, fees and charges. This MTFS does not provide specifically for the
ongoing impact of COVID-19 after 2021/22. If COVID-19 continues to have
an impact upon the Council’s revenue budget, and no additional Government
support is forthcoming, then the impact will need to be managed within the
Council’s approved budget.
1.10.3 In addition, and to compound the uncertainty over the period covered by the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy, the Government has re-stated its intention
to move to 75% business rates retention nationally, to reset business rates
baselines and to implement the outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding
review of the methodology, which determines current funding baselines and
is based on an assessment of relative needs and resources. However, the
timing of all these changes to the local government finance system is
uncertain. An assumption has been made for this Strategy that they will all be
introduced in 2024/25, a year after the business rates revaluation, which also
requires significant adjustments to be made to the system and which the
Government has confirmed will take place in 2023/24. Adding to this
uncertainty is the continued delay in the publication of the Government’s
Green Paper on adult social care, which will hopefully provide greater
certainty around future funding intentions.
1.10.4 The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy covers a five year period, an
appropriate timescale for financial planning. The principle underpinning the
Strategy, over the five years, is to ensure that the Leeds City Council budget
is robust, financially sustainable, resilient and affordable with less reliance
upon short term solutions to fund recurring expenditure.
1.10.5 In addition, this MTFS recognises the requirement to closely align the
determination of both revenue and capital budgets.
1.10.6 In the determination of this Medium-Term Financial Strategy a number of
assumptions have therefore had to be made in respect of the level of
resources that are available to the Council to fund the services that it
provides and these are detailed within the body of this Strategy. However, it
is acknowledged that the assumptions contained in this Strategy are under
constant review to reflect any changes in circumstances or if further
information emerges in respect of known risks.
1.10.7 In response to the estimated budget gap of £146.5m over the life of the
Strategy, of which £65.4m relates to 2022/23, the Council will again embark
12

Page 85

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
on a number of service reviews through its ongoing Financial Challenge
programme. These reviews comprise several that are cross-council and
others that relate to individual services and they will contribute towards
closing the estimated budget gap for 2022/23 but are also focussing on the
estimated positions in 2023/24 and 2024/25. The outcomes of these reviews
to date have been incorporated into a number of budget savings proposals
which can be found in a separate report elsewhere on this Executive Board
agenda.
1.10.8 The outcome of any required consultation on these service review proposals
will be reported back to Executive Board. The value of proposals to date are
insufficient to bridge the estimated budget gap for 2022/23. Consequently,
further budget savings proposals will need to be identified and brought before
this Board.
1.10.9 The Council’s Proposed Budget will be received at Executive Board in
December 2021 prior to a period of consultation, before final proposals are
considered for approval in February 2022. The Council is required to present
a balanced budget to Full Council for approval in advance of the financial
year.

13

Page 86

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Part 2: Introduction and Background to Leeds City Council
2.1

Leeds City Council and WYCA Mayoral changes

2.1.1

Leeds City Council was established in 1974, with the first elections being
held in advance in 1973. Under the Local Government Act 1972, the area of
the County Borough of Leeds was combined with those of the Municipal
Borough of Morley, the Municipal Borough of Pudsey, Aireborough Urban
District, Horsforth Urban District, Otley Urban District, Garforth Urban District,
Rothwell Urban District and parts of Tadcaster Rural District, Wetherby Rural
District and Wharfedale Rural District from the West Riding. The new Leeds
district was one of five metropolitan districts in West Yorkshire and was
granted a borough and city status to become the City of Leeds.

2.1.2

Leeds City Council is responsible for providing all statutory local authority
services in Leeds, except for those it provides in conjunction with other West
Yorkshire Authorities, together with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority
(which saw an election of Metro Mayor in May 2021, bringing access to
significant levels of additional funding for the region). This includes
education, housing, planning, transport and highways, social services,
libraries, leisure and recreation, waste collection, waste disposal,
environmental health and revenue collection.

2.2

Leeds City

2.2.1

Leeds is a growing city with a population estimated at 799,000 (ONS MidYear Estimate 2020), an increase of about 48,000 since the 2011 Census.
Accompanying this growth, the population has continued to become more
diverse in terms of age, countries of origin and ethnicity. Leeds has a large,
urban core but, unlike many other cities, our administrative boundary
includes a significant rural area, with villages and market towns.

2.2.2

During the two decades prior to the last global financial crisis, the city’s
economy experienced significant growth, driven in large part by financial and
business services. Leeds had established itself as a vibrant, diverse and
dynamic city, with a strong knowledge-based economy. More recently, Leeds
has returned to economic growth faster than many of its neighbours, and,
prior to COVID-19, workplace-based employment in the city was estimated to
have recovered beyond pre-recession levels.

2.2.3

However, even before the pandemic, not everyone was benefitting from this
economic success. Poverty and deprivation remain significant challenges.
Despite very strong performance in job creation in recent years, low pay is an
increasing problem, with people caught in a loop of low pay, low skills and
limited career progression. These challenges not only limit the opportunities
for individuals, they hold back the economy, affect productivity, cause skills’
shortages, and create additional costs for businesses and the public sector.
14

Page 87

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Evidence also suggests that those in low pay / low skill occupations have
been amongst those most affected by the economic consequences of
COVID-19.
2.3

Influences

2.3.1

COVID-19 has also severely impacted the Council’s operating environment
both in terms of the demand for services and our financial framework.
Recognising our response to the crisis is likely to be complex and long
lasting, maintaining clarity of focus will be crucial. We will continue to be
guided by our Best City ambition for a strong economy that is
compassionate, with the overriding priority of tackling poverty and
inequalities, and our Best Council ambition to be an efficient, enterprising
and healthy organisation. These ambitions and priorities are set out in the
Best Council Plan which provides the strategic context and direction against
with the authority’s resources are utilised, and thus the basis for this MediumTerm Financial Strategy.

2.3.2

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy covers a five-year period to ensure that
the resources available to Leeds City Council are forecast over this period,
identifying the influences which impact on the availability and use of these
resources. These influences include international, national, regional and
more local population and demographic effects. Further detail is provided at
Section 3.

2.3.3

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy brings together the key issues affecting
the Revenue Budget, the Housing Revenue Account, Dedicated Schools
Grant and the Capital Programme. A key part of the Strategy is to highlight
the budget issues that need to be addressed by the Council over the coming
financial years, by forecasting the level of resources from all sources and
budget pressures relating to both Capital and Revenue Budgets. The
Strategy highlights the measures being taken by the Council to reach its aim
of being financially robust, sustainable and resilient for the future.

15

Page 88

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Part 3 - The Influences, Strategies, Best Council Plan and
Priorities affecting the Medium-Term Financial Strategy
3.1

International, national and regional influences

3.1.1

The funding available to local authorities, and the way this is used, can be
affected by factors at a regional, national and international level. Our
Medium-Term Financial Strategy has been produced at a time when Leeds is
facing significant change and challenges, some of which come as a result of
developments far beyond the city’s borders.

3.2

COVID-19 and a new operating context

3.2.1

COVID-19 has fundamentally affected the way in which the Council works.
Elements of this change which relate directly to crisis response will, in time,
revert largely back to normal. However, an event of this magnitude
undoubtedly means the Council will need to consider closely how its
business and services should operate in the future. Measures introduced
nationally to combat the virus have had direct and indirect negative impacts
on council finances which will need to be managed over future years. There
remains potential longstanding impact on council income if behaviour,
working practices and spending patterns in the city continue to change and
this will need to be monitored and managed moving forward.

3.2.2

However, the longer term impact remains unclear. The economy is
recovering significantly following the relaxation of lockdown restrictions and
the country’s labour market has proved more resilient than expected, with
employment rates also recovering.4 Reflecting this recovery, this Medium
Term Financial Strategy document does not provide specifically for the
ongoing impact of COVID-19 after 2021/22.

3.3

National policy direction and international relationships
EU Exit

3.3.1

On January 31st 2020 the UK left the EU. While Leeds is prepared to take
advantage of the opportunities the EU exit presents, it is important to
recognise the potential impact of the loss of European Structural and
Investment Funds (ESIF). As a member of the European Union, the UK
received structural funding worth about £2.1 billion per year, used for
boosting aspects of economic development, including support for
businesses, employment and agriculture. To replace it, the Government has
announced the establishment of the Shared Prosperity Fund, to “reduce
inequalities between communities”5, which is expected to be launched in

4

The economic consequences of Covid-19, Local Government Information Unit, September 2021
Conservative Party, Forward, Together: Our Plan for a Stronger Britain and a Prosperous Future, 18
May 2017
5

16

Page 89

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
April 2022. £220 million has been allocated to pilot schemes for the new fund
in 2021/22, with Government indicating that funding will ramp up to £1.5
billion a year. There remains uncertainty about the detailed operation of the
scheme and how funds will be allocated. Clarity on these issues is expected
to be announced at the 2021 Comprehensive Spending Review.
National Policy and Economy
3.3.2

Analysis of data provided by the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR)
shows that the economy is recovering rapidly following the relaxation of
lockdown restrictions and the UK’s labour market has proved more resilient
than was initially expected. There was an unprecedented drop in GDP
between Q4 2019 and Q2 2020 of 21.8 per cent, before a strong recovery in
Q3 2020 as lockdown restrictions were eased. However, it should be noted
that by the end of Q2 2021 UK GDP was still 4.4 per cent below its Q4 2019
peak.

3.3.3

The recovery has been even across all industrial sectors and especially
strong in services where output increased by 5.7 per cent in Q2 2021 (April
to June). Employment has begun to recover alongside the recovery in
economic activity. In Q2 2021 the estimated employment rate (the
percentage of working-age people in work) was 75.1 per cent – up by 0.3
percentage points over the quarter but still down by 0.7 percentage points
over the year and by 1.5 percentage points since the start of the pandemic.

3.3.4

The falling costs of Covid-related spending and improved tax receipts
nationally point to a rapid fall in Public Sector Net Borrowing (PSNB), as had
been forecast in March by the OBR. Nonetheless, high levels of spending will
continue for the immediate future. Indeed, the OBR’s July 2021 Fiscal Risks
report6 highlights Covid-related ‘legacy risks’ in the medium term, which are
particularly acute in health, education, and transport and notes that no
provision has been made for virus-related spending in 2022/23 and beyond.
Levelling Up

3.3.5

6
7

One of Government’s flagship policies, levelling up is intended to “level up
opportunities across all parts of the United Kingdom, supporting jobs,
businesses and economic growth and addressing the impact of the pandemic
on public services.”7 A Levelling Up Fund was announced at the 2020
Spending Review and has now been established, initially making £4.8bn
available for UK local infrastructure through a competitive bidding process,
with this funding to be delivered through local authorities. Government
intends to publish a White Paper on its ‘levelling up’ strategy later in the year
and to provide further detail on how the Fund will operate from 2022-23
onwards. In the view of the Local Government Association, “The White Paper
presents an opportunity to reset the relationship between central and local

Fiscal Risks Report – July 2021, Office for Budget Responsibility, 6th July 2021
Prime Minister’s Office, Queen's Speech 2021, 11 May 2021

17

Page 90

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
government and put councils at the heart of delivering the Government’s
ambitious programme to improve opportunities in all parts of the country.”8
NHS integration
3.3.6

The Health & Care Bill was introduced into Parliament on the 6th July 2021.
The Bill will ensure each part of England has an Integrated Care Board and
an Integrated Care Partnership responsible for bringing together local NHS
and local government, such as social care, mental health services and public
health advice, to deliver joined up care for its local population. Details around
future funding will become clearer later in the financial year and updates
provided accordingly.
2021 Comprehensive Spending Review

3.3.7

As a part of the Comprehensive Spending Review process the Government
asks for representations to inform policy development and these
representations should contain policy suggestions which should explain the
desired outcome, policy rationale, costs, benefits and deliverability of
proposals. Once again, we expect there to be focus on local government
services, with finding a sustainable model for social care perhaps expected
to draw the most attention.

3.3.8

The upcoming 2021 Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR), which will
report in the Autumn on the Government’s spending plans for this parliament,
is hoped to be the first multi-year departmental funding settlement in three
years, providing much needed certainty after Brexit and Covid-19 led to
single-year departmental allocations. The March 2021 Budget indicated
between £14bn and £17bn of departmental reductions when compared with
pre-Covid-19 intentions from 2022-23 onwards, with a particularly severe
impact on ‘unprotected’ departments including Local Government. However,
in the view of the Institute of Fiscal Studies and other commentators these
planned reductions could be put under pressure: “The extent, speed and
nature of the UK’s economic recovery from the pandemic will have important
ramifications for the public finances – and in turn for the Spending Review
due to be held this autumn. The Chancellor is facing myriad demands for
additional spending, not least on the public services put under huge pressure
by the pandemic.”9

3.4

West Yorkshire Devolution

3.4.1

Following the agreement of a devolution deal between the Government and
West Yorkshire Leaders in spring 2020, Tracy Brabin became West
Yorkshire’s first directly elected metro mayor in May 2021. The new mayor
and combined authority hold devolved powers across adult education, skills
and transport, and have access to a range of new funding streams from
government including the Transforming Cities Fund, the Brownfield

8

The Levelling Up agenda, House of Commons, LGA Briefing, 15 June 2021
What does the changing economic outlook mean for the Spending Review, Institute for Fiscal
Studies, July 2021
9

18

Page 91

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Regeneration Fund and the West Yorkshire Heritage Fund which will support
delivery of a new British Library North facility in Leeds. The devolution deal
also provides £38m of gainshare funding per year for the next 30 years to be
spent flexibly in line with local priorities.
3.4.2

Most of the new funding unlocked as a result of devolution will be directed to
WYCA in the first instance, with Leaders playing a central role as voting
members of the combined authority in deciding how much of it should be
allocated. The presence of a regional body with significantly more funding
than previously will naturally impact on the council, and in slightly different
ways depending on the circumstances. In many cases the council and
combined authority will need to work in partnership as before to deliver
against shared regional priorities. However, the Combined Authority will also
be one of the Council’s funders in a way it hasn’t been previously – for
example in adult education and skills as a result of powers devolved from the
Department for Education and the Education and Skills Funding Agency
(ESFA).

3.4.3

This is the first West Yorkshire devolution deal and, pending the
Government’s Devolution / Levelling Up White Paper, there may be
opportunities to expand the scope of devolved powers and funding in future
deals. The Council may also want to consider further opportunities to bring
services more closely together across West Yorkshire when they are aligned
to priorities being agreed and pursued across that geography. There are
likely to be opportunities to both further strengthen collaboration and to
explore re-organising services to maximise use of the limited resources for all
partners involved.

3.5

About Leeds: Socio-economic context
Population

3.5.1

The city’s population has continued to become more diverse since the 2011
Census, in terms of age, countries of origin and ethnicity. International
immigration has been an important factor behind this change, EU countries
such as Romania, Poland, Italy and Spain make up a significant proportion of
new arrivals, as do countries from better-established migration routes from
south Asia and parts of Africa. It is still uncertain what the impact of Brexit will
be on patterns of international migration.

3.5.2

Drawing on GP records for insights in to how our city is increasingly diverse,
the BAME population represents almost a third of all those registered in
2020, whilst accounting for 19% of the city’s population in the 2011 Census.
The most notable difference is in the Other White ethnic group, which in the
2011 Census had a population of 23,000, but in the 2020 GP register stands
at 78,000, pointing to the growth in economic immigration primarily from the
EU over the last decade.

3.5.3

The Leeds birth rate increased rapidly from the early 2000s and plateaued at
around 10,000 per annum for eight years until 2016. However, the number of
19

Page 92

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
births have now fallen consecutively for four years and was 12% lower than
2016 in 2020. Latest intelligence shows that the number of births will be
lower still in 2021 (circa 8,400). However, the child population is still growing
at a faster rate than the population of Leeds as a whole, but the growth is
now concentrated in Secondary school-age groups.
3.5.4

Data from the city’s schools show major change over the last few years. The
proportion of pupils that are BAME has continued to grow to 36% in 2021.
And while, other than White British, the largest broad ethnic groups are
Asian, Black, Mixed and White Other; proportional growth has been highest
in White Other, mirroring the wider trends driven by economic migration.
Between 2010 and 2020, growth has been particularly high within White
Eastern European and Gypsy Roma ethnicities. The number of children and
young people with English as an additional language (EAL) has increased
from 13% in 2010 to 20% in 2021. After English, the main languages spoken
are Urdu, followed by Romanian and Polish. Altogether nearly 200 languages
are spoken by children studying in Leeds schools. The proportion of school
pupils who are eligible for, and claim, Free School Meals has significantly
increased since 2018, from 16% to 25% in 2021. Meanwhile the number of
pupils who have an Education Health and Care Plan has more than tripled
from 824 in 2016 to 3,013 in 2021.

3.5.5

All this shows that while rapidly growing, our teenage population are also
becoming more diverse, and the indicators suggest growing more quickly in
our more deprived communities. With a backdrop of BREXIT, the COVID-19
pandemic, and pressure on resources, this means that our teenage
population in particular potentially face significantly growing challenges into
the medium-term.

3.5.6

The overriding backdrop to these localised pressures is the wider trend of the
city’s ageing population. As the baby-boomer generation grows older there
will be a range of implications for service provision. The 65+ age group is
projected to grow by over 15,000 (+13%) between 2016 and 2026. The
distribution of the city’s older population should also be considered. There
are currently higher numbers of older people living in the city’s outer areas,
however this could change as the recent shifts in the composition and spatial
concentration of the population work through, resulting in a far more
ethnically diverse older population, with a greater concentration in the city’s
inner areas.
Economy

3.5.7

Leeds is well established as the main driver of economic growth for the cityregion, and has key strengths in financial and business services, advanced
manufacturing, health and creative and digital industries, with a strong
knowledge-rich employment base. These strengths, linked to the city’s
universities and teaching hospitals, are major innovation assets for Leeds.
Leeds has also performed well in terms of business start-ups in recent years,
with strong growth in digital and medical technologies, telecoms and creative
industries.
20

Page 93

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
3.5.8

The pandemic has brought unprecedented changes, accelerating trends
around digital transformation, remote working, and the shift from the high
street to on-line retail. The extent to which these changes are sustained and
develop remain uncertain. The initial impacts of COVID-19 restrictions were
immediate and significant, with home-working, furlough and the changes in
consumer patterns resulting in a major drop-off in economic activity in the city
centre. Leeds was particularly affected in comparison with our neighbouring
economic centres across the city-region, though in-line with other Core
Cities. However, although still early days, economic activity is increasing
significantly as restrictions ease, with data suggesting that Leeds’ bounceback is faster than neighbouring localities.

3.5.9

The relative diversity of the Leeds economy has been a key asset in the
city’s resilience to economic shocks, with Leeds being able to retain its
manufacturing strength as well as consolidate its position as a major centre
for finance and business services. It is likely that this diversity will be a key
factor as we recover from the pandemic.

3.5.10 However, pre-COVID-19 there were some concerns around slowing growth
and low productivity, with a key source of many of new employment being
relatively low-skilled, low-paid work in consumer services. Leeds is not alone
in these trends, although Leeds does relatively well in terms of productivity
per worker (GVA per head), perhaps a reflection of our significant
knowledge-based economy, consistently being the strongest performing core
city after Bristol. Our economic output growth has only been mid-table in
relation to Core Cities in recent years, perhaps a hangover from the ‘great
recession’, since when key sectors - particularly in financial and business
services - have faced prolonged challenges.
Labour Market
3.5.11 Latest ONS data from the 2020 Annual Population Survey suggest that
430,000 people work in Leeds, of whom around three quarters are employed
in the private sector, making Leeds one of the top cities nationally with a
working population employed in the private sector. Indeed, Leeds has
witnessed very strong private sector growth over the last decade, which in
turn has maintained the city’s employment rate, with over 80% of the working
age population in employment, well above regional and core city averages
(ONS, 2020). This strong employment performance is mirrored in the city’s
pre-Covid-19 unemployment rate which was consistently below regional and
national rates.
3.5.12 Unemployment-related claimant counts show claimants in Leeds doubled
from 18,000 to 36,000 between March 2020 and April 2021, taking the
claimant rate from 3% to over 7%. Although the claimant rate is only slightly
higher than regional and national rates and lower than most Core Cities,
Leeds has experienced higher growth compared to regional and most core
city counterparts since COVID-19, perhaps reflecting the harder hit on larger,
city economies. However, as restrictions ease, unemployment has fallen
back slightly, now standing at 32,590 (6.3%) as of June 2021.
21

Page 94

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
3.5.13 The growth in the claimant count, i.e. those in receipt of unemploymentrelated benefits, appears to be evenly spread by age and gender. This
contrasts with other intelligence, which suggests younger people and women
in the labour market have been hardest hit by the lockdown. This might be
explained by the implementation of the furlough scheme which has seen a
steady decline in uptake as the economy recovers. The scheme will be
phased out entirely by the end of September 2021.
3.5.14 Leeds has also been perhaps insulated from the worst impacts of lockdown
on the labour market, as a relatively high proportion of the city’s workforce
have been able to work from home. Leeds has had a higher incidence of
homeworking and low furlough than many other towns and cities – although
this may be a potential issue if homeworking becomes pre-dominant going
forward.
Deprivation
3.5.15 Leeds’ diversity is reflected across all its communities and neighbourhoods,
both in the physical identity of our neighbourhoods and in the variety of
cultures and ethnic identities of our residents. However, it is the divergence
in economic characteristics that is most prominent, and perhaps more so
than most other Core Cities.
3.5.16 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD10) 2019 confirms this divergence, with
almost a quarter of Leeds’ Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs – areas
with populations of around 1,500 people) mainly in the inner east and inner
south of the city, falling within the most deprived 10% nationally; but also
showing significant areas of the city which are relatively affluent.
3.5.17 COVID-19 has compounded these deep-rooted inequalities, with young
people and low earners being primarily affected to date as they are most
prevalent in the hardest hit sectors. Many families are struggling with
uncertainty and the potential of mounting debt. The longer-term economic
fallout is likely to have an adverse impact on already significant health
inequalities, with those individuals and communities at most disadvantage hit
hardest.
3.5.18 Please visit the Leeds Observatory online here for more data about the
Leeds population and Leeds economy, including for further information and
analysis on the IMD 2019.
3.6

Leeds City Council’s strategic priorities

3.6.1

The socio-economic context and the influences explained above inform our
strategic ambitions and priorities for the city and for Leeds City Council.
These are set out in our current corporate strategy, the ‘Best Council Plan’
2020 to 2025 (available here with the Plan on a Page included at Annexe A)

10

The IMD 2019 measures relative deprivation in England across 32,844 neighbourhoods or Lower Super Output Areas
(LSOAs), based on 39 indicators across seven domains. It ranks each neighbourhood from most deprived to least deprived.

22

Page 95

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
which provides the basis for how and where we allocate our resources and
thus for this Medium-Term Financial Strategy.
3.6.2

The Best Council Plan will transition to a partner-developed ‘city plan’ over
the next few months, with engagement with partners and other stakeholders
taking place over the autumn and winter of 2021/22. The intention is that a
revised plan will then be considered by Full Council in February 2022.

3.7

Best City

3.7.1

The Best Council Plan describes our ambition for Leeds to be the best city in
the UK: compassionate and caring with a strong economy; which tackles
poverty and reduces inequalities; working towards being a net zero carbon
city by 2030. We want Leeds to be a city that is distinctive, sustainable,
ambitious, fun and creative for all. But most of all, in light of the impacts of
the Coronavirus pandemic, we want Leeds to be a safe city.

3.7.2

Building on a range of key council and partnership strategies in place and in
development, the Best Council Plan sets out a number of interconnected
priority areas of work. These flow in particular from our two long-standing
main strategies – Inclusive Growth and Health and Wellbeing – as well as a
third, new for 2020, strategic key pillar for the organisation: the Climate
Emergency. This addition recognises the scale of the challenge facing the
city – and indeed the world – to make the changes needed to combat climate
change effectively.

3.7.3

Taken together, a focus on eight ‘Best City’ priorities will deliver improved
outcomes for everyone in Leeds:
• Inclusive growth – supporting the city’s economic recovery from COVID19, tackling poverty and helping everyone benefit from the economy to
their full potential
• Health and wellbeing – ensuring support for the health and social care
sector to respond to and recover from COVID-19, reducing health
inequalities and supporting active lifestyles
• Sustainable infrastructure – tackling climate change risks, improving air
quality and improving the city's transport and digital infrastructure
• Child-friendly city - making Leeds the best city for children and young
people to grow up in
• Age-friendly Leeds - making Leeds the best city to grow old in
• Culture - improving the quality of lives and enhancing the image of Leeds
through cultural and creative activities
• Housing - providing homes of the right quality, type and affordability in the
right places and minimising homelessness
23

Page 96

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
• Safe, strong communities - keeping people safe from harm and
prioritising community respect and resilience.
3.7.4

Our emphasis on these priorities is crucial in establishing a ‘new normal’ for
life in Leeds after the COVID-19 pandemic. Our longstanding commitment to
them is now more important than ever as we continue to focus our support
on those in most need, while enabling everyone to reach their full potential.

3.8

Best Council

3.8.1

The Best Council Plan 2020 to 2025 also maintains our long-established
‘Best Council’ strategic focus on being an efficient, enterprising and healthy
organisation, all of which are particularly relevant in the context of COVID-19.
This reflects our wider positive outlook for the role of local government in
working with our communities to shape and strengthen the prospects of the
city and its residents.

3.8.2

Despite growing demand and an unprecedented period of budget reductions
for local government, the Council has continued to deliver high quality,
improved public services and value for money for the Leeds public. We use
our resources, influence and convening capacity to drive inclusive economic
growth and promote health and wellbeing, tackling deprivation and other
deep-rooted challenges to improve the quality of life for our residents.

3.8.3

As we understand the longer-term implications of COVID-19 on the city and
the Council, the Best Council framework will provide the basis for the
decisions we make in the coming months and years on the services we
provide and how best to allocate our resources.

3.8.4

Underpinning everything we do and how we work to achieve our ambitions
are our Values:
• Being open, honest and trusted
• Treating people fairly
• Spending money wisely
• Working as a team for Leeds
• Working with all communities

3.8.5

Our Best Council framework draws on our core strengths:
• Strong leadership of place
• Effective partnership working and commissioning
• Maintaining a clear focus on delivering high quality public services
• Using need-led, asset-based approaches based on early intervention and
prevention
• Ongoing engagement with communities and individuals
• Making the best use of our resources
24

Page 97

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
3.8.6

These resources include:
• Our budgets: our Financial Strategy (a one-page summary is available
here and included at Annexe B) is helping us become more financially
sustainable and resilient, safeguarding public funds while achieving value
for money. This will ensure we are well placed to respond to the
significant funding uncertainties and pressures we face – exacerbated to
an unprecedented level as a direct result of coronavirus – and to target our
money to where it can make the most difference
• Our people: our People Strategy (available online here and included at
Annexe C) sets out our ambition to be the best place to work, through
exceptional employee experience, talented managers and leaders, and a
culture underpinned by fairness, diversity and collaboration. In line with
our overall ambition to keep the city safe, the Strategy also includes a
focus on keeping our staff safe whilst building in flexibility across the
workforce in response to the pandemic
• Our digital capabilities play a central role in maximising the use of tools
and technology to improve and transform the way the council works,
provides services and engages with citizens.
• Our land and buildings: our Estate Management Strategy explains our
vision and approach to managing the Council’s land and buildings across
the city, helping us deliver a modern, efficient, sustainable estate and
workplaces that remain fit for purpose as the world adapts to new ways –
and places – of working.
• Our evidence and insights, drawn from listening to our citizens and
effective use of data, help us identify and understand the challenges and
opportunities we face, assess progress in delivering our Best City and
Best Council ambitions and drive improvement.
• Our communications enable us to clearly explain the challenges and
opportunities to our citizens, partners and other key stakeholders, and to
engage them in being a part of the solutions, further strengthening these
vital relationships and collaborative working.

25

Page 98

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Part 4: The Five Year Financial Plan
4.1

Introduction

4.1.1

The Five Year Plan needs seen in the context of the factors that have
influenced and been taken account of in the development of this MediumTerm Financial Strategy and which are detailed in both Parts 1 and 3 of this
document.

4.1.2

This Five Year Financial Plan takes account of the range of socio-economic
conditions and the policy drivers that shape our Medium-Term Financial
Strategy. These include taking account of international, national and regional
influences which include the UK exiting the European Union, implementation
of devolution across West Yorkshire, the demography of the city, the national
and local economy, the local labour market and impact of deprivation across
the city. In addition, the Five Year Financial Plan also incorporates the
ambitions and priorities of the Council as set out in its Best City and Best
Council strategies. The socio-economic conditions and the policy drivers that
shape our Medium-Term Financial Strategy have clearly been affected by
COVID-19 which continues to have a major impact at all levels, international,
national and local. It has also severely impacted upon the Council’s operating
environment both in terms of the demand for services and the level of
resources available to the Council that support the delivery of services
provided to the citizens of Leeds.

4.1.3

The Five Year Financial Plan has also been shaped by the financial
challenges it has had to overcome in the past, whereby the Council’s core
funding from Government has reduced by £263m or nearly 60% since 2010,
and the financial challenge that is detailed in this document.

4.1.4

Part 4 of this Medium-Term Financial Strategy provides the information
regarding the resources available to the Council, including the forecasts and
assumptions underpinning these resources and it also details the pressures
that the Council faces during the period covered by this strategy.

4.2

Financial Resources
Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) and Changes in Local Funding

4.2.1

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) is the aggregate of core general
government grant (Revenue Support Grant), the funding a local authority is
expected to retain from locally collected business rates, known as the
business rates baseline, and a tariff paid from locally retained business rates
to Government. It is provisionally announced as part of the annual provisional
Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS) usually in
November/December and confirmed in the Final LGFS in February.

4.2.2

The first SFA was set in 2013/14 when the Business Rates Retention
Scheme was introduced and formed the starting point for setting the
26

Page 99

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Revenue Support Grant. This first SFA was allocated through a funding
formula using estimates of the relative local needs and resources of all local
authorities across England, such as the ability to raise Council Tax, and the
relative demand for local services.
4.2.3

The business rates baseline and the tariff were also first set in 2013/14
based on the level of business rates collectable in an area and both are
increased annually by CPI in line with the Small Business Rates Multiplier.
The difference between total SFA and the sum of the business rates baseline
and the tariff (known as baseline funding) is the amount the Council receives
as Revenue Support Grant. Between 2013/14 and 2019/20 SFA was
reduced every year and therefore, as the business rates baseline and tariff
are fixed in real terms, this has meant that all these reductions in SFA have
disproportionately reduced Revenue Support Grant. In 2020/21 both RSG
and the business rates baseline increased by CPI (1.7%), however in
2021/22 only RSG was increased by CPI (0.6%), with the business rates
baseline frozen because the Small Business Rates Multiplier was frozen to
assist businesses during the COVID-19 crisis. Local authorities were
compensated for any losses in income caused by the freezing of the
business rates baseline separately by a specific grant.

4.2.4

Table 4.1 shows SFA and the other sources of funding included in the
Council’s Net Revenue Budget. These are Council Tax income and Business
Rates growth income and are discussed in further detail in paragraph 4.3.

4.2.5

Additionally, the Council receives specific grants from Government. These
can be announced alongside the LGFS, although they do not form part of the
SFA. Changes in the levels of specific grants receivable are also discussed
in more detail at paragraph 4.3.

4.2.6

Table 4.1 Estimated Level of Financial Resources
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

Final

Indicative

Indicative

Indicative

Indicative

Indicative

Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates Baseline
Settlement Funding Assessment

£m
28.4
158.4
186.8

£m
24.6
162.2
186.8

£m
21.3
165.5
186.8

£m
0.0
186.8
186.8

£m
0.0
186.8
186.8

£m
0.0
186.8
186.8

Net Cumulative Business Rates Growth
Business Rates Surplus/(Deficit)

(4.6)
(91.9)

(2.3)
(27.8)

1.1
(12.2)

7.7
0.0

14.7
0.0

19.0
0.0

Council Tax: Core
Council Tax: Adult Social Care Precept
Council Tax Surplus/(Deficit)
Net Revenue Budget

310.7
38.4
(4.2)
435.3

327.4
38.4
(3.8)
518.7

341.3
38.4
(4.5)
550.8

355.5
38.4
0.0
588.4

369.7
38.4
0.0
609.6

384.5
38.4
0.0
628.7

83.4

32.1

37.6

21.2

19.0

Change in Resources

4.2.7

The Council’s Net Revenue Budget, as shown in Table 4.1, is the net funding
requirement to be met by general government grant and from local funding Business Rates and Council Tax income. It is calculated as the amount by
27

Page 100

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
which the Council’s gross expenditure exceeds its income from sales, fees
and charges, specific grants and contributions and from all other income
sources for that particular year. This gap between gross income and gross
expenditure is then partly met by SFA and Business Rates Growth. After
taking account of any Collection Fund surplus or deficit brought forward from
the previous year, any remaining gap is funded from Council Tax income –
the Authority’s ‘Council Tax Requirement’. Each of these elements is
discussed further in paragraph 4.3.
4.2.8

Table 4.1 shows that the Net Revenue Budget for the Council is forecast to
increase over the life of the Strategy, from £435.3m in 2021/22 to an
estimated £628.7m in 2026/27. However, this overall increase includes a
significant decline in the Net Revenue Budget in 2021/22 that happened as a
consequence of the impact of the COVID19 pandemic on local funding –
Council Tax and Business Rates income. As discussed in paragraph 4.3
below, it is assumed that local funding will not return to pre-COVID levels
until 2023/24.

4.2.9

Government can award additional grant funding to local authorities using
ministerial discretion under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003.
This mechanism has been used in 2021/22 to mitigate the impact of COVID19 on local funding: £28.1m of additional grant funding has been received in
regard to business rates, primarily compensating the Council for the cost of
Government mandated reliefs given to retail and leisure businesses and
children’s nursery schools. The Council will carry forward these grants in
reserves to apply in 2022/23, thereby increasing gross income in that year
which correspondingly reduces the Net Revenue Budget. This will offset the
impact of the £27.8m deficit for business rates shown in Table 4.1 caused in
the main by the cost of these additional reliefs.

4.3

Budget Assumptions

4.3.1

The Government’s previous four-year funding settlement period ended in
2019/20 and was replaced by single-year settlements in 2020/21 and
2021/22. For 2022/23 and beyond, there is little clarity about the future of
local government funding. Government has indicated that Spending Review
2021, expected in the Autumn, will allocate funding to local government for
the three year period 2022/23 - 2024/25. There will be a Revaluation of all
non-domestic properties for the purposes of business rates implemented in
2023/24. However, there are indications that both the Fair Funding Review
and the introduction of 75% Business Rates Retention cannot now be
implemented in 2023/24 and for this reason this Strategy assumes the
reforms will be delayed until 2024/25.

4.3.2

Further to this, it was assumed previously that there would be a reset of the
Business Rates Retention Scheme in 2023/24, whereby accumulated growth
in business rates income since 2013/14 would be redistributed between
authorities according to their relative needs. However, as a consequence of
the Coronavirus crisis it is becoming increasingly apparent that there will be a
significant reduction in this accumulated growth, although the extent of this
28

Page 101

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
reduction is difficult to quantify. Therefore, no redistribution has been
assumed in this Strategy. It is further assumed that any reset will take place
alongside the implementation of the Fair Funding Review and the
introduction of 75% Business Rates Retention in 2024/25.
4.3.3

No separate figures for Revenue Support Grant (RSG) are shown in Table
4.1 after 2023/24 as it is anticipated that 75% Business Rates Retention will
be introduced from 2024/25. The value of the grant foregone will be taken
into account in setting the Council’s new tariff (the amount of business rates
income the Council is expected to return to Government), decreasing it to the
level of SFA (the overall level of Government funding), which remains
unchanged. Although this Strategy assumes that SFA will remain unchanged
for the forecast period, this will become clearer at the Autumn
Comprehensive Spending Review and in the local government finance
settlement in December 2021.

4.3.4

Changes in local funding, i.e. Business Rates Retention and Council Tax, are
discussed in paragraphs 4.3.5 to 4.3.22.
Business Rates Retention

4.3.5

At the end of 2020/21 the North and West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool, of
which Leeds City Council was a member, came to an end. This followed a
risk assessment of the likelihood of member authorities requiring safety net
payments from the Pool that otherwise would have been paid by central
Government. However, the five West Yorkshire authorities, including Leeds,
plus Harrogate and York, assessed to be at relatively lower risk of requiring
safety net payments, reformed the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool.
Under 50% retention pooling arrangements, the Pool retains levy payments
on growth which member authorities would, outside the Pool, have paid to
Government. These pooled funds are spent locally by a Joint Committee
made up of representatives of the member local authorities. The Council is
currently projected to contribute levy payments to the Pool of £0.7m in
2022/23 and £1.0m in 2023/24 based on current projections of income from
the Business Rates Retention Scheme. It is expected that, with the assumed
introduction of 75% Business Rates Retention in 2024/25, the system of levy
payments on growth will be abolished in line with the 2019/20 75% pilot and
therefore no levy payments are assumed from that year onwards.

4.3.6

Previously the Council expected that 75% Business Rates Retention would
be introduced across England in 2023/24, in line with the delayed 2023
Revaluation. However, the joint working groups between the Local
Government Association and MHCLG on the reforms that were to be
implemented to the Business Rates Retention Scheme alongside 75%
retention, have not met since the end of 2019 due to the pandemic. There
remains significant further work before these reforms can be introduced and
therefore this Medium-Term Financial Strategy has revised the expectation of
when 75% retention will be introduced to 2024/25 given the lack of any other
indication from the Government. In the interim the Strategy assumes that the
Council will continue with 50% Business Rates Retention until 2023/24. In
29

Page 102

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
addition, the COVID-19 crisis has placed considerable strain on the Business
Rates system and on the income that local authorities retain through the
Business Rates Retention Scheme. Areas of particularly high risk for the
Council reflected in this Strategy include increases in provisions for noncollection (bad debts), increased levels of Empty Rate Relief, the continuing
shock to businesses resulting in a reduction in the tax base in the city and
likely reduced growth in Gross Rates payable in future years.
4.3.7

The assumptions used to forecast business rates income in the Strategy are
shown in Table 4.2.
Table 4.2 Assumptions used to forecast business rates income
2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

Indicative

Indicative

Indicative

Indicative

Indicative

-1.3%
0.4%
-2.9%
-5.7%
2.4%
50%

0.7%
-2.2%
-5.2%
2.0%
50%

1.1%
-1.6%
-4.8%
2.0%
75%

1.4%
-0.9%
-4.5%
2.0%
75%

1.3%
-0.9%
-4.5%
2.0%
75%

Estimated immediate reduction in taxbase
In-year growth in taxbase
Level of bad debts
Level of Empty Rates relief
CPI
Level of retention

All assumptions are expressed as percentage of Gross Rates Payable in Leeds

4.3.8

Since the Council set its budget for 2021/22, the Government has introduced
further reliefs from business rates to all retail and leisure establishments and
to children’s nurseries in response to the impact of COVID-19 on these
business sectors. Unlike the 100% reliefs in 2020/21, the 2021/22 reliefs are
at 100% of liability for the first three months of the financial year with 66%
relief thereafter. Furthermore, the Government introduced a maximum cap to
these reliefs, with each business (rather than property) only able to receive
£2.0m if they were forced to close during 2021/22 and only £0.1m if the
business could open. The Strategy assumes these new reliefs are for one
year only.

4.3.9

Any shortfall in business rates income received in comparison with the
budget set is carried through into the following year as a surplus or deficit. In
addition to this the Council will have to fund one third of the declared
business rates deficit from 2020/21, estimated in January 2021, not funded
by section 31 compensation grants for reliefs introduced in that year. This
one third is £12.2m. However this estimated deficit was made in the middle
of a national lockdown and a number of risks were included in the declared
deficit position, including continued reduction in the city’s tax base, a lack of
clarity about the applicability of Empty Rate Relief during a lockdown and a
high number of appeals citing the lockdowns as a ‘Material Change of
Circumstance’. After the declaration of the estimated deficit these risks did
not materialise as the economy began to reopen and as a result of later
legislation excluding the pandemic as a valid cause for an appeal against
liability for business rates. Therefore, the actual deficit was significantly better
than expected, generating a surplus to be carried forward into 2022/23 to be
set against the one third of the estimated deficit from 2020/21. This resulted
30

Page 103

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
in the opening deficit to be carried forward into 2022/23, becoming a
marginal surplus of £0.1m. There will, however, be an in-year deficit
generated in 2021/22 to add to this small surplus. This is projected to be
£27.8m, largely caused by the reliefs described in paragraph 4.3.8 above
and which were introduced after 2021/22 budget was approved, for which the
Council will receive full compensation estimated at £28.1m. This will be held
in reserve to offset against the total deficit carried forward from 2021/22 of
£27.8m.
4.3.10 In 2023/24 this Strategy assumes the final one-third of the unfunded declared
deficit of £12.2m carried forward from 2020/21 will have to be repaid. It is
assumed that the in-year business rates income retained in 2023/24,
2024/25 and 2025/26 will be as budgeted and that therefore the Collection
Fund will return to balance with no further deficit. At the time of writing the
Council is not aware of any additional Government support in response to the
impact of COVID-19 on business rates income, thus no further support is
assumed in the Strategy.
4.3.11 Based on the above assumptions, the Strategy assumes that budgeted inyear Business Rates income retained by the Authority in 2021/22 (£153.8m)
will increase to £160.0m in 2022/23 (excluding the repayment of the 2020/21
deficit on the Collection Fund) as increased costs against this income caused
by the pandemic, particularly bad debts and Empty Rate Relief, begin to
reduce. In 2023/24 this recovery is assumed to continue with in-year retained
Business Rates income rising to £166.5m. With the expected introduction of
75% retention in 2024/25 in-year retained Business Rates income is
expected to increase sharply to £194.5m, but this increase will be partially
offset by the assumed loss of Revenue Support Grant of £21.3m between
2023/24 and 2024/25. In 2025/26 and 2026/27 the recovery in Business
Rates income is expected to continue but slow with retained income
expected to rise to £201.5m and £205.8m respectively.
4.3.12 Taking account of the impact of the deficit carried forward and the three year
spread, the total budgeted income retained from the Business Rates
Retention Scheme will increase from £62.0m in 2021/22 (supplemented by
£75.5m of Section 31 grant funding for reliefs from 2020/21 held in reserve)
to £132.2m in 2022/23, supplemented by £28.1m compensation for reliefs
brought forward in reserve from 2021/22 (as detailed in paragraph 4.3.9)
making a total of £150.3m of resources for 2022/23. In 2023/24 this is
expected to rise to £154.3m before increasing significantly to £194.5m in
2024/25 with the dropping out of the £12.2m deficit from 2020/21 and the
introduction of 75% retention, £201.5m in 2025/26 and £205.8m in 2026/27.
4.3.13 Business Rates growth above the baseline represents the growth in retained
Business Rates income achieved by the Authority since the start of the
Retention Scheme in 2013/14. Originally Government stated that the growth
achieved nationally would be pooled in 2020/21 and redistributed following
the Fair Funding Review along with further reforms to the Retention Scheme,
a process known as a ‘reset’. This was first delayed until 2021/22 and, as
explained above, this Strategy now expects the reforms to Business Rates
31

Page 104

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Retention Scheme, the reset and the introduction of the Fair Funding formula
to be further delayed until 2024/25. However, the COVID-19 crisis makes any
estimation of the amount of growth to be distributed by any reset almost
impossible to estimate. Therefore, this Strategy assumes that any effects of
these processes will be revenue neutral.
4.3.14 The MTFS has estimated that increased risks around bad debts, Empty
Rates Relief, continued reductions to the current tax base and reduced inyear growth in future years due to the pandemic in 2020/21 will more than
reverse all the accumulated growth above the baseline achieved between
2013/14 and 2020/21 and it assumes growth will not be restored until
2023/24. Details of the underlying assumptions for each of these elements
are given in Table 4.2. The net effect of these assumptions on growth above
the baseline is detailed in Table 4.3.
Table 4.3: The net effect of losses on business rates growth above the
baseline
2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative
49%
49%
74%
74%
74%

Leeds share of growth above the baseline
Growth above baseline assumed in previous year (£m)
Adjustment due to introduction of 75% retention
Reduction in current taxbase in 2021/22 (£m)
Change in cost of bad debt provisions (£m)
Change in cost of empty rate relief (£m)
Change in cost of Small Business Rates Relief (£m)
In-year growth of business rates yield (£m)
Reduction in cost of appeals provisions (£m)
Other changes in the tax base (£m)
Growth above baseline assumed in current year (£m)

-4.6
0.0
-2.9
1.0
-0.3
0.5
0.6
1.3
2.2
-2.3

-2.3
0.0
0.0
1.1
1.0
0.0
1.3
0.0
0.0
1.1

1.1
0.5
0.0
1.9
1.3
0.0
3.0
0.0
0.0
7.7

7.7
0.0
0.0
1.8
1.2
0.0
3.9
0.0
0.1
14.7

4.3.15 The risks posed by appeals against the 2010 ratings list continue to reduce
as the number of outstanding appeals is anticipated to reduce over the
forthcoming months. The 2017 ratings list was introduced alongside a new
appeals process and, before COVID-19, the number of appeals against this
list has been much lower than the 2010 ratings list. However, in the latter half
of 2020/21 a large number of appeals have been received by the Valuation
Office Agency claiming a Material Change of Circumstance due to the
COVID-19 situation. Provisions were made for these appeals and included in
the declared deficit for 2020/21 but the Government announced
subsequently that it would legislate to ensure these appeals were not
successful. The Government has passed Regulations and primary legislation
to implement this and therefore the provisions made were released back into
income.
4.3.16 There remain many uncertainties around the future of business rates
retention within the local government finance system. The timing and nature
of changes to the Business Rates Retention Scheme in anticipation of the
move to 75% retention nationally are unclear. The timing and mechanism of
any baseline reset remains uncertain, as does whether the Government will
32

Page 105

14.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
3.9
0.0
0.4
19.0

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
centralise any of the growth to be redistributed to local government to fund
other initiatives. The Government launched a ‘Call for Evidence’ on a
fundamental review of the business rates system itself in 2020/21, the results
of which are as yet unclear, with the Government’s intentions being delayed
until the autumn of 2021. This Financial Strategy assumes that 50% retention
in its current form will continue until the introduction of 75% retention in
2024/25 and that the current retention scheme mechanism will continue
during the period of this Strategy when 75% retention is introduced.
However, the underlying uncertainties persist throughout this period.
Council Tax
4.3.17 This Medium-Term Financial Strategy is written in the context of the current
coronavirus situation and assumptions regarding the subsequent economic
recovery. As such, the Strategy assumes a lower than average underlying
growth in the taxbase (excluding the impact of Local Council Tax Support) in
2022/23 of 1.36% which will not recover to pre-pandemic levels until 2025/26
at a growth of 1.58%, as shown in table 4.4 below.
4.3.18 The Strategy further assumes that the number of Local Council Tax Support
claimants will remain above average until 2025/26 in line with the forecast
unemployment rate from the Office for Budget Responsibility. Table 4.4
projects that unemployment, the main driver of working age claims for
Council Tax Support, is expected to gradually fall from 6.5% in 2022/23 to
4.4% by 2025/26. The Strategy further assumes there will be a return to
normal collection rates of 99% in 2022/23.
4.3.19 The Strategy projects that councils will be able to raise core Council Tax by
1.99% in 2022/23 and in future years. It is assumed there will be no further
additional precept for Adult Social Care, but also that no additional funding
will be provided through government grant, as discussed at paragraph
4.3.28.
4.3.20 As with Business Rates, any shortfall or surplus between budgeted and
actual Council Tax income is a cost or gain that must be carried forward to
the following year. In 2020/21 Government made it mandatory for billing
authorities to spread the cost of the declared deficit not funded by grant over
three years. One third of that deficit will therefore have to be funded from the
2022/23 Budget. For Leeds City Council this amounts to £4.5m, however,
this can be offset by a small improvement in the position between declaration
and year-end in 2020/21 of £0.7m resulting in a total deficit to be repaid to
the Collection Fund in 2022/23 of £3.8m.
4.3.21 In 2023/24 the final instalment of the 2020/21 deficit (£4.5m) will become due
and this Medium-Term Financial Strategy reflects this. After 2023/24 it is
assumed that actual income will be as budgeted and therefore no surplus or
deficit is included.
4.3.22 Table 4.4 Assumptions used to forecast council tax income
33

Page 106

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
2022/23
%

2023/24
%

2024/25
%

2025/26
%

2026/27
%

Core increase to LCC precept

1.99%

1.99%

1.99%

1.99%

1.99%

Underlying taxbase growth from
previous year

1.36%

1.48%

1.53%

1.58%

1.58%

Levels of Bad Debt

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

Unemployment assumptions
impacting on levels of LCTS

6.50%

5.70%

4.90%

4.40%

4.40%

Other Funding Changes
4.3.23 The paragraphs below outline the key changes to other funding that the
Council receives, which are detailed in Table 4.9 in addition to changes to
the Settlement Funding Assessment and to local funding outlined above.
Specific Grant Funding Changes - New Homes Bonus
4.3.24 Since 2011/12, the Council has received New Homes Bonus, an incentive
grant based on housing growth. In 2018/19, the Government announced their
intention to review the operation of the Bonus to better align the scheme with
local authorities’ performance in meeting local housing demand beyond
2019/20. No further detail has yet been provided and the existing scheme
was simply rolled forward in 2020/21 and 2021/22. Consequently, this
Strategy assumes that the one remaining legacy payment will continue into
2022/23 and that the Scheme will then end. It is also assumed that the
funding top-sliced for New Homes Bonus will be returned to local government
in some form, although this will not be known until the provisional Local
Government Finance Settlement, expected in December 2021. Since Leeds
accounts for receipt of New Homes Bonus grant in the year in which the
housing growth takes place, with grant actually received in the following year,
the Council would not receive any such returned funding in 2022/23, creating
a funding shortfall in that year.
4.3.25 The income from New Homes Bonus in 2022/23 is currently projected to be
zero, £2.2m below the level budgeted for in 2021/22 as the final year of
legacy payments drops out of the system.
Specific Grant Funding Changes - Adult Social Care
4.3.26 The final 2021/22 Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed
Government’s intention to roll forward all social care grants that had been
receivable in 2020/21, with an additional injection of £300 million of new
Social Care grant funding in 2021/22 for adults and children’s services.
Leeds received an allocation of £4.5m of this.
4.3.27 In the absence of either the Government’s Green Paper, which was expected
to provide greater certainty about the Government’s future funding intentions
in respect of adult social care, or of any details regarding increased future
34

Page 107

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
financial support, this Strategy assumes that all existing social care grants
continue to be protected, including the new 2020/21 Social Care grant
allocation and these allocations have been rolled forward in 2022/23 and
beyond.
4.3.28 There is significant uncertainty as to what extent the demand pressures
facing Adult Social Care services will be recognised in the future. Until such a
time as this is known this MTFS assumes there will be no uplift in the level of
Social Care grant receivable.
4.3.29 The Strategy assumes 2021/22 to be the final year of the Adult Social Care
Precept increases in Council Tax, reflecting concerns about the local tax
burden, particularly post-COVID-19, and the inequitable resource impact of
the precept nationally. Current Precept income provides funding for Adult
Social Care services of over £9.9m in Leeds in 2021/22. Should an additional
precept be confirmed, this would generate around £3.5m for each increase of
1%.
Specific Grant Funding Changes – Children and Families
4.3.30 As discussed at paragraph 4.3.26, the final 2021/22 Local Government
Finance Settlement confirmed the Government’s intention to roll forward all
social care grants receivable in 2020/21. This Strategy assumes continuation
of all existing Children’s Social Care grants, including the new 2020/21 Social
Care grant allocation, the School Improvement Monitoring and Brokerage
Grant and the Troubled Families Programme: Earned Autonomy grant. If the
assumed levels of grant funding are not realised, the directorate will be
required to reduce their expenditure budget accordingly.
4.3.31 Leeds is one of three authorities to receive funding through the Department
for Education (DfE) Strengthening Families Protecting Children (SFPC)
Programme to support the spread of innovation programmes across 20 local
authorities over five years. The 2021/22 budget for the Children and Families
Directorate included the second tranche of additional grant of £1.6m. The
remaining two years of funding and the fallout of this grant in 2024/25 are
reflected in the Strategy.
4.3.32 As such, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy assumes no increase in
Children’s Social Care resources over the period 2022/23 to 2026/27 and
reflects the fallout of the £1.6m per annum Strengthening Families grant in
2024/25.
Specific Grant Funding Changes – Communities, Housing and
Environment
4.3.33 The Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support Administration Subsidy
grants are anticipated to continue to reduce by a further £0.6m over the
period of the Strategy up to 2024/25. This reflects the continuing reductions
in the national quantum of funding allocated to Local Authorities. These are
indicative assessments at this stage as the final allocations for 2022/23 will
35

Page 108

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
not be made until late 2021/early 2022. No other grant funding changes are
assumed.
Specific Grant Funding Changes – Section 31 grants
4.3.34 Section 31 grants are received from Government to compensate local
authorities for the costs of business rates reliefs introduced by the
Government since the start of the Business Rates Retention Scheme and
increases to the Small Business Rates multiplier being capped at CPI rather
than RPI.
4.3.35 Government has awarded local authorities funding to meet the cost of the
increased Business Rates reliefs, as discussed at paragraph 4.2.9. Section
31 grant of £28.1m will be held in reserve by the Council and carried forward
to be applied to the Business Rates deficit in 2022/23. It has been assumed
that this is a one-off grant, falling out in 2023/24.
4.3.36 Although in August the rate of inflation fell the recent trend for increased
inflation is forecast to continue. It is therefore currently projected that section
31 grants will increase in 2022/23, principally because of an increase in the
multiplier cap compensation. The Strategy then assumes that the grants will
increase in line with the Small Business Rates multiplier, with a £0.7m
increase in 2023/24. In 2024/25 it is assumed that 75% business rates
retention will be implemented, so it forecast that section 31 grants will
increase by £6.6m to reflect the Council’s increased share, then £0.4m in
2025/26 and £0.4m in 2026/27. The uncertainty over the actual
implementation date of the 75% retention scheme continues to pose a
significant risk to the Financial Strategy in the medium term.
Other Funding Changes – Strategic Accounts
4.3.37 Local authorities pay a levy on Business Rates growth, either to the
Government or to a local Pooling arrangement where one exists, as
discussed in paragraph 4.3.5. Levy payments are projected to save £0.5m
over the life of this strategy, when compared to the budgeted levy for
2021/22, reflecting assumptions about the impact of COVID-19 on business
rates growth. It is estimated that levy payments will increase from £0.7m in
2022/23 to £1.0m in 2022/23 and £0 in subsequent years once 75%
Business Rates Retention has been introduced nationally.
Movement on the use of reserves
4.3.38 The opening General Reserve position in 2021/22 stood at £27.8m with the
opening position for 2022/23 estimated to be £31.7m, reflecting a budgeted
contribution of £4.0m. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy reflects no
planned contribution to the General Reserve in 2022/23 but incorporates a
base budget increase of £3.0m in 2023/24. As such the Strategy assumes a
£3m contribution in every subsequent year of the Strategy giving a General
Reserves position of £43.7m at 31st March 2027. The impact of these
assumptions on the level of General Reserve over the life of the Strategy is
discussed in Part 5 of this Strategy document.
36

Page 109

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.3.39 Opening earmarked reserves for 2021/22 stood at £153.6m. This total
includes £24.3m of Strategic Contingency Reserve, which was established in
2020/21 to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the
Council becoming more financially resilient. The 21/22 budget provides a
further net contribution of £6.2m to this reserve, so that £30.5m will be
available in total.
4.3.40

The 2021/22 approved budget allowed for the creation of an earmarked
reserve for COVID pressures. £16.7m was placed in a reserve to manage
the ongoing financial impact of COVID and is to be applied to any pressures
arising which exceeds the initial estimated costs of COVID in 2021/22. This
reserve is nearing full commitment and in 2022/23 the MTFS reflects this
one-off funding falling out.

4.3.41 Movements across a range of other earmarked reserves provide for a net
increased pressure of £1.5m on the General Fund over the life of the
Strategy. The increased pressure includes £7m relating to Financial
Sustainability measures: provision for Business Rates (£4m) and provisions
for Insurance and MMI (£3m), which are discussed in more detail in
paragraph 4.5. This is largely offset by the fallout of contributions to ringfenced reserves budgeted in 2021/22 but removed in 2022/23.
4.4

Budget Pressures
Inflation

4.4.1

The Financial Strategy makes allowance for £35.5m of net inflation from
2022/23 to 2026/27. It provides inflation where there is a contractual
commitment but anticipates the majority of other spending budgets are cash
limited. The Strategy assumes an inflationary uplift on fees and charges
where they can be borne by the market.
Employers Local Government Pensions Contributions

4.4.2

The most recent actuarial valuation showed that the West Yorkshire Pension
Fund is in a surplus position. As a result, the Council was notified that the
employer’s contribution would reduce from 16.2% to 15.9% from the 1st April
2020 and remain unchanged for three years. This Strategy reflects concerns
that the current COVID-19 pandemic may impact the Pension Fund
adversely both by affecting return on investments and by changing the profile
of membership of the Fund. Therefore, it is assumed that there will be a short
term increase in the employer’s contribution to 16.1% in 2022/23 and a return
to 15.9% in 2023/24. This increase results in additional costs of £2.1m in
2022/23, which then falls out in the following year.

37

Page 110

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Pay Award and the Leeds Living Wage
4.4.3

Provision of £53.8m has been made for the costs of anticipated pay awards
for the period covered by the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The Strategy
provides for a pay award of 2.75% for staff on SCP1, 1.75% for NJC staff
and 1.5% for JNC in 2021/22, reflecting the latest pay offer at the time of
writing, and then an annual 2% pay award for the period from 2022/23
onwards. The Strategy also provides for annual increases in the Council’s
minimum pay rate which takes account of the £10.50 per hour National
Minimum Wage to be achieved by 2024 announced in the September 2019
Chancellor’s 2020 budget speech. The Strategy also assumes increases in
the Real Living Wage will remain 59 pence above National Minimum Wage
levels, hence the assumed Real Living Wage in 2024/25 is £11.09.
Fall-out of capitalised pension costs

4.4.4

The fall-out of capitalised pension costs associated with staff who have left
the Council under the previous Early Leavers Initiative (ELI) will save an
estimated £1.6m in 2022/23, reducing over the life of the Strategy to £0.02m
in 2026/27.
Early Leavers Initiative 2020

4.4.5

The Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary
options to reduce the wage bill in July 2020. In 2022/23 the net costs of this
relaunched scheme will reduce by an estimated £0.7m, with further net
savings in the latter years of the strategy of £1.5m in 2025/26 and £3.3m in
2026/27 as pension strain costs fall out.
Future Early Leavers Scheme

4.4.6

Future updates of this Strategy will consider the costs associated with the
payments of severance and pension strain reflecting the extent to which
further savings required during the lifetime of this strategy are realised
through staffing reductions.
National Living Wage for Commissioned Services and the Ethical Care
Charter

4.4.7

In respect of services commissioned from external providers, provision of
£7.6m in 2022/23 and £6.9m per annum in subsequent years (£35.1m in
total) has been included in the Strategy. In 2022/23, this £7.6m is comprised
of £7.0m in the Adults and Health Directorate, which includes £2.1m for
Ethical Care Charter, and £0.6m in the Children and Families Directorate. In
2023/24 and subsequent years, the £6.9m in the Strategy reflects Adults and
Health Directorate £6.3m, including £1.4m for the Ethical Care Charter, and
£0.6m in the Children and Families Directorate. This is consistent with the
National Living Wage assumptions. Elements of the Ethical Care Charter,
particularly in respect of better terms and conditions including improved rates
of pay for care staff were implemented in 2019/20 and the provision required
for the period consolidates this position.
38

Page 111

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.4.8

The increased costs associated with both paying our staff the Real Living
Wage (£11.4m over the life of the Strategy, included in the total cost of the
pay award at paragraph 4.4.3 above) and encouraging the services we
commission to pay their staff the National Minimum Wage, detailed in
paragraph 4.4.7, have been resourced by the Council without any additional
funding from the Government.
Demand and Demography

4.4.9

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy recognises the increasing demography
and consequential demand pressures for services in Adult Social Care,
Children and Families services and Waste services, with £52.2m being
provided over the five years up to 2026/27 as shown in Table 4.5.
Table 4.5 Demand & Demography

Adults & Health
Children & Families
Communities, Housing & Environment

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
7.18
7.18
7.18
7.18
7.18
6.10
2.07
2.13
2.76
2.19
0.20
0.21
0.21
0.22
0.22
13.48
9.46
9.52
10.15
9.59

Total
£m
35.90
15.24
1.06
52.20

4.4.10 Within Adults and Health, the population growth forecast assumes a steady
increase from 2019 in the number of people aged 85+ between 2020 and
2025. These increases of 2.0%, 2.2%, 2.4%, 2.2% and 1.8% respectively
result in additional costs for domiciliary care and care home placements. In
addition, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy reflects the anticipated impact
of increasing cash personal budgets through to 2025. The Learning Disability
demography is expected to grow by 2.1% (based on ONS data) over the
period. It should be noted that the high cost increase in this area of service is
primarily a combination of increasingly complex (and costly) packages for
those entering adult care, as well as meeting the costs of the increasing need
for existing clients whose packages may last a lifetime. The Strategy
provides £7.2m each year to deal with this demand and demographic growth,
£35.9m in total across the years of the Strategy.
4.4.11 Children and Families continues to face demographic and demand pressures
due to several different factors. Birth rates were relatively high in previous
years, particularly within the most deprived clusters within the city. Although
the birth rate has now reduced, the population peak is now moving through to
adolescents, who can require more complex and therefore costly
placements. In addition, demographic pressures are also driven by ongoing
inward migration into the city (particularly from BAME groups from outside
the UK). The main drivers of demand pressures are well documented
nationally and locally. Specific examples include an increasing population of
children and young people with special and very complex needs, greater
awareness of the risks of child sexual exploitation, grooming by criminal
gangs, levels of domestic abuse, misuse of drugs and alcohol, levels of
poverty and a children’s home sector that requires rebuilding from the
perspective of children’s needs rather than financial incentive. All these
39

Page 112

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
factors result in increases in referral rates. There are growing expectations of
families and carers in terms of services offered and the impact of
Government legislation, including ‘staying put’ arrangements that enable
young people to remain with their carers up to the age of 21.
4.4.12 Consequently, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy provides £15.2m in total
for the projected demand in the 0-19 year old population and the impact this
will have on transport costs (£3.5m) and the Children Looked After (CLA) and
financially supported non-CLA budgets (£11.8m, excluding inflation).
Financially supported non-CLA budgets include arrangements that prevent
children from becoming looked after, such as special guardianship orders.
4.4.13 CLA numbers in Leeds have increased by 10% over the last five years in line
with the national trend. This trend is expected to continue and has been built
into the Strategy, with adjustments for the demography changes noted
above. £5.4m of the CLA increase is in 2022/23, and while some of this is
due to demand increases, it also includes an adjustment to reset the Strategy
at a level reflecting actual demand, which has exceeded the available budget
in recent years. In subsequent years, the increase for the CLA and financially
supported non-CLA budget each year is between £1.4m and £2.1m,
excluding inflation.
4.4.14 As a result of further demand pressures due to assumed household growth,
provision of £0.2m has been made in each year of the Strategy for the
increased disposal costs of waste to the Recycling and Energy Recovery
Facility (RERF).
Income Pressures
4.4.15 Over its life, the Strategy provides for additional pressures relating to the
following: local land charges (£0.3m); car parking income (£0.2m) including
income lost through the sale of land used for parking; and income related to
services provided by HR (£0.1m).
COVID-19 Pressures
4.4.16 The Council’s 2020/21 budget bore the brunt of financial impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic, and the Council received £72.2m of Government
funding towards the costs of COVID-19 in 2020/21, of which £2.6m was
applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m of available funding. A £27.0m
Government contribution to lost income was also reflected. In total grant of
£96.6m was utilised to reduce the Council’s financial pressures in 2020/21,
directly contributing to the Council’s bottom line.
4.4.17 At Spending Review 2020, Government announced a further £1.55bn of
national funding for additional COVID related expenditure pressures in
2021/22. The expectation is that the Leeds allocation was £24.6m will be
used to offset additional COVID expenditure pressures as they occur in
2021/22. Of this, £16.7m was placed in a COVID reserve, with the remainder
utilised for COVID pressures in the 2021/22 approved budget. Both are now
close to being fully utilised and no additional funding from Government has
40

Page 113

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
so far been indicated. As such the MTFS reflects the fallout of £8.1m of
funding applied to COVID in the 2021/22 budget.
4.4.18 This MTFS does not provide specifically for the ongoing impact of COVID-19
after 2021/22. It is assumed that there will be not be a requirement for further
lockdowns and therefore the Council will not be required to incur specific
additional expenditure relating to COVID-19. In addition, it is assumed that
income realisable from sales, fees and charges returns to pre-COVID levels.
These assumptions are consistent with the Government’s current level of
financial support which assumes that there will be no ongoing financial
impact of COVID after 2021/22.
4.4.19 It is currently unclear whether the Chancellor’s Autumn budget statement will
provide additional support to local authorities regarding any ongoing financial
impact of COVID after 2021/22. If any further support is announced, then this
will be incorporated into future years revenue budgets.
4.4.20 If COVID-19 continues to have an impact upon the Council’s revenue budget,
and no additional Government support is forthcoming, then the impact will
need to be managed within the Council’s approved budget.
Other pressures
4.4.21 Over the life of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27 other
cost pressures amount to £41.8m, £32m of which relates to reducing the
Council’s reliance on capitalisation and internal charging arrangements, two
further measures introduced to improve future financial sustainability and
resilience in 2022/23 and later years, discussed in paragraph 4.5 and shown
within the Strategic Accounts figures at Table 4.6.
Table 4.6 Other Pressures
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Adults & Health
0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01
Children & Families
0.49
0.56
0.06
(0.99)
0.01
City Development
1.29
0.38
(3.77)
0.01
0.01
Communities, Housing & Environment
1.62
1.15
0.77
0.01
0.01
Resources
3.60
0.11
0.16
0.02
0.02
Strategic Accounts
11.47
9.78
15.00
0.00
0.00
18.48
11.98
12.22
(0.95)
0.05

Debt
4.4.22 Over the life of the Strategy, provision of £47.68m is required to service debt.
Of this, £49.37m relates to the net requirement to increase the level of
budgetary provision for MRP. Changes approved at Full Council in February
2017 in relation to the MRP policy recognised that MRP had been
overprovided for between 2008/09 and 2014/15. This enabled the Council to
benefit from reduced MRP payments in 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20. In
2020/21 this reduction in payments came to an end, increasing the
41

Page 114

Total
£m
0.03
0.13
(2.10)
3.57
3.90
36.25
41.78

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
requirement for the revenue budget, gross of any use of capital receipts, to
£59.8m in 2022/23.
Table 4.7 Provision for Debt
Minimum Revenue Provision
Capital Receipts
Net Chargable MRP
Core Treasury
PFI
Reduced Reliance on Capital
Receipts (Financial Sustainability)
Total Provision of Debt

2022/23
5.66
23.21
28.87
(5.61)
1.82

2023/24
6.50
5.00
11.50
(4.06)
(1.25)

2024/25
4.50
0.00
4.50
(5.49)
2.03

2025/26
4.50
0.00
4.50
0.00
0.89

2026/27 Total
0.00
21.16
0.00
28.21
0.00
49.37
0.00
(15.17)
0.00
3.48

5.00

5.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

10.00

30.08

11.19

1.04

5.39

0.00

47.68

2022/23
£m
61.26

2023/24
£m
67.76

2024/25
£m
72.26

2025/26
£m
76.76

2026/27
£m
76.76

5.66

6.50

4.50

4.50

0.00

Table 4.8 Minimum Revenue Provision

Gross MRP Debt
Therefore:
Impact on MTFS (Increase in
Provision)

4.4.23 The Council used significant capital receipts to contribute to the MRP
requirement in 2021/22, one off use of £23.2m which falls out in 2022/23,
with a further £5m falling out in 2023/24. No capital receipts are applied in
later years of the Strategy. Indeed, to enable the Council to utilise capital
receipts for investment in the Council’s Assets, thereby reducing the need to
borrow, the MTFS has further reduced the Authority’s reliance on capital
receipts by increasing the revenue resources available to cover the cost of
MRP payments. This Financial Sustainability measure is shown in Table 4.7
and is considered in more detail in paragraph 4.5.
4.4.24 After taking account of changes to the Settlement Funding Assessment,
changes in local funding plus other cost and funding changes as outlined
above, there is a requirement to deliver £151.3m of savings over the period
covered by the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The scale of the overall
savings requirement needs to be considered in the context of the Council’s
current budget: gross General Fund budget of £1,342m and net budget of
£435.3m in 2021/22.

42

Page 115

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.4.25 Table 4.9 Estimated Budget Gap (including Financial Sustainability
Measures)
2022/23 TO 2026/27 PROJECTIONS

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

2025/26
£m

2026/27
£m

0.0
(83.4)
(4.0)
(22.7)
47.5
44.5
(2.4)
0.0
(20.5)

0.0
(32.1)
3.0
4.6
28.1
(8.2)
(0.7)
0.0
(5.2)

0.0
(37.6)
0.0
3.1
0.0
9.5
(6.6)
0.0
(31.6)

0.0
(21.2)
0.0
(0.2)
0.0
0.0
(0.4)
0.0
(21.8)

0.0
(19.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(0.4)
0.0
(19.4)

0.0
(193.4)
(1.0)
(15.2)
75.5
45.8
(10.3)
0.0
(98.5)

Inflation
Employer's LGPS contribution
Pay Award including Living Wage
Severance & Capitalised Pension costs
NLW Commissioned Services and Ethical Care Charter
Demand and Demography
Income pressures
COVID-19 Pressures in 2021/22 (fall out)
Other pressures/savings
Debt - external interest/Minimum Revenue Provision
Projected Cost Increases

8.7
2.1
15.6
(2.3)
7.6
13.5
0.4
(8.1)
18.5
30.1
86.0

7.7
(2.1)
8.8
(0.8)
6.9
9.5
(0.1)
0.0
12.0
11.2
53.1

8.0
0.0
9.6
(0.6)
6.9
9.5
0.2
0.0
12.2
1.0
46.8

8.2
0.0
9.4
(1.7)
6.9
10.2
0.0
0.0
(1.0)
5.4
37.4

2.9
0.0
10.3
(3.3)
6.9
9.6
0.0
0.0
0.1
0.0
26.5

35.5
0.0
53.8
(8.7)
35.1
52.2
0.5
(8.1)
41.8
47.7
249.8

Total Cost and Funding Changes

65.5

47.8

15.3

15.6

7.0

151.3

Settlement Funding Assessment
Changes in Local Funding
Change in contribution to/(from) General Reserve
Change in contribution to/(from) Earmarked Reserves
COVID-19 Grants
Other Changes in Specific Grant
Changes in S31 grants
Other Funding Changes
Decrease/(Increase) in Funding

4.5

Medium Term Financial Sustainability Measures

4.5.1

The financial position of the Council has been reviewed over the longer term
with the intention of increasing financial sustainability and resilience. Table
4.10 shows the latest position assumed for a range of financial sustainability
measures and each is then discussed in more detail.
Table 4.10 Financial Sustainability Measures
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Included in Funding Changes (Table 4.9):
General Fund Balances
Provision for Business Rates
Provision for Insurance
Provision for MMI
Repayment of Borrowing from Ring Fenced Resources

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

3.0
2.0
0.0
0.0
1.0

0.0
2.0
2.0
1.0
1.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Included in Cost Increases (Table 4.9):
Capitalisation
Capital Receipts Funding Revenue Budget
Internal Charging

5.0
5.0
4.0

5.0
5.0
4.0

10.0
0.0
4.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

Total Financial Sustainability Measures

14.0

20.0

20.0

0.0

0.0

43

Page 116

Total
£m

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.5.2

Previous years’ budgets have utilised both the capitalisation of revenue
expenditure and capital receipts to resource MRP payments to mitigate the
impact of the Government’s austerity agenda and the resultant reduction in
funding to local authorities since 2010. In order for the Council’s Revenue
Budget to become more financially resilient, whilst at the same time reducing
the risks associated with funding recurring revenue expenditure through a
requirement to generate capital receipts, this Strategy contains provision to
unwind the extent to which the Revenue Budget is supported by these
mechanisms. Consequently, as detailed in Table 4.10, the base budget
provision has increased by £30m per annum over the life of the Strategy.

4.5.3

Of this £12m reflects the requirement to reduce the extent to which internal
charging mechanisms are used in the Council’s revenue budget, where the
application of internal charging is driving the wrong financial behaviours and
sustaining inefficiencies.

4.5.4

The level of business rates appeals continues to be a risk. Whilst there is
now little scope for new appeals against the 2010 ratings list, there continues
to be very limited information available on which to base an assessment of
appeals against the 2017 list. The ongoing impact of the COVID19 pandemic
on business and the direct impact this has on the level of resources that the
Council has to fund services, has reinforced that it is prudent to increase the
contribution to the business rates appeals provision (£4m increase in base
budget provision by 2024/25).

4.5.5

Under the 2003 Local Government Act, the Council’s Statutory Financial
Officer is required to make a statement to Council on the adequacy of
reserves as a part of the annual budget setting process. The Medium-Term
Financial Strategy recognises the requirement to keep the level of the
Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are adequate to meet
identified risks. Grant Thornton’s “Annual Audit Letter” for the year ended
31st March 2020 noted “that the Council should consider the adequacy of its
reserves going forward and the appropriate level of balances which should
be linked to the approved MTFS and which should be reviewed each year.”
The MTFS provides for a £3m base budget contribution to the General
Reserve each year from 2023/24 to 2026/27. The impact is to provide
General Reserves of 31.7m in 2022/23, £34.7m in 2023/24, £37.7m in
2024/25, £40.7m in 2025/26 and £43.7m in 2026/27.

4.5.6

In recognition of the requirement to adequately provide for insurance claims
against the Council and specific insurance liabilities arising from having been
a member of Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) the MTFS provides for a
base budget increase in the level of the insurance provision in 2024/25 of
£3m.

4.5.7

Against a background of reductions in Government funding the Council has
used its balance sheet to support its Revenue Budget. In the context of
making the Revenue Budget financially sustainable a planned reduction in
the reliance on ringfenced resources on the balance sheet, as detailed in
44

Page 117

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
Table 4.7, has been provided for in the revised budget position (£2m
increase in base budget provision by 2024/25).
4.5.8

The impact of these variations on the estimated budget gaps each year
shown in Table 4.9 are summarised in Table 4.10, which shows that the
measures agreed increase the base budget by £54.0m in total over the life of
this Financial Strategy.

4.6

Savings and the Efficiency Programme

4.6.1

In 2020 the Council undertook savings reviews to meet the financial
challenges in the Strategy at that time. As a result of these reviews, the
2021/22 approved Budget included over £56m of budgeted savings. The
Medium-Term Financial Strategy recognises the longer term full year impact
of these savings, totalling £2.5m over the life of the Strategy. This includes
the fall-out of 2021/22 savings plans in 2022/23 (£0.8m) and 2023/24
(£0.9m). Over the life of the Strategy £0.4m of savings proposed are
categorised as Business as Usual and have no impact on service delivery or
on the Workforce. Savings proposals totalling £2.2m are considered to have
service delivery or workforce implications. In all cases these are the later
year impacts of proposals that were agreed as part of the 2020/21 savings
review process, with the first year incorporated into the 2021/22 budget.

4.6.2

After recognition of these savings proposals, there remains a requirement to
deliver £146.5m of savings over the life of the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy. This includes £126.7m of savings over the first three years
covered, £65.4m of which is required in 2022/23.
Table 4.11 Estimated Budget Gap less Savings Options
2022/23 TO 2026/27 PROJECTIONS

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m

Estimated Budget Gap

Total
£m

65.5

47.8

15.3

15.6

7.0

151.3

Business As Usual
Service Review
Service Delivery
Workforce
Service Delivery/Workforce
Total Budget Savings Proposals

1.0
(1.1)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(0.2)

0.2
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.2

(1.5)
(0.5)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(2.0)

(2.3)
(0.5)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(2.9)

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

(2.6)
(2.2)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(4.8)

Gap after Savings Proposals To Date

65.4

48.1

13.3

12.8

7.0

146.5

Directorate Budget Savings Proposals To Date

Bridging the Revised Gap – the Savings Programme
4.6.3

Recognising the financial challenge of bridging the estimated budget gaps for
the period 2022/23 to 2026/27 whilst at the same time seeking to ensure that
the Council’s revenue budget is robust, resilient and sustainable, a savings
programme has been established, focusing primarily on the three-year period
45

Page 118

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
2022/23 to 2024/25. Through this programme, a range of savings proposals
have, and will continue to be, identified that will contribute towards the
delivery of a balanced budget position in each of the financial years covered
by the MTFS.
4.6.4

Reviews are underway across all council services, some cross-cutting (such
as procurement and the next phase of reviewing our business administration
functions), whilst others are focused on specific services or activities. Key
themes being explored include Prevention (e.g. managing demand and
reviewing pressures); Income & Investment; Commissioning & Procurement;
and Value for Money (e.g. greater digitalisation). The cross-council senior
officer group established in 2020 to provide support and ensure a coordinated, consistent approach across the Financial Challenge programme,
has been reconvened. Further support and challenge to identify new
proposals and consider options put forwards by officers is again being
provided by Scrutiny Board working groups. The outcome of this work has
provided a number of savings proposals for consideration by the Executive
Board during the Autumn of 2021. Those approved for implementation, or
consultation as required, will subsequently be built into the 2022/23 Budget
and Provisional Budget for 2023/24 and 2024/25.

4.7

The Capital Programme

4.7.1

The Council’s 10 year capital programme considers the need for capital
investment against affordability within the MTFS. The programme identifies
annual programmes across the Council that aim to provide investment in
assets to ensure that the Council can continue to operate effectively. The
Council also has a number of major programmes that provide investment in
line with the Council’s best plan objectives.

4.7.2

Capital investment needs are assessed on an annual basis under the
direction of the Council’s Strategic Investment Board with final approval
sought from Executive Board and Full Council in February each year. Capital
investment proposals that deliver savings or generate additional income can
come forward throughout the year and are subject to a robust business case
approval. Schemes funded by external resources can also come forward
throughout the year.

4.7.3

A detailed review of the whole capital programme was undertaken in the lead
up to the Capital Programme being approved by Executive Board and Full
Council in February 2021. A key principle of that review was to replace
borrowing with external funding sources where possible and that principle
continues, for example in the Council’s recent bids to the Government’s
Levelling Up Fund. Savings proposals to address the current Financial
Challenge are reviewed to ensure that any interdependencies between
capital and revenue are given due consideration.

46

Page 119

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

4.7.4

The restated 10 year programme is detailed in Table 4.12.
Table 4.12 10 Year Capital Programme
Annual Programme Capital Review

2021/22
£000,

2022/23
£000,

2023/24
£000,

2024/25
£000,

2025/26
£000,

2026/27
£000,

2027/28
£000,

2028/29
£000,

2029/30
£000,

2030/31
£000,

Total
£000,

Highways Maintenance

12,139.2

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0 102,139.2

900.0

Highways Maintenance - supported by external funding

5,157.8

Highways Maintenance Capitalisations

4,600.0

4,600.0

4,035.8

2,800.0

1,800.0

Highways Section 278

3,500.0

3,500.0

2,800.0

2,100.0

1,400.0

700.0

Highways Section 278 - external contributions / supported by external funding

1,269.8

511.8

1,816.1

1,900.0

2,100.0

2,800.0

General Capitalisation

3,900.0

3,900.0

3,300.0

2,700.0

1,800.0

900.0

Schools Capital Expenditure

3,500.0

3,500.0

2,800.0

2,100.0

1,400.0

700.0

51.4

50.0

100.0

75.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

576.4

Adaptations - Disabled Facilities Grants

2,982.1

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

1,069.0

12,603.1

Adaptations - supported by external funding

7,818.5

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

7,602.7

76,242.8

Vehicle Programme

3,982.9

1,552.0

2,000.0

1,200.0

800.0

400.0

Childrens Centres

5,157.8
18,735.8
14,000.0
3,500.0

3,500.0

3,500.0

3,500.0

24,397.7
16,500.0
14,000.0

9,934.9

Vehicle Programme - supported by external funding

781.6

Adaptation to Private Homes

638.5

470.0

470.0

470.0

470.0

470.0

470.0

470.0

470.0

470.0

4,868.5

Telecare ASC

640.1

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

6,040.1

Library Books

525.0

525.0

450.0

300.0

200.0

100.0

Sports Maintenance

15.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

915.0

Project Support Fund (Groundwork)

65.9

0.0

0.0

70.0

70.0

70.0

70.0

70.0

70.0

70.0

555.9

Project Support Fund (Groundwork) - supported by external funding

70.0

70.0

70.0

Essential Services Programme

4,802.8

4,210.0

2,900.0

2,772.9

1,700.0

800.0

Digital Development

5,778.9

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

2,500.0

28,278.9

Corporate Property Management

7,944.7

2,250.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

22,194.7

Capital Programme Management

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

541.4

5,414.0

Demolition Programme

1,293.7

500.0

500.0

500.0

500.0

500.0

500.0

500.0

500.0

500.0

Heritage Assets

5,725.8

9,368.5

Capitalisation of Interest

312.5

200.0

200.0

200.0

200.0

200.0

200.0

200.0

200.0

200.0

2,112.5

Climate Emergency

369.7

165.0

100.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

600.0

4,834.7

Climate Emergency - supported by external funding

600.0

700.0

700.0

250.0

300.0

350.0

350.0

350.0

350.0

350.0

4,300.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

1,500.0

15,000.0

8,677.9

11,462.0

11,980.0

12,895.0

13,395.0

13,895.0

14,395.0

14,895.0

15,395.0

15,895.0 132,384.9

89,185.2

71,447.4

59,635.0

56,346.0

52,198.1

48,848.1

45,548.1

46,048.1

46,548.1

46,548.1 562,352.2

Transformational Change to LCC (excl Core Systems Review)
PFI Lifecycle Capitalisations

Total Annual Programmes

781.6

2,100.0

210.0
17,185.7

4.8

Capital Receipts

4.8.1

The main sources of capital receipts include property sales, the proceeds
from right to buy sales, and the repayment of capital loans from external
organisations.

4.8.2

Capital receipts are used to fund a number of revenue budgets: MRP,
transformational change, and PFI liabilities, with remaining receipts funding
capital expenditure.

4.8.3

The MTFS recognises the intention to use future generation of capital
receipts primarily to invest in capital infrastructure and therefore reduce the
Council’s future borrowing requirement rather than to continue to fund MRP.
The revenue resource requirements have been increased to reflect this
change in strategy.

4.8.4

The current forecast and requirement of capital receipts is shown in Table
4.13.

47

Page 120

5,793.7
15,094.3

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Table 4.13: Capital Receipts Requirement

Useable capital receipts
Revenue budget requirement (MRP)
Flexible use of capital receipts (ELI & Digital)
Revenue budget requirement (PFI & Lifecycle)
Charging PFI over asset life
Total Revenue budget requirement

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£
76,952,075

£
30,369,132

£
10,749,056

£
21,995,477

£
2,511,000

29,545,000
0
0
0
0
2,019,000
7,880,000
4,365,500
1,500,000
1,097,700
24,731,000
25,666,000
28,293,000
30,720,000
34,095,000
(18,152,000) (18,155,000) (19,766,000) (21,016,000) (23,097,000)
38,143,000
15,391,000
12,892,500
11,204,000
12,095,700

In Year Surplus/(deficit)
Useable capital receipts surplus b/fwd
Useable capital receipts surplus c/fwd
Used to fund Capital Spend

4.9

2021/22

38,809,075
915
0
38,809,990

14,978,132
0
(2,143,444)
12,834,688

(2,143,444)
2,143,444
0
0

10,791,477
0
(9,584,700)
1,206,777

Housing Revenue Account
Background

4.9.1

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) includes all expenditure and income
incurred in managing the Council’s housing stock and, in accordance with
Government legislation, operates as a ring fenced account. The total
resources available to the HRA is forecast at around £1.4bn over the next 5
years, with 86% of this being derived from rent and service charges to
tenants.

4.9.2

Since all housing priorities are funded through the HRA, any variations in the
rental income stream will directly impact upon the level of resources that are
available for the delivery of housing priorities. Throughout the life of this plan,
resources will be directed towards key priority areas which include fulfilling
the plan to improve the homes people live in, expanding and improving older
person’s housing and improving estates to ensure that they are safe and
clean places to live.
2022-2027 Deficit

4.9.3

Over the 5 years of the plan, there is an initial gap, prior to savings
proposals, of £1.4m in 2022/23 and a cumulative deficit of £22.8m by
2026/27. This is summarised in Table 4.14.

48

Page 121

(9,584,700)
9,584,700
0
0

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

Table 4.14: 5 year summary 2022/23 – 2026/27

4.9.4

Key Income Assumptions 2022-2027
• Rental Income. In February 2019 the Government confirmed that there
will be a return to a rent formula of CPI+1% for 5 years from 2020/2021
and therefore forecast rental figures are based on this principle.
Increases are based on the CPI Inflation rate as at September each year.
The current plan is based on the Office of Budget Responsibility (OBR)’s
long term target of 2%, which would result in a rental increase level of 3%
(CPI+1%).
Every 0.1% point change in the CPI rate results in an approximate £210k
change to rental income per year.
Total forecast rental income is also adjusted for the net difference between
forecast Right to Buy (RtB) sales and new build properties from the
Housing growth programme.
• Right to Buy Sales. The current plan assumes 610 sales per year for
next year, reducing by 50 a year in 2023-24 and later years until reaching
400 a year. Whilst this reflects the expectation that the recent increase in
sales will diminish at some point, RtB discounts remain a considerable
incentive for many people and as such sales may remain at a higher level,
which would put further pressure on the rental income budget. Conversely
additional sales increases capital receipts which can be partly utilised for
funding Council Housing growth.
• Other Income. The financial plan, as in previous years, assumes service
charges will rise in line with inflation and the Sheltered Housing Support
Charge for self-payers which is currently subsidised, will be increased on a
stepped basis until full cost recovery is achieved.
• PFI Grant. This grant remains fixed at £21.4m over the life of the PFI
contract.

49

Page 122

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.9.5

Key Expenditure Assumptions:
• Pay Award and Price Inflation. The plan provides for a pay award in
each year of 2%. Price inflation is generally assumed at CPI levels in the
plan, except where the budget is related to recharged services, where 2%
is assumed.
• Repairs. The repairs budget is assumed to be inflated by CPI and
adjusted to reflect the forecast changes in stock numbers, both losses
through RtB sales and an adjustment for housing growth.
• Disrepair Provision. Resolving disrepair remains a priority for the service.
Current costs of disrepair are around £2.4m which is in excess of existing
budgetary provision. However, reflecting the need to identify actions to
bring spend down, the financial plan assumes that this will be achieved
and an annual budget of £1.4m for disrepair is provided for.
• Provision for Bad Debt. The calculation for the provision for bad debt
was revised for 2021/22 to £1.1m and it is assumed that this level of
provision will remain static in the financial plan, but this will be kept under
continual review as universal credit is rolled out further.
• Capital Programme. The revenue contribution to the capital programme
(RCCO) is approximately 25% of the total HRA budget (>£60m). This
contribution, along with external funding and the use of reserves funds an
annual Capital Programme of around £80m. The current plan assumes
that the RCCO will be inflated by CPI and adjusted to reflect the change in
housing stock, in line with the revenue repairs budget. This would mean
that the capital budget would increase above the £81.7m that it has been
set at for several years.
• Additional interest on borrowing charges. The plan reflects increased
costs associated with servicing the HRA’s debt to fund the Council’s
Housing Growth Programme. The costs reflect a plan to deliver the current
Housing growth programme and then 300 homes a year thereafter. The
cost of this investment is in excess of £330m over the life of the plan, and
at the end of 2020/21 £90m had been spent.
• Recharges to the HRA. Recharges to the HRA relate to services
provided from other parts of the Council on behalf of the HRA. These
include, for example, back office services such as HR, Finance, and DIS
as well as front facing services such as the contact centre, hubs,
community safety and environmental cleansing. It is generally assumed
that these are inflated by the 2%.

50

Page 123

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
• Contribution to General Reserve. The level of HRA general reserve is
£6.7m. To provide a sustainable base going forward, and in line with the
general fund strategy, it is planned to target a level of sustainable reserves
that will withstand economic shocks to the HRA. The plan reflects an
assumption that contributions to general reserve are made from 2022/23.
4.9.6

The strategy to mitigate this cumulative deficit on the Housing Revenue
Account is in line with the approach being taken for the rest of the Council.
Options for balancing will include savings that can be generated from
business as usual proposals and those that require more specific service
reviews options to deliver savings.

4.9.7

All areas of HRA spend and income will be considered when finalising the
detail of the 2022/23 budget and a refresh of the position 2022-2027 will be
provided to Members in February 2022.

4.10

Dedicated Schools Grant
Background

4.10.1 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is allocated by the Education and Skills
Funding Agency (ESFA) and is the main source of income for local
authorities’ schools budgets. It consists of four funding blocks: schools, high
needs (special educational needs), early years and central school services
(provided by the Council). The Council is forecast to receive DSG Funding of
£2,623m over the next 5 years and further details are provided in Table 4.15.
4.10.2 Along with many other local authorities, Leeds is currently not receiving the
full allocation of DSG due under the national funding formula, as there is a
cap on some of the funding increases and this has created pressures on the
DSG account. If the cap on gains had not been in place, Leeds would have
been allocated an additional £30.4m of funding between 2018/19 and
2021/22 across the schools block (£9.5m) and high needs block (£20.9m). A
further funding cap of £1.9m will apply in 2022/23 to the high needs block,
based on provisional funding allocations released by the ESFA. Further detail
is provided in the sections that follow.
4.10.3 In accordance with the Education Act, some of the DSG can be retained by
the Council to provide services for schools, though the majority is passed
directly on to schools and other educational settings. Funding arrangements
are reviewed annually, taking into account available funding and priorities set
out with the Best Council Plan and supporting strategies. A number of
funding allocations are agreed following consultation with schools and the
Leeds Schools Forum, a statutory board with some decision making powers.
The high needs budget is however a Council decision and is approved by
Full Council each year.
4.10.4 There is some flexibility within the regulations in how funding is allocated out
to schools and it is also currently possible to move a small proportion of
funding between the different blocks of the DSG to offset overspends,
51

Page 124

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
although this is subject to strict regulations and requires annual consultation
with schools and Schools Forum approval.
Projections
4.10.5 As shown in Table 4.15 below, the schools block and early years block
budgets are expected to balance over the next five years, based on previous
trends and forecast data. Table 4.16 shows the projected cumulative DSG
deficit at the end of each year.
4.10.6 In line with national trends, the key pressure anticipated in the MTFS for
DSG relates to the high needs block, which provides funding in relation to
pupils with special educational needs. The assumptions and risks associated
with the projections for this funding block and plans to address the overspend
are set out in further detail in the sections that follow. There is also a smaller
pressure on the central school services block from 2022/23, due to the
phased reduction in DSG for any historical council expenditure no longer
deemed eligible for funding
4.10.7 Table 4.15 – Dedicated Schools Grant projected income and expenditure
2022/23
£m
Schools Block
DSG Income
Individual Schools Budgets
De-delegated budgets
Growth Fund
Central School Services Block
DSG Income
CSSB Expenditure
Early Years Block
DSG Income
3 and 4 year old entitlement
2 year old entitlement
Other early years provision
High Needs Block
DSG Income
Funding passported to institutions
Commissioned services
Directly Managed by Children & Families
Total DSG Income
Total Expenditure
Total Dedicated Schools Grant overspend

52

Page 125

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

2025/26
£m

2026/27
£m

(329.6)
321.3
4.9
3.4
0.0

(348.4)
340.1
4.9
3.4
0.0

(358.2)
349.8
5.0
3.4
0.0

(365.4)
356.9
5.1
3.4
0.0

(370.3)
361.7
5.2
3.4
0.0

(5.2)
5.3
0.1

(5.2)
5.3
0.1

(5.2)
5.4
0.2

(5.3)
5.5
0.2

(5.3)
5.6
0.3

(57.5)
47.2
7.3
3.0
0.0

(55.3)
45.5
7.0
2.8
0.0

(53.2)
43.7
6.8
2.7
0.0

(51.1)
42.0
6.5
2.6
0.0

(49.2)
40.4
6.3
2.5
0.0

(96.0)
90.8
2.5
5.7
3.0

(103.3)
98.7
2.7
5.8
3.9

(111.4)
107.2
2.9
5.9
4.6

(120.1)
115.4
3.2
6.0
4.5

(129.4)
124.4
3.4
6.1
4.5

(488.3)
491.4

(512.2)
516.2

(528.0)
532.8

(541.9)
546.6

(554.2)
559.0

3.1

4.0

4.8

4.7

4.8

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27

4.10.8 Table 4.16 – Dedicated Schools Grant projected deficit
2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

2025/26
£m

2026/27
£m

DSG balance brought forward
In year deficit (from table above)

6.8
3.1

9.9
4.0

13.9
4.8

18.7
4.7

23.4
4.8

Total deficit on General DSG before further
actions

9.9

13.9

18.7

23.4

28.2

(3.1)

(3.1)

(3.3)

(3.4)

(3.4)

6.8

7.7

9.2

10.5

11.9

Potential additional funding, if Schools Forum
continued to agree a transfer 0.5% of schools block
funding to the high needs block
Potential revised cumulative deficit

Assumptions and risks
National SEND review
4.10.9 The Government announced a Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) Review in 2019, however the outcome of this has now been delayed
three times. The review was intended to improve capacity and support for
families as well as assessing what was behind the continual rise in
Education, Health and Care Plans. The review would then boost outcomes,
improve value for money and address historic underfunding experience by
Leeds and other local authorities. As such, the recommendations of the
SEND Review will have important implications for how support for pupils with
SEND is delivered and funded, and could therefore have a significant impact
on the projections for the high needs block.
Funding Increases
4.10.10 In 2019/20, the Government also announced a three year funding settlement
for the schools and high needs blocks of the DSG, providing a combined
national rise of £7.1bn by 2022/23 compared to 2019/20. Local authority
allocations are released on an annual basis and it is not yet known what
increases may be available beyond 2022/23
4.10.11 Projections in Table 4.15 assume that the minimum funding increases will
follow the same trends as in recent years. If increases were not as high as
expected for the schools and early years blocks this would be matched by a
reduction in funding allocated out to settings.
4.10.12 In relation to the central school services block funding, these projections are
based on the current funding mechanism however the Department for
Education (DfE) has advised there will be a future consultation on the
services this block funds, some services may become traded arrangements
with schools and therefore DSG funding may reduce.

53

Page 126

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.10.13 In relation to high needs, in the past Leeds was significantly underfunded for
and in 2017/18 the high needs block funding for Leeds was 25% lower per
pupil than the national average. Since 2018/19 the Government has been
moving towards a national funding formula to address historical funding
differences. This is currently in a transitional phase and while the funding for
Leeds has increased it is not yet at the full allocation in the national formula.
Leeds still receives less than the national average per pupil for high needs
funding when taking into account all maintained and special school pupils
and ranks 136th out of 150 local authorities for per pupil funding on this
basis.
4.10.14 The figures presented in the table assume an 8% increase in high needs
funding each year, in line with the national minimum in recent years. There is
however a risk that the national increase could be lower.
4.10.15 It is also possible that the high needs funding increase could be higher than
estimated. In 2021/22 Leeds received the maximum 12% increase and for
2022/23 the maximum 11% increase. It is not possible to estimate what
Leeds may be entitled to in future years, or the maximum increase the ESFA
will allow. However to provide some context for the potential impact of
funding increases, for every 1% increase in the high needs allocation there
would be approximately £1m of additional funding received.
Cap on gains
4.10.16 Although funding has increased since the move towards the national funding
formula, some DSG funding increases have been subject to a cap on gains
during the transitional period. Although this cap has been removed from the
schools block from 2020/21 onwards, it is still in place for the high needs
block until at least 2022/23. It is not currently known whether a cap will
continue to be applied to the high needs block beyond 2022/23.
4.10.17 Although Leeds has been receiving the maximum increases allowed under
the cap on gains, it is less than the national funding formula entitlement. If
the cap on gains had not been in place, Leeds would have been allocated an
additional £30.4m of funding between 2018/19 and 2021/22 across the
schools block (£9.5m) and high needs block (£20.9m). A further funding cap
of £1.9m will apply in 2022/23 to the high needs block, based on provisional
funding allocations released by the ESFA. Leeds is one of the 36 local
authorities out of 150 that will continue to have their funding capped in
2022/23.
High needs demand and complexity
4.10.18 In line with the national picture, Leeds has experienced an increase in high
needs demand and complexity in recent years, with this trend expected to
continue. However as noted above there is currently still a cap on funding
increases and to date any additional funding received by Leeds has been
exceeded by increased costs.
54

Page 127

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
4.10.19 The projections in tables 4.15 and 4.16 are based on the current data for
forecast population changes in special educational needs in Leeds,
combined with trend analysis over the past three years. However, there are
risks that increases in demand and complexity could be higher than
projected, particularly in relation to the long term impact of COVID on
learning and deprivation, the effects of which may only become apparent
after a number of years.
Funding paid to high needs settings
4.10.20 The ESFA does not require local authorities to increase the per pupil funding
paid to settings each year, however there is some pressure from the sector
to do this. No decisions have yet been made to amend the funding rates and
the projections are therefore based on existing rates, including any known
inflation.
4.10.21 Places will need to be created to meet future high needs demand, and the
rates payable will vary according to the type of need and setting. As some
future provision is still to be developed, the projections assumes that funding
rates for the increased demand will be in the middle cost band for existing
settings. The modelling will continue to be updated as work continues to
develop capacity for future demand.
Funding transfers between DSG blocks
4.10.22 Since 2017/18 a total of £12.69m has been transferred to the high needs
block from other funding blocks of the DSG, in order to redirect funding to
settings to support special educational needs pressures (£11.04m from the
schools block and £1.65m from the central school services block).
4.10.23 Beyond 2022/23 it is not known whether funding can continue to be moved
between DSG blocks in this way, as the DfE has indicated the ability for local
authorities to do this in future will become more limited.
4.10.24 If funding transfers are still allowed in future, any transfers from the schools
block to the high needs block would require annual consultation with schools
and approval by the Leeds Schools Forum.
4.10.25 Table 4.16 shows the estimated funding available if a transfer of 0.5% of
schools block funding to the high needs block continued. The 0.5% transfer
is in line with the current limit that Schools Forums can agree without further
approval from the Secretary of State.
DSG savings plan
4.10.26 With effect from the end of 2019/20, new provisions were added to the
School and Early Years Finance Regulations which require local authorities
to carry forward any DSG overspends or deficit balances to the following
year. These should be dealt with from future DSG income, rather than being
funded by the Council, unless otherwise authorised by the Secretary of State.
In practice Leeds, along with many local authorities, has historically dealt
55

Page 128

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
with any overspends on DSG in this way. The new regulations however
reinforce that councils should not fund a DSG deficit from the general fund.
4.10.27 However any local authority with an overall deficit on its DSG account, or
whose DSG surplus has substantially reduced during the year, must cooperate with the Department for Education (DfE) in managing that situation.
This includes providing information on plans for managing the DSG account
and meeting with officials from the DfE as and when requested. The
Secretary of State may also impose more specific conditions of grant on
individual local authorities that have an overall deficit on their DSG account,
where he believes that they are not taking sufficient action to address the
situation.
4.10.28 A previous review by Children and Families of the high needs block in 2017
identified a range of options to reduce costs, which were consulted on with
stakeholders and implemented as appropriate at the time. The Children and
Families directorate are carrying out further work to identify a medium-term
plan which looks to bring the high needs block back into balance and
addresses the current DSG deficit, to the extent that this is possible given
any limitations in funding and increases in demand. Additional high needs
provision is already being created in the city and further opportunities to
develop this will be explored, with the intention of improving outcomes while
also reducing costs.
4.11

The Financial Risks

4.11.1 The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of
risk management processes. Not addressing the financial pressures in a
sustainable way is identified as one of the Council’s risks as is the Council’s
financial position going into significant deficit in any one year. Both of these
risks are subject to regular review.
Risks to funding
4.11.2 Even without the ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon the Council’s financial
position, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy makes assumptions in respect
of the level of resources that are receivable through Council Tax, Business
Rates and Government Grant. Any variations from these assumptions has
implications for the level of resources available to the Council.
4.11.3 This Medium-Term Financial Strategy does not provide specifically for the
ongoing impact of COVID-19 after 2021/22. It is assumed that there will not
be a requirement for further lockdowns and therefore the Council will not be
required to incur specific additional expenditure relating to COVID-19. In
addition it is assumed that income realisable from sales, fees and charges
returns to pre-COVID levels. These assumptions are consistent with the
Government’s current level of financial support which assumes that there will
be no ongoing financial impact of COVID after 2021/22. If COVID-19
continues to have an impact upon the Council’s revenue budget, and no
additional Government support is forthcoming, then the impact will need to
56

Page 129

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
be managed within the Council’s approved budget. These assumptions will
be subject to review through the financial management, monitoring and
reporting processes that the Council has in place.
4.11.4 The outcome of the Government’s 2021 Spending Review will be published
in the Autumn followed by the Provisional Local Government Finance
Settlement in December. It is understood that these documents will cover a
three year period and will detail the Government’s spending intentions for
Local Government. Those intentions could be different to the assumptions
contained in this Medium-Term Financial Strategy and any variations will
impact upon the level of resources available to the Council either positively or
negatively.
4.11.5 Over the period up to 2026/27 there remain uncertainties with regard to
Business Rates reform, the Fair Funding Review, reforms to the New Homes
Bonus Scheme and also the Government’s intentions for the future funding of
social care and these could impact upon the assumptions contained in this
document.
4.11.6 The Council’s and City’s economic and fiscal position is clearly impacted
upon by the wider national economic context. The UK’s withdrawal from the
EU could potentially weaken the pound, increase inflation, reduce domestic
and foreign direct investment and impact upon borrowing costs. Conversely
the UK’s exit from the EU could have the opposite effect upon the economy.
What is also unclear is to what extent the UK’s exit from the EU will impact
upon the level of resources available to the Council and the level of demand
for the services that it provides.
Key Risks to cost assumptions
4.11.7 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy contains a number of inherent risks
which include the requirement to implement budget plans, budgets which are
subject to both fluctuating demand and demographic pressures, inflation
being higher than forecast and key income budgets that rely upon the
number of users of a service.
4.11.8 Specifically there are risks that demographic and demand pressures in Adult
Social Care and Children’s Services could be greater than anticipated, that
inflation is higher than that assumed in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy
and that the costs associated with managing the Council’s debt is higher than
budgeted assumptions.
4.11.9 Key risks for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) projections relate mainly to
the high needs block of the DSG, which provides funding in relation to pupils
with special educational needs. Future demand has been estimated based
on trends and forecasts, both for population growth and increases in
complexity of need, however actual demand may vary from these
assumptions and the availability of places may also affect costs. In particular,
the long term impact of COVID-19 on these trends is not yet known. In
addition, funding allocations are confirmed on an annual basis and there is a
57

Page 130

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
risk that actual funding increases will differ from the amounts assumed in the
MTFS. Specifically, funding increases are currently capped, and it is not yet
known how this cap will operate in future years. Lastly, a number of DSG
funding decisions are made by the Leeds Schools Forum, a statutory body of
education representatives from across the city, and there is a risk these
decisions may impact on future DSG pressures.
4.11.10 There are a number of risks that are specific to the Housing Revenue
Account. These include CPI being lower than the percentage figure assumed
in the calculation of the rent increase in each of the years covered by this
Medium-Term Financial Strategy. Every 0.1% variation equates to a
reduction of £0.21m in the level of resources available to support the
services provided to Leeds tenants.
4.11.11 In addition, the position contained in this Strategy makes assumptions
around rent collection rates and tenant arrears. The ongoing impact of
COVID-19 or a second wave will have implications for these assumptions
and ultimately the amount that must be set aside for bad debt provision.
4.11.12 Contained within these assumptions is a targeted reduction in the number
and value of disrepair claims. If this targeted action is not successful, then
there will be a corresponding pressure upon the repairs budget.
Capital risk
4.11.13 One of the main risks in developing and managing the capital programme is
that insufficient resources are available to fund the programme. A number of
measures are in place to ensure that this risk can be managed effectively:
• Monthly updates of capital receipt forecasts prepared, using a risk based
approach, by the Director of City Development;
• Monthly monitoring of overall capital expenditure and resources forecasts
alongside actual contractual commitments;
• Quarterly monitoring of the Council’s VAT partial exemption position to
ensure that full eligibility to VAT reclaimed can be maintained;
• Ensuring written confirmation of external funding is received prior to
contractual commitments being entered into;
• The capital programme includes a central contingency to cater for any
unforeseen circumstances. In addition, individual programmes and
schemes contain a risk provision for unexpected circumstances;
• Compliance with Financial Procedure rules, Financial Regulations and
Contract Procedure Rules to ensure the Council’s position is protected.
4.11.14 The Chief Officer – Financial Services will continue to work with service
directors to ensure that capital schemes are properly developed and that a
58

Page 131

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
rigorous business case process is operated to demonstrate investment is
aligned to Council best plan objectives and will deliver best value.
4.11.15 In managing the overall funding for the programme particular emphasis is
placed on ensuring that contractual commitments are only made when there
is reasonable certainty that the appropriate resources are available.
4.11.16 The Council recognises a number of pressures and development schemes
that bring economic and wider benefits that have implications for the level of
debt. The Council will look to manage these pressures and limit the impact
on debt costs by ensuring where possible that new schemes are fully funded
(either by external resources or departmental prudential borrowing), or are
essential (under health and safety grounds or in order to ensure Council
assets are maintained for continued service provision). A revised approach to
ensuring that new capital schemes are prioritised and injected at two points
in the year has been implemented. This strategy does however allow for
spend to save schemes that are supported by robust business cases or
those of an immediate health and safety nature to be injected throughout the
year.
4.11.17 In funding the requirements of the capital programme through borrowing the
treasury strategy will aim to manage the debt requirement at the lowest
possible cost that is consistent with a strategy to have a stability long term
debt portfolio.
4.11.18 The execution of treasury management strategy and associated risks are
kept under regular review through:
• Monthly reports to the Finance Performance Group;
• Annual reports to Executive Board updating on the Strategy and Outturn
position;
• Quarterly strategy meetings with the Chief Officer-Financial Services and
the Council’s treasury advisors; and
• Regular market, economic and financial instrument updates and access to
real time market information.

59

Page 132

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
5.

Part 5: Financial Assurance
5.1

Assurance

5.1.1

This section of the Strategy details the arrangements that the Chief Officer –
Financial Services has established to provide assurance that, in respect of
the management of public financial resources that the Council has in place
effective and robust arrangements for financial planning, financial control and
other financial management activities. These provide the assurance that the
current arrangements set out below comply with the requirements of the
Chief Finance Officer protocol as set out in Section 5k of the Council’s
constitution.

5.2

Governance Structure

5.2.1

In the context of the terms of reference for the Council’s Corporate
Governance and Audit’s Committee, which is to review the adequacy of
policies and practices to ensure compliance with statutory and other
guidance, the Chief Officer – Financial Services produces an annual report
which provides assurance that the Council has in place effective and robust
arrangements for financial planning, financial control and other financial
management activities.

5.2.2

The role of the Chief Officer – Financial Services, the Section 151 officer, is
critical in ensuring that the financial resources of the Council are
safeguarded. In accordance with CIPFA’s statement on the role of the Chief
Financial Officer in local government, the Chief Officer – Financial Services
reports directly to the Director of Resources; is a member of the Council’s
Leadership Team, attends Executive Board; has advance notice (including
receiving agendas, minutes, reports and related papers) of all relevant
meetings of the Authority; has the right to attend any meeting of the
Authority; and has sufficient resources to enable them to address any
matters concerning their Section 151 functions.

5.2.3

The Budget Accountability Framework, approved in October 2014 and
amended in March 2015, sets out how the Council manages its budget. The
framework sets out these key roles, the way in which they inter-relate and
how budget management accountability is exercised and evidenced.

5.2.4

The revenue budget principles, approved by Executive Board in July 2019,
support the budget process and need to be complied with in conjunction with
compliance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, the Budget
Management Accountability Framework and detailed guidelines provided for
setting budgets. The capital programme principles have been developed to
enable focus on the purposes of the Capital Programme and to seek
agreement for the use of limited resources.

60

Page 133

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
5.2.5

The Chief Officer – Financial Services, as Section 151 officer, is responsible
for systems of financial control and, as a part of this system of control,
Financial Regulations provide a framework for managing the Council’s
financial affairs. This system of control ensures that the financial transactions
of the Council are recorded as soon as, and as accurately as, reasonably
practicable, they enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and
fraud and ensure that risk is appropriately managed.

5.2.6

The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) set out the key
responsibilities and actions that Council staff must follow when undertaking
procurements. They support staff to meet legislative requirements and to
meet the Council’s ambitions for procurement, the Council’s procurement
strategy, and related policies and procedures. They also support staff to
deliver effective procurement.

5.2.7

A report received at July 2020’s Corporate Governance and Executive Board
detailed the process the Council must follow for the submission of an
emergency budget and provides assurance that the proposed measures
would be both agreed by Council’s Executive Board and consulted upon prior
to Full Council consideration of the proposals.

5.2.8

The Council has tried and trusted arrangements for treasury management
which comply with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management and
Prudential Code. An annual Treasury Management Governance Report
which reports on the robustness of these arrangements is received at the
Council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.

5.3

Internal Audit and Systems of Control

5.3.1

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards outline that a professional,
independent and objective internal audit service is one of the key elements of
good governance, as recognised throughout the UK public sector. On behalf
of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee and the Section 151
Officer, Internal Audit acts as an independent, objective assurance and
consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Council’s
operations. The work of Internal Audit contributes to Leeds City Council
achieving its key priorities by helping to promote a secure and robust internal
control environment, which enables a focus on accomplishing Best Council
Plan objectives in an efficient and effective way. The independent check and
challenge provided by Internal Audit provides an important source of
assurance for the Section 151 Officer in exercising statutory responsibility for
the financial administration of the Council.

5.3.2

Each financial year, a risk based Internal Audit Plan is put together
incorporating a review of information from a range of sources including
strategic plans and risk registers. The Internal Audit Plan is designed to
promote the effective and efficient use of resources across the organisation
and is subject to constant review throughout the financial year to ensure that
coverage is prioritised and directed towards the areas of highest risk. This
61

Page 134

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
ensures that audit and consultancy work is aligned with new projects,
emerging risks and shifting medium term priorities.
5.3.3

The challenging financial climate that provides the backdrop for the MediumTerm Financial Strategy underlines the importance of effective financial
control and resilience. The Internal Audit Plan includes annual reviews of the
council’s key financial systems, providing assurance that the financial
systems that are fundamental to the Council’s operations remain effective
and work well in practice.

5.3.4

Internal audit coverage is spread across directorates and risk areas, ensuring
that there is a balance between breadth (taking a broad look at governance
and risk management) and depth (drilling down into specific areas where
internal audit can provide a valuable insight). The reviews undertaken
throughout the year cover a range of functions including finance and
procurement. The achievement of value for money is a primary consideration
throughout each piece of Internal Audit work, providing valuable assurance
on the effective use of the Council’s resources.

5.3.5

Each piece of audit work results in an audit report that provides, where
appropriate, an assurance opinion along with highlighting areas for
improvement and recommended actions to address the identified risks. A
follow up audit is undertaken to provide assurance on the actions
implemented for all reviews that have resulted in limited or no assurance
opinions. This helps to contribute to a culture that is geared towards
continual improvement.

5.3.6

Leeds City Council is committed to the highest standards of openness,
probity and accountability. To underpin this commitment, the Council takes a
zero tolerance approach to fraud and corruption and is dedicated to ensuring
that the organisation operates within a control environment that seeks to
prevent, detect and take action against fraud and corruption. As custodians
of the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption policy framework and owners of the
fraud and corruption risk, Internal Audit adopts an overarching responsibility
for reviewing the Council’s approach to preventing and detecting fraud. This
is fundamental to safeguarding financial resources at a time when it is vitally
important to make every pound go further.

5.4

Financial Assurance and Resilience

5.4.1

The Council has a proven and comprehensive approach to the development
of its Medium-Term Financial Strategy, its annual budget setting and the
identification of savings plans. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy covers a
five year period and incorporates the Council’s capital strategy. This MediumTerm Financial Strategy recognises the requirement for the Council’s
revenue budget to become more financially resilient and sustainable whilst at
the same time reducing the risks associated with funding recurring revenue
through mechanisms such as capital receipts and capitalisation.

62

Page 135

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
5.4.2

Budget management and monitoring is a continuous process which operates
at a number of levels throughout the Council. The Council’s budget
accountability framework clearly articulates roles and responsibilities and
aligns financial accountability within service decision making. Financial
monitoring is undertaken on a risk based approach with monthly budget
monitoring reports being received at Directorate leadership teams, Executive
Board and respective Scrutiny Committees.

5.4.3

Arrangements for managing the capital programme include the requirement
to submit rigorous business cases for new capital schemes funded from
borrowing and that appropriate measures are in place to ensure that
sufficient resources are available to fund the capital programme.

5.4.4

A combination of CIPFA’s code and Government guidance require a local
authority to produce a Capital and Investment Strategy. The capital element
of the Strategy sets out the principles that underpin the Council’s Capital
Programme and as such how it supports the corporate priorities and
objectives. The Strategy sets the framework for all aspects of the Council’s
capital expenditure and investment decisions. It supports strategic planning,
asset management and robust option appraisal. The Investment Strategy
covers the Council’s approach to non-treasury investment decisions.
Treasury investment decisions are already contained within the Treasury
Management Policy Statement that is presented as part of the annual
Treasury Management report.

5.4.5

External Audit provides independent assurance on the Council’s accounts
and accounting practice and that there are appropriate controls around the
key financial systems. In addition they provide independent assurance to
ensure value to money is being achieved and Grant Thornton’s 2019/20
Annual Audit letter issued a qualified ‘except for’ value for money conclusion
because our work identified weaknesses in the level of General Fund
Reserves to deal with significant unforeseen circumstances resulting from
the Council’s arrangements for financial management. Except for this matter,
Grant Thornton concluded, the Council had “proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources”.

5.4.6

Internal Audit continues to provide assurance to Members that all of the key
core financial systems and processes are robust and operating effectively.

5.4.7

The Corporate Financial Integrity Forum, which is an officer forum, meets
each month and has a key role within the financial control environment since
its function is to help ensure that there are appropriate procedures and
operations in place to help ensure the continued integrity of the Council’s
financial accounts.

5.4.8

In October 2019 CIPFA published the Financial Management Code. The
Code, which is designed to support good practice in financial management
and to assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability,
has been introduced following concerns about fundamental weaknesses in
financial management particularly in relation to organisations that may be
63

Page 136

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
unable to maintain services in the future. The Code itself contains a series of
financial management standards for which compliance is required if a local
authority is to meet the minimum standards of financial management
acceptable to meet fiduciary duties to taxpayers, customers and lenders.
Local authorities are required to apply the requirements of the Financial
Management Code with effect from 1st April 2021. Adoption of the Code
reinforces the Council’s budget principles which provide a framework for
managing the revenue and capital budgets. These principles were adopted
by the Council in July 2019.
5.4.9

Implementation of the Code complements the Council’s Statutory Financial
Officer’s statement, which is required under the 2003 Local Government Act,
on the adequacy of reserves as a part of the annual budget setting process.

5.5

Robustness of the Budget

5.5.1

The Local Government Act (Part II) 2003 places a requirement upon the
Council’s statutory officer (the Chief Officer – Financial Services) in Leeds to
report to Members on the robustness of the budget estimates and the
adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

5.5.2

In considering the robustness of any estimates, the following criteria need to
be considered:
• The reasonableness of provisions for inflationary pressures.
• The extent to which known trends and pressures have been provided for.
• The achievability of changes built into the budget.
• The realism of income targets.
• The alignment of resources with the Council’s service and organisational
priorities.
• A review of the major risks associated with the budget.
• The availability of un-earmarked reserves to meet unforeseen cost
pressures.
• The strength of the financial management function and reporting
arrangements.

5.5.3

In coming to a view as to the robustness of the budgets being approved in
any of the years covered by this Medium-Term Financial Strategy the Chief
Officer – Financial Services will need to take into account the following
issues:
• Detailed estimates were prepared by directorates in accordance with
principles laid down by the Chief Officer – Financial Services based upon
64

Page 137

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
the current agreed level of service. Service changes are separately
identified, and plans are in place for them to be managed.
• The estimate submission has been subject to rigorous review throughout
the budget process both in terms of reasonableness and adequacy. This
process takes account of previous and current spending patterns in terms
of base spending plans and the reasonableness and achievability of
additional spending to meet increasing or new service pressures. This is a
thorough process involving both financial and non-financial senior
managers throughout the Council.
• Financial pressures experienced in the previous financial year are
recognised in the following year’s budget.
• As part of the budget process, directorates undertook a risk assessment of
their key budgets, and provided a summary of major risks within the
directorate budget documents. All directorate budgets contain efficiencies,
income generation and service reviews which will require actions to deliver
and any delay in taking decisions may have significant financial
implications. Whilst the level of risk within the budget was considered
manageable on the understanding that key decisions are taken and that
where identified savings are not delivered alternative savings options will
be needed.
• In order to address the estimated budget gaps identified in the MediumTerm Financial Strategy the Council has established a “Financial
Challenge” programme of service reviews. This cross council group
approach provides a high support, co-ordinated and consistent approach
to the identification of robust, realistic and deliverable budget savings
proposals.
• The same group has oversight over the budget savings programme.
Through this robust and accountable approach any variations to budgeted
assumptions can be readily identified and addressed. Where appropriate,
and in accordance with the Council’s adopted budget principles,
alternative proposals will be identified to ensure that a balanced budget
position can be delivered over the period covered by this Medium-Term
Financial Strategy. Progress against the delivery of these targeted savings
will be included in the monthly Financial Health reporting to this Board.
• In recognition of the financial challenge the Council faced in 2021/22 from
an unprecedented event the Council established a Strategic Contingency
Reserve in 2020/21 which will be used to fund future unforeseen budget
pressures and to ensure the Council becoming more financially resilient. In
addition, two specific reserves were established as part of these proposals
to deal with variations in assumptions with regard to the ongoing impact of
COVID-19 and energy costs in 2021/22.
• In addition to specific directorate/service risks, the collection of council tax
and the generation of business rate yields are two key risks which need to
be closely monitored.
• Where the budget assumes the generation of additional capital receipts
from property and land sales which are utilised to offset PFI liabilities,
65

Page 138

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
repay MRP and fund redundancy payments, the timing of the delivery of
these receipts needs to be closely monitored and contingency actions
identified should there be any slippage to budgeted assumptions.
• Under the Business Rates Retention Scheme, the Council’s local share of
business rates is exposed to risks both from collection and from reductions
in rateable values.
• Business rates income continues to be a significant risk, however, as is
also the case for council tax, any losses greater than those assumed in
setting the budget will materialise through a collection fund and will not
impact in the current year, although this will be an issue in future financial
years.
• The Council’s financial controls are set out in the Council’s financial
regulations as described in the previous section. These provide a
significant degree of assurance as to the strength of financial management
and control arrangements throughout the Council. The Council has a wellestablished framework for financial reporting at directorate and corporate
levels. Each month Executive Board receives a risk-based financial health
report from each directorate and action plans are utilised to manage and
minimise any significant variations to approved budgets.
• In July 2019 Executive Board agreed the adoption of principles which were
developed to support both the determination and management of the
revenue budget. Adoption of these principles results in a more robust and
accountable approach to budget management which closely aligns itself
with the principles set out in CIPFA’s Financial Management Code which
was fully implemented by the start of the 2021/22 financial year.
5.5.4

In determining whether a budget is robust and that the level of reserves is
adequate in any of the financial years covered by the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy, the Chief Officer – Financial Services will consider that a proposed
budget is robust and that the level of reserves are adequate when:
• Directors and other budget holders accept their budget responsibilities and
subsequent accountability.
• The level of reserves is in line with the risk based reserves strategy, but
their enhancement will be a prime consideration for the use of any
fortuitous in-year savings. As such, this Medium-Term Financial Strategy
provides for further contributions to the Council’s reserves.
• Risk based budget monitoring and scrutiny arrangements are in place
which include arrangements for the identification of remedial action.
• The budgets which contain a number of challenging targets and other
actions should be clearly identified and as such are at this time considered
reasonable and achievable.
• Budget risks are identified and recorded and will be subject to focused
control and management.

66

Page 139

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
• For each of the financial years covered by the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy that Directorates have in place budget action plans which set out
how they will deal with variations during the year.
• There is a clear understanding of the duties of the Council’s statutory
financial officer and that the service implications of these being exercised
are fully understood by Members and senior management alike.
5.5.5

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact upon the
Council’s financial position. Whilst the impact of the pandemic could not have
been foreseen the Council’s Executive Board received a series of reports in
2020/21 detailing the financial impact of COVID-19 and the actions being
taken to achieve a balanced budget position. Grant Thornton, the Council’s
external auditors, were also kept up to date as to the actions being taken by
the Council and were “fully supportive of the measures Leeds City Council
are taking to help bring the Council’s finances back into balance and comply
with statutory duties.”

5.5.6

As detailed in this Medium-Term Financial Strategy, the ongoing impact of
COVID-19 has not been factored into the Council’s financial assumptions for
the period 2022/23- 2026/27. It is assumed that there will be not be a
requirement for further lockdowns and therefore the Council will not be
required to incur specific additional expenditure relating to COVID-19. In
addition it is assumed that income realisable from sales, fees and charges
returns to pre-COVID levels. These assumptions are consistent with the
Government’s current level of financial support which assumes that there will
be no ongoing financial impact of COVID after 2021/22.

5.5.7

The statement by the Chief Officer – Financial Services on the robustness of
the 2022/23 budget, which will be received at Full Council in February 2022,
will reflect that, if COVID-19 continues to have an impact upon the Council’s
revenue budget and no additional Government support is forthcoming, then
the impact will need to be managed within the Council’s approved budgets.

5.6

Level of Reserves and Balances

5.6.1

Under the 2003 Local Government Act, the Council’s Statutory Financial
Officer is required to make a statement to Council on the adequacy of
reserves as a part of the annual budget setting process. It is also good
practice for the Authority to have a policy on the level of its general reserve
and to ensure that it is monitored and maintained.

5.6.2

The purposes of the general reserve policy are to help longer-term financial
stability and mitigate the potential impact of future events or developments
which may cause financial difficulty. General and useable reserves are a key
measure of the financial resilience of the Council, allowing the Authority to
address unexpected and unplanned pressures.

5.6.3

The general reserve policy encompasses an assessment of financial risks
both within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and also in the annual
budget. These risks should include corporate/organisation wide risks and
67

Page 140

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
also specific risks within individual directorate and service budgets. This
analysis of risks should identify areas of the budget which may be uncertain
and a quantification of each “at risk” element. This will represent the scale of
any potential overspend or income shortfall and will not necessarily represent
the whole of a particular budget heading. Each assessed risk will then be
rated and scored in terms of impact and probability.
5.6.4

Whilst the Council maintains a robust approach towards its management of
risk, and especially in the determination of the level of reserves that it
maintains, it is recognised that our reserves are lower than those of other
local authorities of a similar size. However, as detailed in this Medium-Term
Financial Strategy the Council has made provision to address this position
while having minimum impact on front line services.

5.6.5

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy recognises the requirement to keep the
level of the Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are adequate
to meet the identified risks. Grant Thornton’s Annual Audit Letter for the year
ended 31st March 2020 noted that “the Council should consider the adequacy
of its reserves going forward and the appropriate level of balances which
should be linked to the approved MTFS and which should be reviewed each
year.”

5.6.6

In accordance with this recommendation this Medium-Term Financial
Strategy assumes that reserves will be at £31.7m in 2021/22 and 2022/23
and will rise to £43.7m by 2026/27. The indicative general reserve levels
from 2021/22 to 2026/27 are set out in Table 5.1 below. This position
assumes that a balanced budget position is delivered in 2021/22.
Table 5.1 Level of General Reserve
General Reserve
Brought Forward 1st April
Budgeted Contribution/(Use) in-year
Repayment of Treasury Management Savings
Additional Contribution in-year
Carried Forward 31st March

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
27.8
31.7
31.7
34.7
37.7
40.7
4.0
0.0
3.0
3.0
3.0
3.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
31.7
31.7
34.7
37.7
40.7
43.7

5.6.7

Whilst the Council continues to maintain a robust approach towards its
management of risk and especially in the determination of the level of
reserves that it maintains, it is recognised that levels of reserves are lower
than those of other comparable local authorities. In addition, whilst the
funding position continues to remain challenging and the impact of COVID-19
continues to impact upon the Council’s financial position, we will continue to
keep the Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are adequate to
deal with the identified level of risks.

5.7

Revenue and Capital Principles

5.7.1

The revenue budget principles, which were agreed by Executive Board in
July 2019, have been developed to support the budget process and need to
68

Page 141

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
be complied with in conjunction with compliance with the Council’s Budget
and Policy Framework, the Budget Management Accountability Framework
and detailed guidelines provided for setting the budget. The budget position
is based on a number of significant subjective assumptions. To enable the
Council to react to changes in these assumptions in a timely fashion, these
principles should be adhered to, which should support a balanced budget
being set. The current financial year will also have a significant impact on
future years budgets being set and therefore a number of the principles
relate to the current financial year.
5.7.2

The capital principles have been developed to enable the Capital Programme
resource to achieve the priorities within the Best Council plan and will
support the development and monitoring of the Capital Programme.

5.7.3

The revenue budget principles support the determination of future years
budgets and detailed guidance is provided in respect of key assumptions
such as incorporating the full year effect of previous year’s savings
proposals; consequences of the capital programme; taking account of
Council decisions; how to prepare salary budgets and; how to deal with
external funding. In addition, the principles detail the processes involved
regarding the determination and agreement of budget savings proposals and
proposals in respect of discretionary fees and charges.

5.7.4

In respect of the current financial year a number of key principles deal with
contributions to non-ring fenced reserves; substituting grants for general
funding; the carry forward of budget into the following financial year; the
requirement for Directors to deliver a balanced budget; the requirement to
manage budget pressures with no overspend in budgets unless there is a
safeguarding/statutory need and; the requirement to manage a required
reduction in expenditure where a revenue grant ceases in year.

5.7.5

The capital principles have been developed to enable focus on the purpose
of the capital programme and to seek agreement for the use of limited
resources. These principles cover the requirement for the Programme to be
compiled at project level for a 10 year period; the profiling of capital
expenditure into the correct financial years and; when a capital scheme has
been completed the business case and outcomes reviewed to ensure that
the targeted outcomes have been achieved.

5.7.6

The capital principles also cover the utilisation of capital resources and the
approval process for capital projects. These principles also contain the
requirement for the revenue implications of the proposed scheme to be
clearly identified and include ongoing operating costs and lifecycle costs as
well as the cost of any prudential borrowing including MRP and interest.

5.7.7

Adoption of these revenue and capital principles results in a more robust and
accountable approach to budget management which closely aligns itself with
the principles that are set out in CIPFA’s Financial Management Code, which
all local authorities were required to fully implement by the 1st April 2021.
69

Page 142

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
5.8

Assurance Statement

5.8.1

The Head of Audit is required to deliver an annual internal audit opinion and
report that can be used by the Council to inform its Annual Governance
Statement, which is reported to Councillors and must accompany the
statement of accounts.

5.8.2

The annual internal audit opinion is a culmination of the work performed by
Internal Audit during the course of the year and provides the Head of Audit’s
opinion based on an objective assessment of the framework of governance,
risk management and control.

5.8.3

Effective governance, risk management and control arrangements are key to
enabling the Council to achieve its strategic outcomes and provide services
in a cost effective way. The continual review of these arrangements and the
annual assurances delivered by the Head of Audit help to provide confidence
in the conditions that exist to support the successful delivery of the MediumTerm Financial Strategy.

70

Page 143

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
6.

Part 6: Financial Strategies
6.1

Financial Strategies

6.1.1

The purpose of the Council’s financial strategies are that they provide the
framework within which the Council will plan, procure, prioritise and manage
its capital investment and financing decisions in support of the delivery of the
council’s priorities which are set out in the Best Council Plan 2020-2025 and
delivered though this Medium-Term Financial Strategy.

6.2

Capital Strategies

6.2.1

The requirement for a Capital Strategy is included in the revised Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2017. The Prudential Code
was developed by CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy) as a professional Code to support Councils in taking their
decisions. Councils are required by regulation to have regard to the
Prudential Code when carrying out their duties under Part 1 of the Local
government Act 2003

6.2.2

The Capital Strategy sets out the principles that support the Council’s 10
year capital programme and as such how it supports corporate priorities and
objectives.

6.2.3

The Capital Strategy sets the framework for all aspects of the Council’s
capital expenditure and capital investment decisions. It will support strategic
planning, asset management and proper option appraisal.

6.2.4

The keys aims of the Strategy are to:
• Ensure that decisions are made within the framework, CIPFA codes and
statutory legislation;
• Prioritise and deploy capital resources in line with corporate priorities;
• Support service plans;
• Address major infrastructure investment;
• Support the review of the Council’s estate and provide investment to
ensure that it is fit for purpose;
• Enable investment on a spend to save basis;
• Create sustainable income streams through capital investment;
• Support the revenue budget and assist in the delivery of budget decisions;
• Support economic growth and outcomes; and
• Attract investment in the City through third party, grants or private matched
funding.
71

Page 144

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
6.2.5

Capital investment decisions should be undertaken with regard to:
• Service objectives;
• Proper stewardship of assets;
• Value for money – through option appraisal;
• Prudence and sustainability;
• Affordability; and
• Practicality – achievability of the forward plan

6.2.6

The Investment Strategy brings together information on all of the council’s
investment activities, covering its Treasury Management investments, other
service related loans and investments and non-financial investment activity
such as the acquisition of investment properties.

6.2.7

The aim of the strategy is to enhance transparency and accountability by
presenting a clear picture of all of the council’s investment activity, including
the contribution made by investments to the council’s objectives, the
decision-making process for entering into investments, the exposure to risk,
and the risk management arrangements in place

6.3

Procurement Strategy

6.3.1

The Procurement Strategy 2019 to 2024 was updated in June 2019 and
detailed on the Council web site. The Council currently spends approximately
£800 million externally each year, across revenue, capital, HRA and grant
monies. The purpose of the procurement strategy is to ensure that the
Council continually seeks to improve outcomes and deliver value for money
from the goods, works and services that it buys. The Procurement Strategy is
a “living” document which is kept under constant review, and annual
procurement assurance reports are provided to Corporate Governance and
Audit Committee

6.3.2

The Strategy identifies the following 5 key areas for procurement:
• Value for money and efficiency. The strategy ensures that the Council
gets maximum value from its contracts through best value and innovative
procurement practice by adopting a consistent corporate approach to
commissioning; adopting a clearly identified savings strategy and
continuing to use a category management approach to procurement.
• Governance. We will ensure compliance with the Contract Procedure
Rules, the Council’s Constitution and public procurement law (including
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015) in order to manage procurement
risk and to comply with legal requirements. Having good governance
means our contracts are procured properly thereby ensuring we are
testing the market with clear terms and conditions and avoiding the cost of
legal challenge from failing to abide by the procurement rules.
• Social value and Living Wage. We will seek to improve economic, social
and environmental wellbeing from our contracts, over and above the
72

Page 145

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
delivery of the services directly required. By including social value
outcomes in our contracts and encouraging our contractors to pay the
Foundation Living Wage we ensure that we are making every £ spent go
further.
• Commercial opportunities. In many cases market development is led by
the commissioning teams within directorates and, in collaboration with
Procurement and Commercial Services, those teams will continue to seek
new ways to develop and create commercial opportunities, not just by
promoting revenue generation, but by looking at how we engage with, and
influence, the marketplace and potential suppliers in order to drive
innovation and develop new ideas around service delivery.
• Supplier engagement and contract management: Within the Council
responsibility for contract management lies firmly within directorates and
this will continue. All directorates manage their strategic supplier
relationships through continuous engagement with their suppliers and
ensure effective management of all contracts from beginning to end in
order to control costs, obtain the quality outcomes and performance levels
set out in the contract (including in respect of social value), and minimise
the level of risk. By engaging with suppliers and undertaking robust
contract management we ensure that the council gets what it is are paying
for.
6.4

Treasury Management Strategy

6.4.1

The Treasury Management Strategy seeks to manage the long term
borrowings of the council and the short term cash flow resources of the
council consistent with maximising opportunities for delivering value
consistent with the low risk appetitive of the Council. The strategy also sets
out how it will fund the requirements of the capital programme. Specific
objects are to:
• Reduce the cost of debt management;
• Ensure that the management of the HRA and general fund is treated
equally and new accounting principles are examined to provide benefits
where possible;
• Effect funding at the lowest point of the interest rate cycle;
• Maintain a flexible approach regarding any financial matters that may
affect the Authority;
• Keep under constant review advice on investment/repayment of debt
policy;
• Maintain a prudent level of volatility dependent upon interest rates;
• Set upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its borrowings and
to maintain a reasonable debt maturity profile;
73

Page 146

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
• Specifically ensure that Leeds City Council does not breach Prudential
Limits passed by the Council;
• Ensure that the Treasury Management Policy Statement is fully adhered to
in every aspect.
6.4.2

In accordance with CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management fully
revised Fourth Edition 2017 the Council has adopted, as part of their
standing orders and financial procedures, the following clauses:
• This Authority will create and maintain, as the cornerstones of effective
treasury management:
o A Treasury Management Policy Statement (TMPS), stating the policies
and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities
o Suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s), setting out the way the
organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities. A full set of
TMP’s are maintained on the Treasury Section
• The Executive Board will receive reports on its treasury management
policies, practices and activities, including, as a minimum, an annual
strategy and plan in advance of the year, a half year update and an annual
report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMP’s.
• This organisation delegates responsibility for the implementation and
monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the
Executive Board, and for the execution and administration of treasury
management decisions to the Chief Finance Officer, who will act in
accordance with the organisation's TMPS and Treasury Management
Practices and, if he/she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA's Standard of
Professional Practice on Treasury Management.
• This organisation nominates the Corporate Governance and Audit
committee to be responsible for ensuring the effective scrutiny of the
treasury management strategy and Policies
• The 2017 Codes are currently being revised by CIPFA, mainly in relation
to the commercialisation agenda and borrowing primarily for investment
for yield. Updates are expected to be issued in December 2021 and once
these are published they will be reviewed and appropriate changes made
to the Governance and Operation of the Treasury Management function
as necessary. It is anticipated that any changes will be in place for the
setting of the Annual Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23

74

Page 147

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2026/27
6.4.3

Whilst this Treasury management Policy Statement outlines the procedures
and considerations for the treasury function as a whole, requiring revision
occasionally, the Treasury Management Strategy sets out the specific
expected treasury activities for the forthcoming financial year. The strategy
is submitted to the Executive Board for approval before the commencement
of each financial year.

6.4.4

The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy involves
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light
of the anticipated movement in both fixed and shorter term variable interest
rates (for instance, the Council may postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates
are falling).

6.4.5

The Treasury Management Strategy is also concerned with the following
elements:
• the prospects for interest rates;
• the limits placed by Council on treasury activities (per this TMPS);
• the expected borrowing strategy (including forward start borrowing);
• the temporary investment strategy;
• the expectations for debt rescheduling.

6.4.6

The Treasury Management Strategy will establish the expected move in
interest rates against alternatives (using published forecasts where
applicable) and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios.

75

Page 148

Annexe A

BEST COUNCIL PLAN 2020 – 2025

BEST COUNCIL PLAN
2020 to 2025

•

Tackling poverty and
reducing inequalities
with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy,
Health & Wellbeing Strategy
and Climate Emergency
declaration as key drivers

Leeds Best
Council Ambition

Page 149

Strong place
leadership

•

Effective
partnership
working and
commissioning

•

•

Clear focus on
delivering high
quality, locally
integrated
public services

Ensuring support for the health and social care
sector to respond to and recover from COVID-19
• Reducing health inequalities and improving
the health of the poorest the fastest
• Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles
• Supporting self-care, with more
people managing their own health
conditions in the community
Supporting the city’s economic
• Working as a system to
recovery from COVID-19 and building
ensure people get the
longer-term economic resilience
right care, from the right
Supporting growth and investment,
people in the right place
helping everyone benefit from the
economy to their full potential
Supporting businesses and residents
to improve skills, helping people into
work and into better jobs
Targeting interventions to tackle
poverty in priority neighbourhoods
Tackling low pay

Inclusive
Growth

•
•
•

An Efficient,
Enterprising
and Healthy
Organisation
•

•
•

Sustainable
Infrastructure
•
•
•

•
•

Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

Improving transport connections,
safety, reliability and affordability
Improving air quality, reducing
pollution and noise
Improving the resilience of the city’s
infrastructure and the natural environment,
reducing flooding and other risks
from future climate change
Promoting a more competitive,
less wasteful, more resource
efficient, low carbon economy
Strengthening digital and
data ‘Smart City’
infrastructure and
increasing digital
inclusion

with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Health & Wellbeing
Strategy and Climate Emergency declaration as key drivers
and locality working as a core principle

ChildFriendly City

Safe, Strong
Communities
•
•
•
•
•

Keeping people safe from harm,
protecting the most vulnerable
Helping people out of financial hardship
Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
Being responsive to local needs,
building thriving, resilient
communities
Promoting community
respect and resilience

•

Ongoing engagement with
communities and individuals

•

Making the best use of
our resources:
Our people
Our money
Our digital capabilities
Our land and buildings
Our evidence and insights
Our communications

BEING OPEN, HONEST AND TRUSTED

BEST CITY
PRIORITIES

•
•

•

Housing of the right quality,
type, tenure and affordability
in the right places
Minimising homelessness
through a greater focus on
prevention
Providing the right housing
options to support older and
vulnerable residents to remain
active and independent
Improving energy performance
in homes, reducing fuel poverty

•

What we and
our partners are
focusing on to
improve outcomes

•
•

Age-Friendly Leeds

Housing
•

•

Supporting families to give
children the best start in life
Improving educational attainment and
closing achievement gaps for children
and young people vulnerable to poor
learning outcomes
Improving social, emotional and mental
health and wellbeing
Helping young people into adulthood, to
develop life skills and be ready for work
Enhancing the city now and
for future generations

Leeds Best
City Ambition
A Strong Economy and
a Compassionate City

•

Asset-based
approaches,
supporting the people
and places most in need

-

Health & Wellbeing

•
•
•

Culture
•
•

•

•

Growing the cultural
and creative sector
Ensuring that culture
can be created
and experienced
by anyone
Enhancing the image
of Leeds through
major events and
attractions

Developing accessible and affordable transport
options which help older people get around
Making Leeds’ public spaces and buildings
accessible, safe, clean and welcoming
Promoting opportunities for older people to
be healthy, active, included and respected
Helping older people participate in the
city through fulfilling employment
and learning opportunities

OUTCOMES
We want everyone in Leeds to…
•

Be safe and feel safe

•

Enjoy happy, healthy, active lives

•

Live in good quality, affordable homes
in clean and well cared for places

•

Do well at all levels of learning and
have the skills they need for life

•

Enjoy greater access to green spaces,
leisure and the arts

•

Earn enough to support themselves
and their families

•

Move easily around a well-planned,
sustainable city that’s working towards
being carbon neutral

•

Live with dignity and stay independent
for as long as possible

OUR VALUES
Underpinning everything we
do and how we work

T R E AT I N G P E O P L E FA I R LY

S P E N D I N G M O N E Y W I S E LY

WORKING AS A TEAM FOR LEEDS

WORKING WITH ALL COMMUNITIES

Annexe B

FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020 – 2025
HELPING DELIVER THE
BEST COUNCIL PLAN
Our Financial Strategy is helping
us become more financially
sustainable and resilient,
safeguarding public funds whilst
achieving value for money. This
will ensure we are well placed to
respond to the significant funding
uncertainties and pressures we face
and to target our money to where it
can make the most difference.

Page 150

GY
GY
E
E
T
AT
RM RA
R
g
E
T
T ST
in
S
r
e
UM IAL
NG
I
iv
I
l
C
D
L
e
L
E
d
M NAN
RO
e
I
r
R
F
a
e
EA
Y
w
5

Leeds Best Council Ambition

Leeds Best City Ambition

An Efficient, Enterprising
and Healthy Organisation

A Strong Economy and
a Compassionate City

T ING L
E
G OR TA
D
I
T
SE
A
BU ONI AP
C
C
S G
M D
NG
s
I
S
N
N
D
E
I
m
i
A
R
U
N
SI ITO
ra
T
CL AL
U
u
N
N
T
B ON
I
o
E
T API ES
M
e
E
M
P
v
M
ie
DG D C HE
LO
h
E
U
C
N
B
ac
EV
R EA E S
D
o
A
t
E NU MM
SE
gy
A
e
3 Y VE RA
t
C
ra
S
RE OG
t
S
S
E
PR
IN
al
i
S
c
BU
an

in
F
r
ou

Assurances
• Section 151
responsibilities

Financial
Strategies
• Capital Strategy
• Procurement Strategy
• Treasury Strategy
• Risk Management
Strategy

Leadership
• Strategic direction and
vision
• Corporate management
– resource planning
• Political and financial
awareness

• Internal Audit Plan
• Assurance statement
• External Audit

Statute and
Governance
• Section 114 of the Local
Government Act 1988 –
England and Wales
• Section 25 of the 2003
Local Government Act
• Council’s Constitution
• Financial Regulations
• Contract Procedure Rules
• Budget and Policy
Framework

• Financial Resilience Index

• Scheme of Delegation

• Robustness of the Budget

• Governance structure

• Public sector partnership
• Continuous improvement
/ innovation

• Level of reserves
and balances

• Financially resilient
and sustainable
• Providing value for money

• Safeguarding
public money

OF
E
UR NTS
S
O U
CL CO
AC

• External inspections

• CIPFA Financial
Resilience Index

-

Full Council
Executive Board
Scrutiny Committees
Corporate Governance
and Audit Committee

Highly Skilled
Workforce

Digital
and Data

• Leadership Team

• Accounting and financial
information systems
- Accessible
- Complete
- Comprehensive
- Consistent
- Accurate record of
the council’s financial
transactions

T R E AT I N G P E O P L E FA I R LY

S P E N D I N G M O N E Y W I S E LY

• Operational Leadership
• Chief Finance Officer –
professionally qualified
• Financial Services –
highly skilled workforce
- Business Partners
• Accountable Chief
Officers

• Reporting and
monitoring

• Accountable budget
holders

• Benchmarking

• Adhering to:

• Data analytics
• Integrity of data
• Self-sufficiency

OUR VALUES
Underpinning everything we
do and how we work

BEING OPEN, HONEST AND TRUSTED

R AIMS

• Target
resources
to meet
our priorities

• Section 151 of the Local
Government Act 1972 –
England and Wales

w
Ho

OU

WORKING AS A TEAM FOR LEEDS

- Professional
Standards
- Financial
Management Code
- Budget Management
Accountability
Framework
- Capital and Revenue
Principles

WORKING WITH ALL COMMUNITIES

Annexe C

ATION
S
I
N
A
RG
O
STRENGTHENING OUR
ST
SHIP • Work wel
R
E
D
A
BE
l
LE EMENT
and c with p
T
CULTURE AND VALUES
a
o
S
G
BE MANAeaders and managers are uncillorsrtners
cap
& All our l
• D
als
abl
s
Being Open Honest and Trusted
i
e
o
,
a
co
r
th
p
n
BEST
fid
bu ing
ap
We will:
en
ild s
t
il ty
EMPLOYEE
w
an
• Develop and implement a talent
in
ua
d
cl it
management framework
Q
c
u
Great
EXPERIENCE
Development
om
• Support job personalisation

THE BEST PLACE
TO WORK
Our People Strategy
2020 – 2025

icati
on

You are valued for
who you are.

A well designed job and role
Caring and supportive teams and colleagues
Modern workplaces and people practices
A strong voice about your work and workplace
The opportunity to work in partnership with others,
through staff networks, trade unions and more

y

st

en

an

d

ac

t

•G

rea

it
spir
am
t te

t for all and
a
f
a
i
r
• Respec
chan
c

e

• C
oac
hin
ga
nd
su
pp
or
t

de
tu ew
i
t
at g n g
o
n
in
-D pti ork
n
o
a
C ad of w
d
an ays
w

In return for your dedication and
commitment, you will get:

We will:
• Promote diversity, inclusion
and difference
• Provide holistic health
and wellbeing programmes
• Enable safe and sustainable
places of work

Spending Money Wisely
We will:
• Pay the living wage, and have a
fair and sustainable pay structure
• Develop long term service
led workforce plans
• Support service design and
the management of change

Working as a
Team for Leeds
We will:
• Identify and deliver the skills
needed for the future
• Deliver HR in collaboration with others to
provide exceptional support to our services
• Work closely with our city,
regional and national partners

Working with All Communities

We will:
• Drive the people changes needed to deliver our
city wide strategies for Inclusive Growth, Health
and Wellbeing and the Climate Emergency
• Improve employment opportunities for people
from priority neighbourhoods and communities
• Promote the public value
of all the work we do

Li

et

Pla
n
and res
st ou
i
c
k t rces
o
bu we
dg ll

•

•

How Efficient, Enterprising and
Healthy the organisation is, and the
overall Employee Experience for staff.
Captured in our Best Council Plan KPIs.

• E

• Clear job goals and
expectations
• Exciting opportunities
and job variety
• Tailored personal
and professional
development

You are supported to
be well at work.

• Say thank you

You feel like you count.

mbr
aci
n
and g ne
w
ide w te
r c ch
h
an nol
ge og

lity
p qua
o
t
ide
vice
rov mer ser
P
•
to
cus

mun

Brilliant
development

Great all round
experience
•
•
•
•
•

Treating People Fairly

m
t co

BEING
YOUR BEST

•

OUR SUCCESS
MEASURES

• A fair and straightforward
selection and
appointment process
• A quality induction to
gain a flying start
• A great pay, benefits
and rewards
package

rea

• Support to follow your chosen
career path, that matches your
ambitions and circumstances
• Opportunities to work in
flexible and agile ways
• Development routes
for both technical and
managerial careers
• Recognition and
reward for the great
work you do, and the
difference you make

• Enhance our workforce information
and analytics to aid decision making

•G

Flexible career
paths and
progression

d
an
le s
op am
pe te
te
ve o n a
i

Join us,
and you
will get

pa

ss

Page 151

Make a
difference
with one of our
Best City
partners

recruitment and
a warm welcome

and opportunities
for leaders and
managers

si

•

h

Helping deliver the
Best Council Plan

This page is intentionally left blank

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – Month 4 (July)
Date: 22nd September 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of the
Authority in respect of both the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue
Account. At Month 4 (July) a COVID-19 related overspend of £25.0m is projected for the
Authority.

•

The Council has received £24.6m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID-19 in
the first quarter of 2021/22, of which the position assumes £21.2m will be applied. An
estimated £3.7m Government contribution to lost income is also reflected, pending
confirmation of the final amount. Application of this funding addresses the projected COVID
financial pressure in full. Any Collection Fund income shortfall in 2021/22 will impact on
revenue in 2022/23. Consequently, a small net overspend of £0.4m is forecast in 2021/22,
which relates to non-COVID directorate pressures and savings.

•

The 2021/22 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities as set
out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on financial performance against this
budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising
organisation.

•

The current and future financial climate for local government represents a significant risk to
the Council’s priorities and ambitions. The position remains challenging and the budget for
2021/22 requires delivery of £56.1m of savings in addition to the considerable savings
achieved since 2010. At Month 4 it is anticipated that the required level of savings will be
delivered in full. Any areas of risk are highlighted in directorate narratives at Appendix 1.

•

At Month 4, the Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a balanced position.

Recommendations
Executive Board are asked to:
a) Note the projected financial position of the Authority at Month 4 and the projected impact of
COVID-19 on that position.
b) Note that for 2021/22 the Authority is forecasting an overspend of £0.4m.
c) Note that the position reported does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or
national lockdown arrangements on these financial projections or any potential additional
costs arising from the current 2021/22 pay negotiations.
Page 153

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 This is a factual report to update the Board on financial performance against the Council’s
2021/22 General Fund revenue budget and Housing Revenue Account for the first 4 months of
the financial year.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

2 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation.
3 The budget proposals contained in the 2021/22 Revenue Budget have, where appropriate,
been the subject of the Council’s Equality Impact Assessment process and mitigating measures
put in place or planned where appropriate. As such, an Equality Impact Assessment was
provided at Appendix 5 to the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Report.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
4 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation. Public consultation on the 2021/22
Revenue Budget was carried out between December 2020 and January 2021 and is detailed in
the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax report presented to this Board in February 2021.
What are the resource implications?
5 This is a revenue financial report and as such all resource implications are detailed in the report
and appendices.
What are the legal implications?
6 There are no legal implications arising from this report.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
7 The reported budget position is considered in the context of risk to both the in year financial
position and the potential impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. These risks
are included on the Council’s corporate risk register.
8 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial
management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget judged to be at risk
such as the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which are subject to
fluctuating demand and key income budgets. To reinforce this approach, specific project
management based support and reporting around the achievement of key budget actions plans
is in place for 2021/22.
9 More specifically, the reported position does not reflect the potential effects of any further local
or national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced which could impact on these financial
projections. Government support for additional general expenditure and eligible income losses
related to COVID in 2021/22 ended on 30th June 2021. A range of schemes supporting
businesses are also reducing now that the country has moved to step 4 of the Government
roadmap for the easing of COVID restrictions. This includes the reduction and subsequent
removal of additional support with business rates and it is not yet clear how this reduced level of
support will impact on the Council’s financial position.
Page 154

10 Pay negotiations for 2021/22 are ongoing. The Council has budgeted for a £1.6m increase in
pay costs to provide a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than
£24,000 only, as announced at the 2020 Spending Review. As the outcome of negotiations is
not yet known no additional costs are reflected in the reported position. A 1% pay increase
would equate to approximately £4.3m, less the £1.6m already budgeted, and would need to be
absorbed within approved directorate budgets.
11 The report highlights a risk relating to unprecedented high global electricity and gas prices. The
pressure on the General Fund may range from approximately £0.5m to £1.5m. As part of the
21/22 budget process, an Energy Reserve of £1.07m was created. It is likely that a substantial
call on this reserve may be made.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

12 The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes and
priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Three Pillars of inclusive growth,
health and wellbeing and the climate change emergency underpin this vision and these can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial
sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the
Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the determination of the Council’s annual
revenue budget.
13 This is a factual report which needs to be seen in context of the requirement for the Council to
be financially sustainable and deliver a balanced budget position in 2021/22 so that resources
can continue to be targeted at the Council’s priorities.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
14 Not applicable.
How will success be measured?
15 Not applicable.
What is the timetable for implementation?
16 Not applicable.
Appendices
17 The following appendices are attached to this report:
• Appendix 1 – background information, detailed narrative regarding the projected financial
positions for directorates, Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and the Housing Revenue
Account HRA, update on Council Tax and Business Rates including collection performance.
•

Appendix 2 – Individual financial dashboards for directorates, DSG and the HRA.

Background papers
18 None.
Page 155

Appendix 1

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – Month 4
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1.

This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health
position for 2021/22 at Month 4.

1.2.

Budget monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report
reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and variations
after the second month of the year.

2.

Background information

2.1

Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2021/22 was
set at £435.3m.

2.2

Following the closure of the 2020/21 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve
stands at £27.8m. The 2021/22 budget assumes a contribution of £4m to this
reserve during the current financial year.

2.3

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy assumes a balanced budget position for
2021/22 after the application of Government funding, the delivery of non-COVID
savings and the utilisation of earmarked reserves. Any adverse variation to a
balanced budget position will require the identification of further savings in 2022/23.

2.4

Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where
financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans,
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.
This is reinforced through specific project management based support and reporting
around the achievement of the key budget actions plans.

3.

Main Issues

3.1

At Month 4 a COVID related overspend of £25.0m is projected across directorates.
Directorate positions are summarised in Table 1.

3.2

The Council has received £24.6m of Government funding towards the costs of
COVID-19 additional expenditure for the first quarter of the 2021/22. In addition,
local authorities are able to claim compensation for COVID-related income losses in
respect of sales, fees and charges for the first quarter of the year. Application of
£21.2m of Government funding from budgeted COVID contingency and COVID
reserve and an estimated claim of £3.7m in respect of eligible income losses would
address this projected COVID financial pressure in full.

3.3

Any Collection Fund income shortfall arising in 2021/22 will impact on the Revenue
Budget in 2022/23.

3.4

Consequently, this report reflects a small net overspend of £0.4m against the
2021/22 Budget, relating to non-COVID directorate pressures and savings.

Page 156

Appendix 1
Summary Position at Month 4 - Financial Year 2021/22
(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Staffing

Director

Adults & Health

Cath Roff

(949)

Children and Families

Sal Tariq

(500)

6,241

City Development

Martin Farrington

(867)

£000

Communities, Housing & EnvironmentJames Rogers

Resources

Neil Evans

Strategic

Victoria Bradshaw

Total Current Month
Previous reported (under)/over spend

NonCOVID
related

Total
Total (under) COVID
Income
Expenditure
/overspend related

Directorate

£000

£000

£000

15,847 (15,847)

£000

£000

Previous
Reported
Position
£000

0

(78)

78

0

1,000

7,240

7,312

(72)

3,156

(2,055)

8,498

6,444

7,133

(689)

5,866

1,095

3,957

5,622

9,578

9,070

508

7,810

464

(231)

1,241

1,010

1,517

(507)

869

0

(18,015)

(5,907)

(23,921)

(24,954)

1,033

(17,519)

(756)

5,747

(5,392)

351

0

351

182

(2,764)

(761)

943

182

0

182

MEMO: Covid Related Pressures

24,954

funded by:
COVID Contingency (use of Government Funding)

(7,551)

COVID Reserve (use of Government Funding)*

(13,680)

Estimated Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation

(3,723)

Remaining COVID Related Pressure

0

* In addition, the Directorate positions shown assume the application of £0.674m of COVID reserve funds.

3.5

The major variations are outlined below, with additional detail provided on the
Directorate dashboards at Appendix 2 of this report.

3.5.1 Adults & Health – the directorate is projected to deliver a balanced budget, with
the Net Managed Budget for 2021-22 being £195.2m.
The 2021-22 budget includes £15.52m for efficiency and service changes. The
service is currently on target to deliver these actions. Currently £2.2m are at risk of
non-delivery; £1.5m relating to client income and £0.7m slippage due to delays in
implementing Commissioning savings plans. Where slippage / non-delivery of
budget action plans have been identified, alternative options to balance the budget
have also been identified utilising Directorate Reserves and savings from lower
demand in Older People demand led budgets due to COVID. Also incorporated into
the budget is demand and demography growth of £8.41m. There is a risk that this
might not be sufficient.
Additional COVID-19 funding of £10.9m has been received and the position
assumes that there is associated expenditure against this funding during the year:£2.7m for Clinical Extremely Vulnerable funding support, £1.4m Hospital Discharge
fund, £2.4m Infection Control fund, £1.7m Rapid Testing and £2.7m Controlled
Outbreak Management fund.
3.5.2 Children and Families – As detailed on the dashboard, the current year-end
forecast for the Children and Families directorate is an overspend of £7.24m which

Page 157

Appendix 1
is an increase of £4.08m since the previously reported Month 2 position. Within the
Month 4 projections there is an overspend of £7.312m related to COVID, and a
£72k net underspend not related to COVID.
The Month 4 projected overspend of £7.240m is broken down as follows:
Expenditure
•
•
•
•

£m
CLA Placements
Non CLA Placements
Secure unit staffing
Other

Total projected overspend

3.781
2.974
0.507
(0.021)
7.240

As shown above, the key pressure relates to the budget for Children Looked After
(CLA) and non-CLA placements, which is currently forecast to overspend by
£6.755m. As at the end of July, CLA numbers were 1,313, an increase of 39 since
the start of 2021/22. Although the number of in-house CLA placements is the same
as at the start of the year (848), demand for external CLA placements has
increased from 426 at the start of the year to 465.
Non-CLA placements are those such as special guardianship orders and semiindependent living for over 18s. Although they are not CLA placements, they are
related as they often prevent more costly CLA placements or relate to statutory
duties once young people leave care. Non-CLA placements have decreased by 16
overall since the start of the year, from 1,052 to 1,036. The main reduction has
been in semi-independent living for over 18s which has reduced by 24 placements.
However these placements are still greater than originally expected which has
resulted in an overspend. This reflects the difficulty with young people being able to
move out of these placements because COVID has affected the availability of
alternative accommodation.
Over the past five years, CLA numbers have increased both nationally and in Leeds
by 10%. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy paper included on this agenda
reflects this trend in the medium term CLA forecasts. A number of local authorities
are also currently reporting increased CLA numbers leading to overspends. The
forecast position for Leeds assumes there is no change in placements during the
year, however the Children and Families directorate is in the process of identifying
mitigating actions that can be taken to reduce costs and will develop an
implementation plan for any actions identified.
The projection also demonstrates an overspend of £507k against the Secure Unit
staffing budget due to additional Agency costs. However, it is anticipated that
Children and Families will secure additional income to mitigate some of this
pressure and upon review this will be reflected in Month 5.
No income pressures are currently forecast for Children and Families, however
there is some risk to income for services that continue to be affected by COVID, for
example nursery fee income. The available data is currently being reviewed and

Page 158

Appendix 1
any loss of income identified will be reported in Month 5. This will be included on the
council’s claim to MHCLG for funding towards quarter 1 loss of income.
The projection assumes delivery of savings plans included in the budget. While no
pressures are currently forecast for these, two of the actions are higher risk and are
being monitored by Children and Families. These relate to additional funding of £1m
for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children and £1.7m from the CCG. Work is
ongoing to secure this income and a further update will be provided in the Month 5
reporting.
Dedicated Schools Grant
In relation to the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), the approved DSG budget
2021/22 assumed that there would be a carry forward deficit of £3.683m as at the
end of the year. At Month 4 we are projecting a £2.975m overspend on DSG for
2021/22, this would result in a closing deficit of £6.658m.
The in-year overspend is due to the following:
•

•

•

Schools Block £34k underspend: There is a slight underspend of £34k due to
business rate savings which occur following the conversion of schools to
academies.
High Needs Block £1m overspend: This is new for Month 4 and mainly
reflects a proposal to pay an estimated £975k of funding to a special school
for historic costs. This recognises that the school’s deficit balance is related
to additional costs that could have been eligible for funding.
Early Years Block £2m overspend: This was included in Month 2 reporting
and reflects a proposal to utilise some of the 2020/21 underspend on the
Early Years block. During 2020/21 there was an underspend on the Early
Years block of £2,228k due to funding being based on the January census
which has higher numbers of 2-4 years olds than the average of all censuses
over the year. A proposal is due to be made by the authority to use up to
£2m of the 2020/21 underspend to make exceptional, one off payments to
settings in recognition of the funding difficulties faced by the early years
sector due to COVID which will help ensure the sufficiency of childcare in the
city moving forward.

3.5.3 City Development – at Month 4, the directorate is projecting an overspend of
£6.4m for the year. This is primarily due to the continuing impact of COVID on
income streams, currently estimated at £7.0m for the year.
The impact that the COVID pandemic will continue to have on income streams for
the full financial year remains uncertain and therefore this position is subject to
significant variation and will continue to be monitored over the coming months.
An element of the COVID related income losses incurred in the first quarter of the
year (c£2.6m) will be recoverable through the Government’s income compensation
scheme for sales, fees and charges which applies to first quarter losses only.

Page 159

Appendix 1
The main variations are:
• Active Leeds – the estimated impact on income of capacity restrictions due to
COVID is £4.65m, primarily in respect of swimming and membership income,
although there is likely to be a degree of volatility in the projections. Of this
projected income loss, £1.8m relates to the first quarter and an element of this
will be recoverable through the Government’s income compensation scheme.
The income loss is projected to be partially offset by staffing and running cost
savings, resulting in an overall projected overspend for the service of £4.1m
• Arts and Heritage - an overspend of £0.75m is anticipated, largely due to the
impact of COVID on Cafes/Shops, city centre sites room hire, and admissions.
Of this, the first quarter losses are £0.4m of which an element will be
recoverable through the income compensation scheme.
• Markets and City Centre - the estimated impact of COVID on income is a
projected shortfall of £0.9m in respect of Markets income, reflecting rental
support to market traders and vacant units, and £0.7m in respect of City Centre
advertising income and street café licences.
• Planning & Sustainable Development - the COVID pandemic has had a
significant impact on the service in terms of increased volumes of applications
and enforcement work, outstripping the capacity of existing resources.
Additional funding of £0.2m in 21/22 has been secured to address the backlogs
and to facilitate the timely delivery of Planning outcomes. However, it is
anticipated that there will be an impact on the service’s ability to deliver
budgeted efficiency savings and its staffing vacancy factor and a projected
overspend of £0.1m is currently estimated.
• Highways and Transportation – the service is projecting a small underspend of
£0.1m which reflects a staffing underspend of £0.8m due to vacancies, partially
offset by reduced income and additional external supplier costs.
The overall projected position of £6.4m includes net staffing savings of £0.4m
across the directorate, after taking account of income generating posts.
The 2021/22 budget contained £10m of agreed savings plans. With the exception of
budgeted savings in respect of efficiencies within the Planning service which have
been impacted by COVID (as noted above), the latest monitoring position is that
most have been delivered or are currently on track to be delivered, although there is
some risk to full delivery of savings in the following areas:
• Asset Rationalisation savings (cross-cutting) - c£400k
• Markets business plan savings - £200k
• Strategic Investment Fund target - £1.3m (although existing disposals and
disinvestment are likely to offset this).
3.5.4 Communities, Housing & Environment – At Month 4, the Directorate is currently
projecting an overspend of £9,578k, of which £9,070k is COVID related. There
remains a great deal of uncertainty surrounding these projections and these areas
in particular will continue to be kept under close review. The shortfalls related to
income will be partially offset by the Government’s Sales, Fees and Charges
compensation scheme which is in place to cover a proportion of qualifying losses
until the end of quarter 1 of this financial year.

Page 160

Appendix 1
The main areas of variations in respect of COVID-19 are currently estimated as
follows:
• Car Parking Services
£2,818k
Loss of car parking and enforcement income, based on lost income during
the 1st quarter of 2021-22 with a gradual improvement to the position as the
economy opens up post summer.
•

Loss of Parks & Countryside income
£1,000k
This includes net income losses from visitor attractions, cafes, bereavement
services and the cancellation of planned events, offset by minor expenditure
savings.

•

Waste Management
£4,896k.
This includes the cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with
continuing increased volumes of household waste, the cost of disposing of
this additional waste and the cost of providing additional staffing cover at
Household Waste sites.

•

Communities and Customer Access
£306k
This relates to net income shortfalls, mainly Community Centres and
primarily in the first half of the year.

•

Other minor variations

£50k

Non Covid Variations
£500k
Outside of the COVID related pressures, there are net income pressures of
around £500k within Parks and Countryside service.
The Directorate remains on target to deliver the savings approved at budget Council
in February 2021.
3.5.5 Resources - Based on an examination of key risk budgets, an overspend of
£1,010k is forecast for the Resources Directorate. This is summarised into the
following areas across the Directorate’s services:
•

Trading shortfall within Leeds Building Services (LBS)
£510k
This is the result of increased costs in the first months of the year due to
operatives working under COVID compliant working conditions and
operatives self-isolating due to Track and Trace instructions.

•

Catering income & emergency meals
£48k
The overall loss of income from schools is £888k. This is due to fewer meals
served during the pandemic. The shortfall is offset by the savings on food of
£390k and staffing savings of £620k. The overall loss of commercial income
is £442k due to COVID. The pressure is partly offset by staffing savings of
£195k and food savings of £138k. There is a further pressure of £111k due
to £64k slippage in the implementation of a new system and £47k loss of
contract. Staff saving on meals on wheels account for £51k.

Page 161

Appendix 1
Integrated Digital Services
£400k
A projected staffing and agency overspend of £2,278k is partially offset by
income from the CCGs of £795k and other areas of increased income or
savings of £1,083k.

•

•

PPE Hub

£Balanced

PPE Stock to the value of £486k was carried forward from last year and must
be accounted for in the year it is used. Transferring this from the stock
account to the revenue account results in a pressure in 21/22. This
overspend will be offset by COVID Reserve funding held within Strategic.
The costs of running the hub itself continues to be met by grant funding.
•

Other Minor Variations

£52k

The 21/22 Budget for Resources includes Action Plans of £13.315m. Each of these
is currently expected to be delivered and rated Green with the exception of the
following Amber rated plans:
•

Catering. The £785k Action plan to generate additional income has been
impacted by Covid. This pressure is reflected in the above figures, with a
mitigation of staff savings offsetting much of the pressure. This action plan is
therefore rated as amber.

•

Contact Centre/Digital Access. A budget action plan of £420k requires
channel shift to fully deliver. £260k of the action plan has been achieved to
date through the Early Leavers initiative. The action plan is rated as amber.

3.5.6 Strategic & Central Accounts - At Month 4, the Strategic & Central accounts
projection is for an overspend of £1.0m, before taking into account the application of
funding to address the £25.0m COVID pressures projected in directorate positions.
This projection recognises a £1m pressure in relation to the council’s levy payment
to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, which was higher than anticipated when
the budget was set.
3.5.7 Directorate dashboards highlight a projected COVID-19 overspend of £25.0m. The
Council has received £24.6m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID19 additional expenditure for the first quarter of the 2021/22. £7.6m of this funding
had been included in the Strategic Budget as a COVID contingency, with the
remaining grant placed in a COVID reserve. In addition, local authorities are able to
claim compensation for COVID-related income losses in respect of sales, fees and
charges for the first quarter of the year. The application of the £7.6m budgeted
COVID contingency, £13.7m of grant funding from the COVID reserve and the
estimated compensation for eligible income losses of £3.7m are also reflected in the
Month 4 Strategic position and in the appended dashboard. The application of these
funds is sufficient to address the COVID pressures projected at Month 4, however it
should be noted that COVID contingency and reserve funding is now approaching
full utilisation.
3.5.8 Consequently, a small net overspend of £0.4m is projected against the Council’s
2021/22 revenue budget.

Page 162

Appendix 1
3.5.9 The reported position does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or
national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced which could impact on these
financial projections. Government support for additional general expenditure and
eligible income losses related to COVID is currently unavailable beyond 30th June
2021. A range of schemes supporting businesses are also reducing now that the
country has moved to step 4 of the Government roadmap for the easing of COVID
restrictions. This includes the reduction and subsequent removal of additional
support with business rates and it is not yet clear how this reduced level of support
will impact on the Council’s financial position.
3.5.10 Pay negotiations for 2021/22 are ongoing, with Trade Unions having rejected a
1.5% pay offer. The Council has budgeted for a £1.6m increase in pay costs to
provide a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than
£24,000, as announced at the 2020 Spending Review. Should any across the board
pay award be agreed, this will exceed the current provision in the budget. As the
outcome of negotiations is not yet known no additional costs are reflected in the
reported position. A 1% pay increase would equate to approximately £4.3m, less
the £1.6m already budgeted, and would need to be absorbed within approved
directorate budgets.
3.5.11 The budget for 2021/22 requires the delivery of £56.1m of savings. Detailed budget
action plans have been developed to identify how these savings will be achieved
and progress against these action plans will be monitored and reported throughout
the year. At Month 4 it is anticipated that the required level of savings will be
delivered in full. Any areas of risk are highlighted in directorate narratives above.
3.6

COVID Reserve

3.6.1 The £16.7m COVID Reserve was created in the 2021/22 Budget to be applied to
any pressures arising which exceed the initial estimate of COVID impact in 2021/22.
In addition to the use reported above (£13.7m in the Strategic position and a further
£0.7m in directorate positions), the July meeting of this Board approved the use of
£0.52m to support the delivery of Free School Meals across the summer school
holidays.
3.6.2 A further £0.1m from this reserve will be used to deliver training to managers to
support the return to the office planned for Autumn 2021. Consequently £1.7m
remains unallocated from the reserve.
3.7

Energy Prices
Significant global increases in gas and electricity prices have been experienced
since late 2020, with current prices at an unprecedented high. The Council
purchases gas and electricity in advance in line with its agreed risk strategy, and so
has already hedged the price for the vast majority of its energy requirement for
2021/22, and for a substantial proportion for 2022/23. However, there remains a
proportion of our forecast volume requirement for which we have not yet secured
the price.
The 2021/22 budgets for gas and electricity total £20.93m. The latest estimate for
2021/22 based a scenario whereby the Council secured its remaining unhedged
volume at the market average prices historically available to buy at for these future

Page 163

Appendix 1
months (which seems very unlikely in the current market conditions) is £21.63m for
gas and electricity combined (£0.7m over budget). However, if the prices currently
being forecast based on the current market conditions are realised, the estimated
overall cost would be £23.03m (£2.1m over budget). Approximately 70% of this
pressure would fall on the General Fund, with 21% falling to Schools and 9% to the
HRA. The pressure on the General Fund may therefore range from approximately
£0.5m to £1.5m. As part of the 21/22 budget process, an Energy Reserve of
£1.07m was created. It is therefore likely that a substantial call on this reserve may
be made.
To manage this financial risk, the Council’s Energy team will continue to monitor the
market and to purchase energy at the optimum time based on expert market advice,
whilst observing the agreed risk strategy. However, most significantly, the Council
will continue to reduce its reliance on gas and grid electricity through ongoing estate
rationalisation and energy management, and continuing to invest in energy
efficiency measures and renewables, including expansion of the district heating
network linked to the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility. This pressure clearly
highlights the importance of and strengthens the business case for investment in
renewables and other energy efficiency schemes
4.

Other Financial Performance

4.1

Council Tax
The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of July was 36.4%. For
comparison, in July 2020 the in-year collection rate was 36.6%, reflecting the
economic impact of COVID-19 on collection rates and the agreed payment
deferrals; in July 2019, a ‘normal’ year, the in-year collection rate was 36.9%.
Leeds’ share of the declared Council Tax deficit for 2020/21 (at 31st December
2020) has been incorporated into the 2021/22 budget. The declared deficit was
£15.557m. This has been adjusted for the 3-year spreading legislated by
Government in order that authorities can better manage deficits arising as a result
of the economic impact of COVID-19. The deficit that is budgeted to be repaid in
2021/22 is therefore £4.951m, with Leeds share of this being £4.196m. This
repayment is now a fixed amount.
The actual closing deficit for 2020/21 was £13.958m. Adjusting this for the 3-year
deficit spreading results in an opening deficit on the collection fund of £3.704m, with
Leeds share of this being £3.14m. The £1.056m improvement will benefit the
General Fund in 2022/23.
In addition to the above, Government introduced a Local Tax Income Guarantee
(LTIG), applying to both Council Tax and Business Rates. Losses in scope will be
compensated by Government at a rate of 75%. The 2021/22 budget reflected the
assumption that a grant of around £5.2m would be payable to the Authority under
this scheme. As the 2020/21 outturn position improved compared to the position in
the Budget, the grant we expect to receive will be lower. The 2021/22 Budget and
the Medium-Term Financial Strategy reflect that this funding will not be utilised in
2021/22, but will, instead, be held in reserve and applied in 2023/24 when the final
instalment of the 2020/21 deficit will become payable.

Page 164

Appendix 1
At Month 4 the in-year projection for Council Tax is a surplus of £1.274m. Whilst we
expect an improved position by the year-end, at this early stage of the financial year
it is not possible to identify the full impact of economic scarring resulting from the
pandemic. The projected position and collection rate will continue to be closely
monitored.
4.2

Business Rates
The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve an in-year collection
target of 96.5%%, collecting £367.8m of business rates income. However, the
Board will be aware that, in response to the continuing restrictions due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Government subsequently announced significant
additional business rates reliefs, reducing the income to be collected directly from
business to £332.1m as at 31st July 2021. These reliefs give 100% business rates
relief to retail and leisure establishments and children’s nurseries until 30th June
2021, although the total relief that any one ratepayer can claim is capped at £2m
nationally if they were forced to close in 2021/22 or £105,000 nationally if they could
remain open, with a sliding scale of relief subsequently until 30th September 2021
when all COVID-19 related reliefs are due to end. The costs to the Council’s
retained Business Rates income will be funded in full by Government through
Section 31 grants. This reduces the risk to the Authority regarding non-collection of
business rates income. The collection rate at the end of July 2021 was 39.20%,
0.17% ahead of performance in 2019/20, the last ‘normal’ year. Although the
collection rate appears to be recovering after 2020/21, it remains a matter of
concern to the Authority and will require close monitoring in the coming months.
The total rateable value of business properties in Leeds has reduced from £929.3m
at the time of the 2021/22 budget to £926.9m as at 25th July 2021, a decrease of
£2.4m. The 2021/22 budget includes an expected reduction in Rateable Value of
£11.2m for the 2021/22 full year and the size of the Business Rates tax base in
Leeds will also require close monitoring.
Leeds’ share of the declared Business Rates deficit from 2020/21 (at 31st December
2020) has been incorporated into the 2021/22 budget. The total declared deficit on
the Collection Fund was £234.9m, largely driven by the extended reliefs introduced
in 2020/21 by the Government in response to the pandemic, fully funded by section
31 Government grant held in reserve. Leeds’ share of the unfunded declared deficit
is £36.7m, which will be spread over three years in accordance with Government
legislation. £12.2m of this unfunded deficit will be paid in 2021/22 and is fixed.
Since declaration a number of issues underlying the declared deficit have been
clarified, positively affecting previous assumptions regarding claims for Empty Rate
Relief during lockdowns, ratepayer appeals claiming a Material Change of
Circumstance due to the pandemic will not be successful and the forecast continued
reduction in the tax base in Leeds in 2020/21. Taking these into account, the actual
closing deficit for 2020/21 is an improvement of £12.3m from the position declared
and used in the 2021/22 budget. This improvement will benefit the General Fund in
2022/23.
The outlook for the in-year Business Rates deficit on the Collection Fund remains
highly uncertain, with particular concerns around bad debts, continued reduction in
the tax base and early signs that the cost of Empty Rate Relief is increasing

Page 165

Appendix 1
unusually rapidly at the start of the year. Each of these areas will require close
monitoring.
Government introduced a Local Tax Income Guarantee (LTIG) for 2020/21, with
losses in scope compensated by Government at a rate of 75%. The 2021/22 budget
reflects the assumption that a grant of around £25.8m would be receivable under
this scheme. As the 2020/21 outturn position was significantly improved compared
to the declared position in the Budget, the grant we expect to receive will be
significantly lower. The funding received will be held in reserve to partially meet the
unfunded final instalment of the 2020/21 Business Rates deficit 2023/24.
4.3

Business Rates Appeals
The opening appeals provisions for 2021/22 are £30.0m, made up of £7.7m relating
to appeals received against the 2010 ratings list and £22.3m estimated costs in
relation to the 2017 ratings list. Under 50% Business Rates Retention, Leeds’
budget is affected by 49% of any appeals provision made in this year.
On the 31st July 2021, there were 362 appeals outstanding against the 2010 ratings
list. During June and July 2021 163 appeals have been settled, only 9 of which
have resulted in changes to rateable values. No new appeals have been received in
June and July. Currently, 8.5% of the city’s total rateable value on the 2010 list is
subject to at least one appeal.
Before the COVID-19 public health crisis, the introduction of the new Check
Challenge Appeal system on 1st April 2017 saw a significant reduction in the
number of appeals submitted by ratepayers against their Rateable Value on the
2017 ratings list compared to the 2010 ratings list. Only three appeals have so far
been submitted to the Valuation Tribunal, the final stage of the new process.
However during the national lockdowns in 2020/21 there was a significant upsurge
in the number of Checks and Challenges submitted to the Valuation Office. Most of
these claimed a Material Change of Circumstance due to the restrictions to
economic activity during the crisis.
Initially the Council provided for estimated costs should these result in reductions of
rateable value and this was included in the declared deficit position for 2020/21,
submitted to Council in February 2021 in the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council
Tax report. Subsequently the Government intends to pass primary legislation to
ensure that these ‘appeals’ will not be successful and will not lead to reductions in
Rateable Value. As at 31st March 2021 the Authority was therefore able to exclude
1,007 Challenges from its calculations of provisions reducing the cost to Leeds in
2020/21 by £6.4m. As at 31st July 2021 the Council is providing for a net of 255
other Checks and Challenges against the 2017 ratings list plus provisions for
specific issues such as the removal of ATMs located in shops from the 2017 list,
expected reduction to hospitals, ambulance and fire stations and expected
reductions to a number of GP surgeries.

4.4

Impact of COVID-19 on the Collection Fund in 2021/22
It remains very complex to estimate the continued impact of COVID-19 on council
tax and business rates income. Early concerns have arisen around collection rates,
reductions in the tax base in Leeds and the impact of any permanent economic

Page 166

Appendix 1
scarring on Business Rates reliefs, particularly Empty Rate Relief. These require
continued close monitoring over the coming months. However early signs show
there may be some recovery, particularly in Business Rates, contingent on the
continued opening of the local economy as restrictions are withdrawn.
5.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

5.1

At the end of Month 4 the HRA is projecting a balanced position.

5.2

There is a forecast reduction in rental income of £676k, mainly due to a temporary
increase in the number of void properties because of the ongoing impact of COVID19. There is a £125k pressure on service charges due to the delay in implementing
the new Retirement Life charge as facilities have been unable to open during the
first quarter of the year due to COVID restrictions. These income pressures are
partially offset by additional external telecoms income of £195k.

5.3

Employee costs are forecast to underspend by £670k. The projected saving is a
result of the time taken to fill vacant posts following the ELI process and service
realignment. The savings are partially offset by a £394k reduction in the staff costs
chargeable to the capital programme.

5.4

The £157k balance on the Welfare Reform reserve will be utilised in year. As the
Enhanced Income Team has now been integrated back into the Housing
Management staffing structure the reserve is no longer required.

5.5

There is a forecast pressure on the disrepair budget of £1m for the year, this
pressure has been offset by utilising the disrepair / repairs reserve.

5.6

Total tenant arrears are £11.1m, approximately £1.7m lower than the equivalent
month last year and £0.03m lower than the 2020/21 outturn position. The latest rent
collection position is 96%, 0.7% lower than last year’s outturn position (96.7%).

Page 167

Appendix 1

5.7

Projected Right to Buy sales for the year are projected in line with budget at 610
with 1,596 live applications in the system at the end of June.

Page 168

Appendix 2
Overall Summary
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 169

Adults and Health
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 170

Children and Families
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 171

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 172

City Development
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 173

Communities, Housing and Environment

Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 174

HRA
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 175

Resources
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 176

Strategic and Central
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Period 4 (July 2021)

Page 177

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report authors: Tim Rollett / Robert
Clayton
Tel: 378 9235

Annual Corporate Risk Management Report
Date: 18th October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

This annual report updates the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board on the most
significant risks currently on the council’s corporate risk register with summary assurances
describing the key controls in place to manage the risks and further actions planned,
signposting to where more detailed information can be found.

•

Our ambition is for Leeds to be the best city in the UK: one that is compassionate and caring
with a strong economy which tackles poverty and reduces inequalities. Strong risk
management arrangements are essential to minimise the risks of achieving the ambitions.

•

Risk is present in everything we do to improve outcomes and deliver services. Local
authorities, our communities and partners experience a wide range of significant risks
including: cyber-attacks, adverse weather conditions and safeguarding incidents.

•

A corporate risk is something that, if it occurred, could impact on our Best City/Best Council
ambitions. It is therefore essential that we understand, manage and communicate the range
of risks that could threaten the city and the vital services provided by the council, so that
we’re better placed to prevent them from happening and to reduce the impact now and in
the longer-term on communities, individuals, services, organisations and infrastructure.

•

Underpinning the corporate risks are directorate level risks – those that are less strategic
and more specific in nature and these are reported to the respective directorate
management team. Service level risks, such as those for programmes and major projects
are also reported to the relevant service leadership team or project board. The risk
management reporting arrangements encourage the escalation of service and directorate
risks should they increase in prominence.

•

The previous Annual Corporate Risk Management Report was provided to the Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board in September 2020. Since then, the corporate risk register has
continued to be reviewed and updated in accordance with the council’s Risk Management
Policy and in line with the Best Council Plan outcomes and priorities. Earlier in 2021, the
council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy were reviewed and updated.

•

The council’s Annual Corporate Risk Management Report was reported to the Executive
Board during its meeting on 21st July 2021. The report is supplemented by the annual
assurance report on the authority’s risk management arrangements, considered annually by
Page 179

the council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee. The assurance report focuses on
the policies, procedures, systems and processes in place to manage risks at corporate,
directorate, service and project levels and is next scheduled for review by the Committee on
17th December 2021.

Recommendations
a) Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board is asked to note the Annual Risk Management
Report and the assurances given on the council’s most significant corporate risks in line with
the authority’s Risk Management Policy.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

The annual report seen in Appendix 1 updates the Scrutiny Board on the most significant
risks currently on the corporate risk register (their descriptions, risk ratings and the
accountable director and portfolio member risk owners) with summary assurances
describing the key controls in place to manage the risks and further actions planned,
signposting to where more detailed information can be found.

2

Alongside the Corporate Risk Management Policy and Strategy, the report provides an
opportunity for Scrutiny Board members to consider whether they would benefit from any
risk management training, in particular around the governance risk and resilience
framework which aims to support individual council officers and councillors to play their part
in identifying, understanding, and acting on, risks to good governance.

3

The report will provide a key source of evidence on the authority’s risk management
arrangements contributing to the Annual Governance Statement to be considered later this
year by the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒No

4

The risk information contained in the appendix is provided for Strategy and Resources
Scrutiny Board’s information.

5

This is an assurance report with no decision required, so it is not necessary to conduct an
equality impact assessment. However, many of the corporate risks included within the
appendix are linked to wider issues of equality and diversity, and cohesion and integration.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
6

This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the public.
However, summary information on the corporate risks is published on the council’s website.

7

The corporate risk assurances at Appendix 1 have been subject to consultation with lead
officers, the Corporate Leadership Team and portfolio members. The arrangements in
place to manage the council’s risks are embedded and therefore subject to consultation and
engagement on an ongoing basis. Consultation is undertaken as part of risk management
best practice, and is in line with the roles and responsibilities set out in the Risk
Management Policy and Strategy.
Page 180

What are the resource implications?
8

All council risks are managed proportionately, factoring in the value for money use of
resources. Should any of the corporate risks included in this report arise, there would be
significant resource implications for the council.

9

Effective risk management arrangements help to avoid costly mistakes from being made
and minimising their impact if they happen.

What are the legal implications?
10 The council’s risk management arrangements support the authority’s compliance with the
statutory requirement under the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015. Through this,
Regulation 6 requires authorities to conduct a review at least once a year of the
effectiveness of its systems of internal control in accordance with proper practices. The
system of internal control, including arrangements for the management of risk, assists the
council in effectively exercising its functions.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
11 This report supports the council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy in providing
assurances on the management of the authority’s most significant risks. The appendix
provides details of the key strategic risks facing the council, provides details of how they
are being managed along with any further actions required to treat them.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

12 The corporate risks outlined in this report are linked to the three Key Pillars, in particular the
risks on Leeds Economic Growth Lag, Health and Safety Failure and Climate Change.
Should any of these risks arise, then this would impact on the three Key Pillars.
13 As the climate emergency is cross-cutting in nature it is linked to many other corporate
risks. Where applicable, the supporting details for these risks - such as the sources,
consequences and mitigating actions - reflect aspects of the climate emergency.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
14 Not applicable
b) How will success be measured?
15 The success of corporate risk management can be measured through the application of the
Corporate Risk Management Policy and Strategy.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
16 The report is for information, so there is no timetable for implementing the
recommendations as risk management is a business as usual activity within the council.
Should any Scrutiny Board members require risk management training, this can be
arranged as soon as possible.
Appendices
17 Appendix 1: Annual Corporate Risk Management Report 2021
Page 181

Background papers
18 None

Page 182

Appendix 1: Executive Board July 2021

xxx

Annual Corporate Risk
Management Report
July 2021

Page 183

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Introduction
Our ambition is for Leeds to be the best city in the UK: one that is compassionate and caring with a strong
economy which tackles poverty and reduces inequalities. Strong risk management arrangements are a vital
part of organisational culture, linked to the values, to help achieve the ambitions. Our policy is to identify,
analyse and manage potential threats and opportunities posed by risk.
Risk is present in everything we do to improve outcomes and deliver services. Local authorities, our
communities and partners experience a wide range of significant risks including: cyber-attacks, adverse
weather conditions and safeguarding incidents. The Covid-19 pandemic has seen the biggest test of the
council and our partners’ risk management, business continuity management and emergency planning
arrangements in recent times. Together these arrangements have played a key part of our response and
recovery plans, with the work undertaken to deal with the pandemic providing opportunities for shared
learning.

Background information
The previous annual corporate risk management report was considered by Executive Board on 24 June
2020. Since then, the corporate risk register has continued to be reviewed and updated in accordance with
the council’s Risk Management Policy and in line with the Best Council Plan outcomes and priorities. The
remainder of this report focuses on the management of the most significant risks currently on the
corporate risk register.
This report is supplemented by an annual assurance report on the authority’s risk management
arrangements considered each year by the council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee. These
reports are publicly available and focus on the policies, procedures, systems and processes in place to
manage risks at corporate, directorate, service and project levels. The most recent report was approved at
the Committee’s 27 July 2020 meeting. More recently, the council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy
have been reviewed and updated to ensure they remain up to date and reflect best practice.

Risk Management Framework
The council’s risks are identified, assessed and managed using six steps:

P a g e |1
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 184

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service
These iterative steps enable us to:
•
•
•
•
•

Understand the nature and scale of the risks we face.
Identify the level of risk that we are willing to accept.
Recognise our ability to control and reduce risk.
Recognise where we cannot control the risk.
Take action where we can and when it would be the best use of resources. This helps us make
better decisions and deliver better outcomes for our staff and the people of Leeds.

The steps are applied across the organisation through the Leeds Risk Management Framework: at strategic
and operational levels and for programmes and projects. The adoption of the framework and compliance
with it has helped to embed a risk management culture within the organisation. This report considers the
strategic level: the arrangements in place to manage the council’s corporate risks.

Corporate Risks
Defining a corporate risk
Corporate risks are those of significant, cross-cutting strategic importance that require the attention of the
council’s most senior managers and elected members. While all members of staff have responsibility for
managing risks in their services, each of the corporate risks has one or more named ‘risk owner(s)’:
members of the Corporate Leadership Team (the Chief Executive and five directors) and Executive Board
portfolio holders’ who, together, are accountable for their management. The Executive Board as a whole
retains ultimate responsibility.
Corporate risks can be roughly split into two types: those that could principally affect the city and people of
Leeds and others that relate more to the way we run our organisation internally. An example of a ‘city’ risk
includes a major disruptive incident in Leeds or breach in the safeguarding arrangements that help protect
vulnerable people; these are often managed in partnership with a range of other organisations. An
example of a more internal ‘council’ risk is a major, prolonged failure of the ICT network. Some risks clearly
impact on both the city and the council – coronavirus pandemic being the most obvious current example.
How corporate risks are assessed and managed
Each corporate risk has a current rating based on a combined assessment of how likely the risk is to occur –
its probability - and its potential impact after considering the controls already put in place. When
evaluating the impact of a risk we consider the range of consequences that could result: effects on the local
community, staff, the services we provide, any cost implications and whether the risk could prevent us
meeting our statutory and legal requirements.
A consistent ‘5x5’ scoring mechanism – seen at annex 1 of this report - is used to carry out this assessment
of probability and impact which ensures that the risks are rated in the same way. Target ratings are also
applied for each risk based on the lowest probability and impact scores deemed viable to manage the risk
to an acceptable level given the amount of resources available to deal with it. These are used to compare
the gap between ‘where the risk is now’ to ‘how low do we aim for the risk to go’ and so help determine
whether additional actions are needed to manage the risk down to the target level.
The greater the risk, the more we try to do to manage it if it is in our control and if that would be the best
use of resources. The council recognises that the cost and time involved in managing the risk down to
nothing may not always be the best use of public money and we factor this in when establishing the target
rating and developing our risk management action plans.
Risks are reviewed and updated regularly through horizon scanning, benchmarking and in response to
findings from inspections and audits, government policy changes and engagement with staff and the public.
P a g e |2
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 185

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service
Current corporate risks
The risk map overleaf at Figure 1 summarises the risks on the corporate risk register as at July 2021 and
their current ratings based on combined probability and impact scores.
Many of the risks shown on the risk map will come and go as the environment changes. However, there
are a set of ‘standing’ corporate risks that are likely to always face the council:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Safeguarding children
Safeguarding adults
Health and safety
City resilience
Climate change adaptation / mitigation

•

Council resilience
Financial management (in-year and the
medium-term)
Information management

The remainder of this report provides a summary assurance on how each of these standing corporate risks
is managed, signposting to where further information can be found. It also provides assurance on those
risks currently rated as ‘red’ – i.e. of the highest significance – that do not fall into the standing risk
category: coronavirus, economic growth lag, major flooding (included as part of the wider assurance on the
city resilience risk) and major cyber incident. An overview of the risks covered in this report is provided at
Table 1, detailing their full descriptions and risk owners. Further details about how the risks are scored can
be seen in Annex 1 of this report
(For more information on the council’s risk management arrangements please contact Tim Rollett on
timothy.rollett@leeds.gov.uk)

P a g e |3
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 186

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Figure 1: Corporate Risk Map at July 2021
Supporting our Best City / Best Council ambitions

Highly Significant

PROBABILITY
Rare

Unlikely

Possible

Probable

Almost Certain

1

2

3

4

5

Major incident in
Leeds
Children & Families:
Inspection failure

5

Climate change

Safeguarding
adults failure

Safeguarding
children failure

Major flooding

Health & Safety
failure

Community cohesion

Major

Coronavirus

4

Major disruption to
council services

Care market
sustainability
/ viability

Moderate

3

Minor

Medium-term
financial position

2

Insignificant

Page 187

Insufficient school
places

1

Insufficient
Housing
Growth

Economic growth
lag, increasing

Major ICT failure

Information
management and
governance

Workforce planning
In-year
budget

Major cyber
incident

UK exit from European
Union

Devolution

P a g e |4

Transport issues:
Keeping the city moving

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Table 1: Overview of significant and ‘standing’ corporate risks
Accountability (Risk owners)

Current
Rating

Page 188

Risk area

Description

Coronavirus

Risk of fatalities and serious illness, significant disruption to the city and to council services in
the short- to medium-term and long-term negative economic impact as a result of the
coronavirus pandemic, potentially greater impact on more vulnerable and disadvantaged

Tom Riordan, Chief
Executive

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

Very High

Economic
growth lag

Growth in Leeds’ businesses is slower and less inclusive than the national and international
economy, leading to lower wages, fewer jobs and poorer citizens and communities

Martin Farrington,
Director of
City Development

Cllr M Harland: Executive Member
for Economy

Very High

Cyber risk

Risk to citizens, council and city as a result of digital crime, process failure or people’s actions

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

Very High

Safeguarding
children

Risk of harm, accident or death to a child linked to failure of the council to act appropriately
according to safeguarding arrangements

Sal Tariq, Director of
Children and Families

Safeguarding
adults

Failure a) of staff in any council directorate to recognise and report a risk of abuse or neglect
facing an adult with care and support needs in Leeds, and b) of staff adult social care to
respond appropriately, in line with national legislation and safeguarding adults procedures

Cath Roff, Director of
Adults and Health

City resilience

Risk of significant disruption in Leeds

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

Very High

Major
flooding

Major flooding, especially north of the city centre station, occurs in Leeds that has a
significant impact on homes, business, land and infrastructure

Martin Farrington,
Director of
City Development

Cllr M Rafique: Executive Member
for Environment & Active Lifestyles

Very High

Climate
change

Failure to adapt to and mitigate more extreme weather conditions brought about by climate
change, resulting in an adverse impact on Leeds (its people, communities, infrastructure,
economy and natural environment)

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr H Hayden: Executive Member for
Climate Change, Transport and
Sustainable Development

Very High

Information
management

Risk of harm to individuals, partners, organisations, third parties and the council as a result of
non-compliance with Information Governance legislation and industry standards

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

High

Council
resilience

Risk of significant disruption to council services and failure to effectively manage emergency
incidents

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

High

Medium-term
financial
position

The council cannot balance its Medium-Term Financial Strategy

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

High

Health and
safety

Risk of a health & safety failure resulting in death, injury, damage or legal challenge

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

High

In-year
budget

The council’s financial position goes into significant deficit in current year resulting in reserves
being less than minimum specified by council’s risk-based reserves policy

Neil Evans, Director of
Resources

Cllr J Lewis: Leader of Council and
Executive Member for Resources

Medium

Senior officer

P a g e |5

Member & Portfolio

Cllr F Venner: Executive Member for
Children, Families and Adult Social
Care
Cllr F Venner: Executive Member for
Children, Families and Adult Social
Care

Very High

Very High

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Coronavirus Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
The global coronavirus pandemic remains a threat to life, health, wellbeing and the economy, and for Leeds this has
resulted in over 1,700 fatalities, serious illness for some of our residents, and significant disruption to the city’s
businesses and infrastructure. We now know that the pandemic has disproportionately affected the more vulnerable
or disadvantaged, exasperating inequalities that we already knew existed in lower income areas. Council services and
finances have also been impacted during this time. However, after a year, the picture continues to improve with
fewer deaths, hospitalisations and harm being minimised to those most vulnerable. Restrictions and the vaccination
programme have played a significant role in this, along with proactive delivery of the Local Outbreak Management
plan. The Government is now gradually and safely easing national restrictions and the services are increasingly getting
back to normal, albeit at reduced capacity. The Leeds Response and Recovery Plan – our main planning tool – reflects
the Government guidelines across three phases for the remaining of 2021.
Specific risks related to coronavirus and the actions being taken to treat them continue to be monitored through
Executive Board reports and the council’s risk management arrangements. Other corporate risks, such as those
relating to the council’s budget and the Leeds economy also reflect the impact of the pandemic in their details.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
•

•
•

•
•

The council’s continued role in the city’s multi-agency command and control arrangements, which have been
developed and updated further in response to Covid-19 to facilitate the coordination and communication on
a set of complex interrelated challenges. This is captured in the Leeds Response and Recovery Plan.
Our services are looking to the rest of the year ahead, ensuring we plan for any risks/assumptions, and
ensure that activity underway mitigate any disruptions and promote recovery across the city.
We continue to provide practical support, such as regular delivery of PPE; signposting residents to support
services; support to businesses ensuring Covid-compliance; distributing grants to more than 36,000
businesses; supporting our schools; coordinating volunteer response, including promoting testing and
vaccinations; and ensuring free school meals continue throughout all school holidays.
Through the Leader and Chief Executive, we continue to liaise with other Yorkshire and Humber councils,
national bodies and Government groups to communicate key issues and to share best practice.
Regular information and updates are communicated to our citizens, communities, staff, councillors and MPs,
and a wide range of businesses and other partners.

Further actions planned
Further actions can be seen in the Response and Recovery Plan reported to Executive Board and include:
•
•

Continue to liaise with key partners to provide a co-ordinated multi-agency recovery, whilst responding to
mitigate any ongoing/emerging issues.
Continued support for residents, including signposting to services through our dedicated Covid helpline.

As is good practice, significant incidents such as the pandemic will result in a review, taking into account lessons
learned, emerging best practice and consider how well the council and its multi-agency partners worked together. The
review will help shape how the council manages major incidents in the future and how it can make the most of the
wider range of relevant partnerships involved in responding to a major long term incident.

More information
Information for people, communities and businesses to get help, as well as finding out how council services are affected,
can be found at leeds.gov.uk/coronavirus. Health advice can be found at the Leeds CCG Covid page or the NHS coronavirus
page. The latest government advice can be found at gov.uk/coronavirus.
P a g e |6
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 189

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Financial Management Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
The council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of risks, notably not addressing the financial
pressures in a sustainable way so that the revenue budget cannot be balanced and the council’s financial position
going into significant deficit. Failing to deliver a balanced budget that addresses these issues both in the short and
medium-term will ultimately require the council to consider even more difficult decisions that could have a far greater
impact on front-line services, including those that support the most vulnerable. If the council’s Chief Officer Financial
Services in their professional opinion considers that the authority cannot deliver a balanced budget position in
2021/22, a Section 114 notice would have to be issued, prompting an emergency budget.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
•

Roles and responsibilities - financial management within the council is delivered by colleagues who report to
and are accountable to the Chief Officer Financial Services (the Section 151 Officer).

•

Strategic financial planning – based on the funding settlement from the government.

•

Budget preparation and setting – revenue budget planning continues throughout the preceding financial
year, whereas capital spending operates within a three-year programme.

•

In-year budget monitoring – financial management and monitoring continues to be undertaken on a riskbased approach where financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
that are judged to be at risk. Both revenue and capital budgets are continually monitored and reported
regularly to senior managers and members. Financial Health Monitoring Reports are reviewed by the
council’s Executive Board at each meeting.

•

Closure of accounts – timely accounts without audit qualification ensures we can properly account for
resources used during the year and fully understand the council’s financial standing.

•

Audit inspections – providing elected members and the public with independent assurance that the accounts
reflect a true and fair view of the council’s financial position.

Further actions planned
Whilst the council continues to make every effort to protect the front-line delivery of services, it is clear that the
position remains difficult to manage financially. Continued focus is being placed on dealing with the ongoing financial
implications for the council from the coronavirus pandemic, though the inherent pressures that existed prior to Covid19 must also be managed.
The council’s Executive Board will be receiving a number of financial reports in the current municipal year including
those on the Capital Programme and the Treasury Management Strategy, with a further update to the authority’s
rolling 5-year Medium-Term Financial Strategy scheduled for September 2021.

More information
•
•
•

All Executive Board meetings and agenda items can be found here.
Our financial plans
Our financial performance

P a g e |7
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 190

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Economic Growth Lag Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
Changes to the global, national and local economic and health environment all represent threats to the Leeds
economy. In particular, our economy has been significantly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. If Leeds fails to
adapt and recover at the same pace as the rest of the economy, and if the council and its economic partners don’t
understand the challenges and opportunities, deliver effective business and skills, and infrastructure support, this will
have an adverse impact on the economy, business survival, investment and growth. There will be further longer-term
consequences for the city in terms of lack of opportunity, lower wages, falling employment levels and an increase in
poverty and inequality.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
•
•

•
•
•

The council has a dedicated Economic Development Team which works on a diverse range of projects to
support business, create employment and drive economic growth.
A framework approach for Leeds’ economic recovery from the pandemic has been developed. The
programme of work in place to understand the opportunities and challenges for the economy includes:
o A commissioned piece of work on our city and district centres.
o An updated Skills and Talent Plan with clear actions to help people adapt to the future of work.
o Commission work to better understand the opportunities of the Green Economy.
Leeds’ Multi-Agency Covid response and recovery arrangements include an Economy & Business Group.
An engagement group of independent businesses set up to understand the needs of this vibrant sector.
We work in conjunction with our partners, including the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, Leeds City
Region Enterprise Partnership and the Leeds Chamber of Commerce, on a range of aspects such as
supporting business growth and enterprise, promoting a thriving and safe city centre and delivering
regeneration projects.

Further actions planned
•

•
•
•

Delivering a social progress index for Leeds to help us understand social and environmental progress at ward
level, alongside economic information, giving a more holistic view and where we are better able to target
interventions.
Developing web sites that provide information, guidance and support for local people and businesses.
Progressing links with central government to promote and maintain lobbying to ensure that the recovery
needs of Leeds businesses are fully understood and programmes are able to support these.
Developing links with new business start-ups to encourage growth and support survival.

Ongoing actions relating to the response and recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic include:
•
•
•
•
•

Efficient processing of payment of grants and ongoing engagement, support and advice to businesses.
The continued delivery of employment support programmes.
Maintaining effective engagement with businesses to understand the impact on the local economy.
Building in lessons learnt into future recovery planning.
Continued engagement with businesses so they can help shape, contribute to, and benefit from a post-Covid19 economic recovery programme, especially large anchor businesses.

More information
•
•
•

The Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy can be viewed here.
Pandemic - economic recovery approach: Leeds Economic Recovery Framework
Business and licensing information is available on leeds.gov, including how to start and grow a business.
P a g e |8
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 191

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Safeguarding Children Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
The potential consequence of a significant failure in safeguarding is that a child or young person could be seriously
harmed, abused, or die. This is a tragic outcome for all, including the family of the young person. From a council
perspective, this could damage the council’s reputation, depending on the seriousness of failure, and could possibly
lead to intervention by Ofsted and/or government.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
•

Plans and strategies: Safeguarding is a clear priority in the strategic plans of the council (Child-Friendly Leeds)
and relevant partners, in particular the Children and Young People's Plan, the work of the Children and
Families Trust Board and the Child-Friendly Leeds initiative. Through the council’s Safeguarding Policy, all
council staff have an obligation to protect all children, and vulnerable adults.

•

Maintaining a strong safeguarding partnership: The responsibilities for safeguarding are collectively held by
the council, the local clinical commissioning group and West Yorkshire Police, through the independently
chaired Leeds Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP).

•

Inspection: The most thorough assurances for this risk are the independent external inspections by Ofsted
and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Good progress continues to be made to the improvements
identified by Ofsted in their most recent inspection, including having increased health practitioner capacity at
the Front Door1.

•

Social workers: Qualified social workers are based at the Front Door along with police and health
practitioners as part of the council’s partnership arrangements. This ensures timely multi-agency decisions
about safeguarding concerns can be made by the relevant professionals. Out of hours safeguarding concerns
are dealt with by the Emergency Duty Social Workers, based with the Police Safeguarding team.

•

Performance management/quality assurance: There is a robust performance management and quality
assurance framework in place that ensures management oversight at every level, internal scrutiny and
review.

•

Reporting arrangements: Clear and well-publicised guidance is available on Leeds.gov.uk and LSCP websites
for members of the public and practitioners on how to report child safeguarding concerns.

•

External partners: Challenge and scrutiny from external experts, leading practitioners and the extensive use
of research to inform practice. Leeds role as a Partner in Practice has strengthened co-operation with
national government and other leading local authorities. Leeds is engaged in regular regional peer challenges
and health checks that provide a strong methodology for support and challenge across the region.

The Impact of Covid
To ensure children continued to be safeguarded during the pandemic key actions undertaken included:
•

Implemented weekly safeguarding meetings, led by the Leeds Children’s Safeguarding Partnership, to ensure
oversight of Health, Police and Children and Families through joint working during the pandemic.

•

Established local Multi-Agency Bronze Meetings to ensure localised information sharing and support offer to
most vulnerable children. These meetings focused on children who are home educated, and those children
with a special education need or disability (SEND) who were clinically extremely vulnerable.

•

Established a clear prioritisation staffing plan to enable to redeploy staff to critical parts of the service.

1

Front Door is term used in Leeds when talking about our arrangements where partners are co-located and work in partnership to safeguard
children and young people.

P a g e |9
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 192

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

•

Ensured continuation of key safeguarding oversight meetings by Skype such as Weekly Referral Review
Meeting.

•

Enabled all children looked after, those subject to a child protection plan, and Children in Need to have their
care plans reviewed virtually via Skype.

•

Took part in national weekly discussions with the DfE, Chief Social Worker, and other authorities to ensure
national changes were implemented and to ensure support available from central government was fully
utilised in Leeds.

•

The challenges of virtual working and the impact of Covid-19 have been managed by a strong workforce
development offer including staff wellbeing. This meant that the workforce continues to remain stable with a
clear prioritisation plan and risk assessment to ensure statutory safeguarding duties are not compromised.

•

Guidance for practitioners around visits to see children and families, family time and transporting children
was developed in line with national government guidance. This helped to ensure workers were able to and
continue to remain able to complete duties without compromising their own or service users’ safety.

•

Risk assessments continue to be undertaken regarding all activities undertaken with children, young people
and their families. This includes home visits, transporting children and meetings with families.

Further actions planned
•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•

The impact of Covid-19 is understood and responded to by appropriate proactive support to ensure
safeguarding is not compromised. Risk assessments will be reviewed regularly to ensure the safe deployment
of staff and a Covid-safe working environment.
Strong partnership working in Leeds continues to be a priority as we move towards recovery planning and
next steps.
To progress towards an increased level of face-to-face family time for children who are looked after.
Continued joint work in clusters to identify and support the most vulnerable children and their families in the
context of the current Covid-19 pandemic. This includes ongoing development of the multi-agency Bronze
groups that provide an operational response to emerging issues at the cluster level.
Ongoing development of the three Early Help hubs supporting cross council, multi-agency, integrated work
and the early identification of need.
Ongoing strategic developments in response to domestic violence and abuse and to children at risk of
exploitation.
Ongoing campaigns such as the annual Leeds Safeguarding Week and Think Before You Send.
Leeds is one of 18 local authorities who are part of a national project implementing the Workforce Race
Equality Standard. This will help formulate an action plan to tackle inequality in recruitment, retention and
progression of BAME staff in Social Care.

More information
For more details on how the council and its partners are managing this risk, please refer to the Leeds Safeguarding
Children Partnership Annual Report (2019/20) considered by the council’s Executive Board in March 2021 and
available here.

P a g e | 10
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 193

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Safeguarding Adults Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
The abuse of adults with care and support needs in Leeds can happen anywhere, be committed by anyone and can
take many forms. To prevent this type of abuse and to support individuals to meet their desired outcomes should
harm take place, a range of safeguarding measures are in place. Should any of these measures fail, an adult may suffer
violence, serious harm and/or ultimately death. Such a tragic outcome could represent a failure in the council’s legal
and ethical safeguarding duties and have significant resource implications including financial costs, ombudsman
enquiries and even judicial review.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
The Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is a multi-agency statutory partnership of organisations, including the
council, that work together to both prevent and end abuse of adults with care and support needs in Leeds. The SAB
has a three year Strategic Plan and produces an annual report which sets out specific actions that help the Board and
its partners achieve its ambitions. Other controls in place to manage this risk include:
•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•

Multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Policies and Procedures, including national and regional guidance.
Cross-Council Safeguarding Policy: all council staff have an obligation to protect all children, and vulnerable
adults. The Policy helps employees to understand, recognise, and report a safeguarding concern. This is
delivered through the Cross-Council Safeguarding Group which brings together senior managers to
coordinate the actions of Safeguarding Lead Officers.
The SAB undertake safeguarding adults reviews (in accordance with the Care Act 2014) and share the
learning and associated actions with the council and partners, to ensure lessons are learned.
The Safeguarding theme runs through the work of Safer Leeds, the city’s community safety partnership.
Checks are made by the Care Quality Commission (CQC1), the independent regulator of health and social care
in England on the quality of care in registered services. The Council also undertakes contract management
and quality assurance of commissioned care services.
Clear, simple and easy to find information available on what abuse is and how to report it.
The Front Door Safeguarding Hub, the partnership arrangements through which a wide range of safeguarding
partners work to support people who have been subject to Domestic Violence and Abuse.
A rigorous and tiered training and competency framework for front line staff.

Further actions planned
The main actions to deal with safeguarding adults can be seen in the SAB’s annual report, framed around four key
ambitions: Talk to me, hear my voice; Improvement awareness across all our communities; Improve resopnses to
domestic above; and Learning from experience to improve how we work. The report also provides further details
such as progress achieved, target dates and ratings to show how on track they are. Further actions include:
•

•

Continuing the joint work with the NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), commissioning teams
within the council and the Care Quality Commission, to ensure that quality concerns in regulated care
services are picked up early and prevented from developing into safeguarding concerns.
Ongoing promotion and awareness of safeguarding across the city, including the annual Safeguarding Week
and the White Ribbon campaigns.

More information
The most recent Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board annual report (2019/20) is available here.

1

The CQC monitors, inspects and regulates services to make sure they meet fundamental standards of quality and safety. It sets out what good and
outstanding care looks like and makes sure services meet fundamental standards below which care must never fall.

P a g e | 11
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 194

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

City Resilience (including major flooding) Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
Leeds, like any other major city, can suffer disruption caused by the impact of a major incident or emergency. In
recent years Leeds has experienced adverse weather and major flooding and the coronavirus pandemic has presented
the city, its people and communities with the biggest challenge post war. The risk would be exacerbated should more
than one major incident occur in the city at the same time. Disruption can impact for several hours, days, weeks and
even months whilst response and recovery is completed.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
•
•

•
•

Arrangements are in place to warn and inform the public and businesses about incidents via a range of
channels including Leeds Alert1, twitter: @leedsemergency and the Emergencies page of Leeds.gov.
A ‘top down’ approach to managing risks based on the National Risk Register which compares, assesses and
prioritises all major disruptive risks to the UK’s national security. This informs the West Yorkshire Community
Risk Register which in turn forms the basis of multi-agency planning between the council and partner
organisations for the West Yorkshire region.
A wide range of emergency and continuity plans which are regularly tested and exercised.
Specifically on flood risk management, the River Aire Flood Alleviation Scheme (Phase 1) which reduces the
risk of flooding in the city centre and a range of local initiatives across the city completed in recent years
including the Wyke Beck Naturalised Flood Management Programme.

Further actions planned
The main actions relating to the council’s recovery from the coronavirus pandemic are seen in the Response and
Recovery Plan submitted to Executive Board each month (please refer to the Coronavirus risk assurance above for
more information). More general actions relating to the City Resilience risk include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ongoing work with businesses and other organisations to develop greater resilience in the city.
Promoting community resilience by effective communications with the public.
Working closely with other local authorities and partners that together form the West Yorkshire Resilience
Forum for preparedness to respond to major and often cross boundary emergencies.
Working together with partners from the Safety Advisory Group 2 (SAG) to deliver events safely.
Continuing to support national counter-terrorism campaigns and initiatives.
Progression of the River Aire flood alleviation scheme (Phase 2) and the development of local initiatives to
reduce the risk of flooding across Leeds to improve the resilience and self-reliance of communities.

More information
•
•
•

Information on how to prepare for and respond to emergencies including flooding on the leeds.gov website.
The West Yorkshire Police website contains details of the West Yorkshire Resilience Forum and the West
Yorkshire Community Risk Register.
The latest Flood Risk Management report to the Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth Strategy
Board (Item 7).

1

The council’s free alert system
SAGs are usually co-ordinated by a Local Authority (LA) and are made up of representatives from the LA, emergency services, other relevant
bodies and the event organiser. SAGs provide a forum for discussing and advising on public safety at an event.
2

P a g e | 12
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 195

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Climate Change Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
The climate change threat is one of the greatest challenges facing this and future generations across the world. More
extreme and more frequent severe weather, such as flooding and heatwaves, will impact on the people, communities,
infrastructure, economy and natural environment of Leeds unless there is joined-up and concerted effort to adapt
how we live and to mitigate the effects of climate change.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
The council has a significant role to play in tackling climate change, leading by example in adapting our own
operations to reduce emissions and supporting businesses, households and individuals to do the same, and also in
helping to reduce the impacts of extreme weather events on Leeds. A number of the controls are detailed in the city
and council resilience risks seen elsewhere in this report with additional climate change-specific controls including:
•

•
•

The Leeds Climate Commission and Yorkshire and Humberside Climate Commission informs the work we do
to tackle climate change. The Commissions bring together key organisations and actors from across the city
and region and from the public, private and third sectors and helps Leeds make positive choices on issues
relating to energy, carbon, weather and climate.
The Climate Emergency Advisory Committee is authorised to consider and make recommendations regarding
climate change and sustainability.
Working with West Yorkshire Combine Authority (WYCA) to deliver the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy,
which includes the promotion of public transport usage and active travel.

Further actions planned
Tackling the climate change risk is everybody’s responsibility. The council is working with major bodies across Leeds
and encouraging smaller businesses to play their part in reducing their carbon footprint. Our plan is to:
•
•

Promote further community resilience through effective communications with the public.
Reduce the level of greenhouse gas emissions from the city to net zero by 2030 by:
o Reducing the carbon footprint from council operations to net zero by 2025.
o Supporting businesses and homeowners to implement energy efficiency and renewable energy
projects to reduce their own carbon footprints.
o Promoting cycling, walking, the use of public transport and zero emission vehicles.
o Building sustainable infrastructure, including large scale renewable energy projects.

The actions that the council can take within the powers and resources currently at its disposal will not be sufficient to
move the city to a net zero carbon position. There are areas where government policy changes are required and
where further funding is needed. The council will seek to influence national policy through its lobbying strategy.
The impact of coronavirus on our response to the climate emergency is complex, but presents significant
opportunities presented by the reduction in travel and encouraging more active travel. Leeds has seen a temporary
emissions reduction of approximately 19% as a result of the pandemic. As we move out of lockdown and towards a
longer lasting new ‘normal’ we will need to restate our carbon reduction ambition for the city, bringing a renewed
focus to this vital work. This could encompass promoting more sustainable and healthy movement of people; new
ways of working, adopting digital technology and home working; emphasising the value of green spaces and reviewing
the role of spatial planning in pursuing low carbon; and influencing consumer behaviour and increasing recycling.

More information:
Further details about the actions we are taking can be seen in the Climate Emergency Report

P a g e | 13
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 196

Corporate Risk Management 2021
Intelligence & Policy Service

Council Resilience Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
This risk relates to significant disruption to the delivery of council services and the failure to effectively manage and
recover back to ‘business as usual’. Disruptive incidents can arise from many sources and lead to reductions or even
prolonged suspension of council services. When critical front line services are disrupted, this can result in
communities and vulnerable people in particular being impacted. The coronavirus pandemic resulted in the biggest
test to date of the council’s business continuity management arrangements. Front line council services safely adapted
their operations, whilst many others required staff to safely work from home, placing an increased demand on the
digital infrastructure and systems.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
The controls in place are designed to ensure that the council can continue to provide its critical or prioritised services
or functions in the event of an incident or disruption.
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

A well-established Business Continuity Policy and Strategy set out the plans to deal with any disruption and a
Business Continuity Management (BCM) Toolkit contains information, guidance and templates for use by
council services.
The Emergency Management Plan (EMP) which covers both response and recovery can be activated should a
significant, prolonged and widespread business continuity event occur.
The council’s ability to quickly assemble a team of officers to deal with a major disruption event alongside our
partner organisations – as demonstrated with the coronavirus pandemic.
Business Continuity Plans (BCPs) are in place for all critical council services that document the actions
required to protect those services should a disruptive incident or emergency occur.
The council’s Resilience & Emergencies Team (RET) and Intelligence and Policy Service provides advice and
guidance across the whole organisation to support these business continuity arrangements.
Provision of advice and assistance to business and voluntary sector3
The work of the RET has been aligned to reflect the National Risk Register.

Further actions planned
•
•
•
•
•

Continue to learn from business continuity incidents and contribute to any lessons learned from them at
local, regional and national level.
Continue to identify new threats and hazards and to prepare and plan our capabilities to be able to respond
and recover from them should any occur.
Review and update the BCM Policy and Strategy later in 2021/22 to reflect best practice and also ongoing
lessons learned from the Covid pandemic.
Review the ‘criticality’ of the business continuity plans to ensure focus is being made on the right services.
Review the BCM arrangements to ensure they consider how concurrent events in the council, city and region
can be dealt with.

More information
For more details on how the council manages this risk, please refer to the Annual Business Continuity Report
considered by the authority’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.

3

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requires local authorities to provide advice and assistance to those undertaking commercial activities and
voluntary organisations in relation to business continuity management.

P a g e | 14
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 197

Intelligence and Policy Service
Corporate Risk Management Annual Report 2021

Health and Safety Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
Should a serious health and safety (H&S) incident arise from the many services that the council provides or
commissions, it could result in death, injury or chronic ill-health to a wide range of stakeholders including service users
and staff. If things go wrong, regulatory and enforcement bodies such as the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) could
undertake investigations into the council and this may require the suspension of services or closure of buildings.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
•

•

•

•

•

•

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Policy and Strategy – setting out the council’s commitment to H&S. The
Strategy includes a set of refreshed priorities such as stress, mental health and muscular-skeletal disorders as
well as the H&S roles and responsibilities of all staff.
Roles and responsibilities - Professionally qualified staff including the Head of Health, Safety and Wellbeing
and a team of H&S Advisers and Occupational Health Practitioners. All council staff also have H&S
responsibilities and a number are trained as Mental Health First Aiders.
H&S training, advice and support – available internally for staff and elected members. Regular
communications and engagement on health, safety and wellbeing matters take place, this being a particularly
high priority during the current coronavirus pandemic.
Processes & reporting – Regular reporting on H&S issues and performance to a range of internal
stakeholders, including the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Priority Board’ Corporate Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Committee; the Corporate Leadership Team (consisting of the council’s Chief Executive and
directors) and the Executive Board. An annual report to the Executive Board is produced which demonstrates
how duties set out in the council’s Health and Safety Policy are discharged.
Co-operation & Consultation – between managers and employee representatives on H&S issues with
specialist working groups also covering specific areas such as asbestos, social care and outdoor education.
Best practice is shared between the council and other organisations.
Working with partner organisations – essential pro-active maintenance of council buildings, schools and
housing stock is carried out with contractors. A Fire Safety Concordat is also in place between the council and
the West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Authority (WYFRA). It is intended to provide a framework to ensure that the
roles and responsibilities of the two organisations are effectively translated into practical working
arrangements.

Further actions planned
Over the coming months risk management actions will be focused on how council services can recover from the
coronavirus pandemic whilst maintaining health, safety and wellbeing standards and adapting to any significant
changes required: for example, an increased use of PPE amongst staff. The Future Ways of Working plan will start to
see an increased number of staff returning to offices during the period from 21 st June 2021 until approximately
September 2021 in accordance with the planned Government Roadmap.

Further information
•
•

The council’s latest Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance and Assurance report was considered by the
Executive Board in June 2021 and is available here.
The Care Quality Commission is the independent regulator of health and adult social care in England. They
monitor, inspect and regulate services to make sure they meet standards of quality and safety.

P a g e | 15
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 198

Intelligence and Policy Service
Corporate Risk Management Annual Report 2021

Information Management and Governance Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
Failure to manage personal information properly could cause distress, harm or even death to individuals, with the
council facing legal and enforcement action, fines and loss in public confidence. The council recognises the need to
protect its information assets from both accidental and malicious loss and damage.

Key controls in place to manage the risk
The council has adopted a wide range of controls to ensure the resilience of the information governance
arrangements. These cover the following themes:
•

•

•
•

People – Roles and responsibilities are clearly set out, including a Senior Information Risk Owner, Data
Protection Officer and a Caldicott Guardian (a senior person responsible for protecting the confidentiality of
people’s health and care information). Mandatory training for elected members and staff and internal
guidance on managing information and cyber security is also provided through which the message is
reinforced that this risk is everyone’s responsibility.
Policies and processes – are in place that are fit for purpose and reflect legislative requirements- In particular
the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act (2018) - including those for
Information Assurance and Information Sharing.
Technology – a newly developed IT system (KOLOMBO) will simplify and replace a number of existing manual
and overly-complicated processes.
Assurance and Compliance – Information management forms part of the council’s Annual Governance
Statement which reports on the effectiveness of the council’s internal controls, reviews and inspections
(internal and external) and adopting compliance regimes such as the government’s Public Services Network
(PSN)1 Code of Connection and the Data Protection and Security Toolkit for Health.

Further actions planned
Information Governance is taken very seriously by the council and this is evidenced by the on-going work to improve
the management and security of our information.
•
•

•

Update of the Information Management Strategy.
Progressing the Information Management and Governance team Covid-19 work programme which contains
work ranging from updating existing guidance / producing new guidance; advising on new ways of working;
modifying existing services; and introducing new services and schemes as a result of the pandemic.
Completion in summer 2021 of work required to retain the council’s PSN compliance.

More information
•

•

1

An annual report is considered by the council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee which details the
steps being taken to maintain and improve the authority’s information governance. The most recent report
from March 2021, which includes the annual report of the Caldicott Guardian, is available here.
The Information Commissioner's Officer (ICO) website. The ICO is an independent authority upholding
information rights in the public interest, promoting openness by public bodies and data privacy for
individuals.

PSN Code of Connection (CoCo) is an independent security assessment of external and internal network infrastructure and devices.

P a g e | 16
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 199

Intelligence and Policy Service
Corporate Risk Management Annual Report 2021

Cyber Security Corporate Risk Assurance
Risk overview
Cyber criminals seek to exploit UK public organisations and infrastructure for profit. Their technical sophistication
varies from small scale fraud to persistent, advanced, and professional organisations. The council’s digital
infrastructure is under constant attack from malicious sources attempting to disrupt the confidentiality, availability
and integrity of our information or bring our systems and applications to a standstill, severely impacting our ability to
deliver critical services to the public. These risks require extensive management and treatment by the council. .

Key controls in place to manage the risk
The council has adopted a wide range of controls that aim to ensure the resilience of its IT systems and prevent any
adverse impact from daily attacks. These controls cover the following themes:
•

•

•

•

People – Roles and responsibilities are clearly set out, including a Senior Information Risk Owner, Data
Protection Officer and a Cyber Assurance Lead (a suitably qualified Cyber Security Professional). Mandatory
information management and governance training for elected members and staff includes elements on
‘cyber’. The message reinforced that this risk is everyone’s responsibility
Policies and processes – An Information Assurance Policy, setting out the council’s approach to managing
information security and risk, includes cyber-security within its scope. The interim information security
measures for staff working at home and use of technology in response to the coronavirus pandemic are
subject to ongoing review. Over the last 12 months the level of cyber alerting for public sector organisations
has increased. These alerts assist the monitoring of cyber security threats by the council.
Technology – Capabilities such as ‘filtering’, ‘blocking’ and ‘scanning’ help prevent breaches of the council’s IT
network, council devices and systems.
Assurance and Compliance – Information Assurance (Cyber) forms part of the council’s Annual Governance
Statement which reports on the effectiveness of the council’s internal controls, reviews and audits and
adopting compliance regimes such as the government’s Public Services Network (PSN) 2 Code of Connection
and the Data Protection and Security Toolkit for Health.

Further actions planned
•
•
•
•

Implementation of Baseline Security Standards as part of an Information management system (ISMS)
Ongoing work to retain the council’s PSN compliance.
Cyber security training for digitally enabled employees.
A disaster recovery exercise themed around a major cyber-attack is being planned at a regional level.

More information

2

•

An annual report is considered by the council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee which details the
steps being taken to maintain and improve the authority’s information governance and cyber arrangements.
The most recent report from March 2021, is available here.

•

National Cyber Security Centre - cyber security guidance for public sector organisations and employees.

•

MHCLG Digital is developing a local government cyber security standard, termed the Cyber Health
Framework. Further details can be seen here.

PSN Code of Connection (CoCo) is an independent security assessment of external and internal network infrastructure and devices.

P a g e | 17
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 200

Intelligence and Policy Service
Corporate Risk Management Annual Report 2021

Annex 1: Leeds City Council’s Risk Evaluation Matrices
Risks that have been identified need to be analysed and evaluated (scored) using Risk Evaluation Matrices
so that they can be prioritised for treatment. Risks ratings are based on a combined assessment of how
likely the risk is to occur – its probability - and its potential impact after considering the controls already in
place to manage/mitigate the risk.
A ‘5x5’ scoring mechanism is used to carry out this assessment of probability and impact which ensures
that the risks are rated consistently. Together, these two scores combine to give a risk rating, one that is
based on the reasonable worst case scenario, which helps prioritise the risks for review and action.
The scores allow the risks to be plotted onto a risk map (below) used to illustrate and compare a group of
risks.

P a g e | 18
Intelligence & Policy Service:
Providing insight; informing decisions; improving outcomes

Page 201

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790

Work Programme
Date: 18 October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions

•

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable
issues that might occur from time to time.

•

The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to what
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas,
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.

•

Reflecting on the information in this report and information presented as part of other
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the
Board’s work programme for this municipal year.

Recommendations
Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
2021/22 municipal year.

Page 203

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

A draft work schedule for the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board is presented at
Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion. Reflected in the work schedule are known
items of scrutiny activity, such as performance and budget monitoring, identified Budget
and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking items.

2.

The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 21 July 2021 are also
attached as Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted.
Changes to the Work Programme since the last meeting

3.

As the work of the Board evolves changes to the work programme become necessary to
prioritise and fit agenda items in at appropriate times. Since the September meeting some
minor adjustments have taken place along with updates for Board members’ information.
The Recycling in Leeds item, with a tight remit around costs and budgets, has now been
formally passed over to the Board following approval at Environment, Housing and
Communities on 23 September. This has led to a consequential amendment to the work
programme to reflect the likely evolving nature of this work into a second session currently
planned for November. In addition, given discussion at the September meeting in relation
to Service Desk performance this has been allocated to the February meeting for a further
update item.

4.

It is important to also note that several potential work streams are also in development
reflecting the views of the Chair, the suggestions of the Board and recommendations from
the predecessor Board. This includes a possible item on how the Council allocates its
resources and receives income on a geographic basis in Leeds and a return to the work
initiated at the July meeting on agency staffing at the Council. In addition, consideration is
being given to work on FOI/EIR requests in relation to performance and the processes
used to deal with them at the Council.

5.

The Board’s September meeting also featured substantial discussion of Inclusivity within
the council’s workforce. This item is scheduled to return in January 2022 with an agenda
item on Staff Inclusion to compliment the work already carried out on improving the
experiences and outcomes of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic colleagues at Leeds City
Council.

6.

In line with practice introduced last year a Scrutiny Working Group will be established in
December to look in more detail at budget proposals for the forthcoming financial year
(2022/23) that fall within the remit of the Board. A suggested date for this meeting has now
been agreed and an invitation sent to Board members for 13 December 2021 at 10.00AM.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

7.

☐ Yes

☒No

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. The items in Appendix 1 set out the current programme of the Board and
sets a framework for its work in 2021/22.
Page 204

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
8.

In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work.

What are the resource implications?
9.

Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.

10.

The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.

11.

Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
• Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member
about available resources;
• Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
• Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and
can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

What are the legal implications?
12.

This report has no specific legal implications.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
13.

There are no risk management implications relevant to this report.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth
14.

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking
Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.

Appendices
15.

Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board for the
2021/22 municipal year.

16.

Appendix 2 – Minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 22 September 2021.

Background papers
Page 205

17.

None.

Page 206

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

June

July

August

Meeting Agenda for 21 June 2021

Meeting Agenda for 19 July 2021

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and
Sources of Work (DB)

Budget 2021/22 Service Reviews (PM)
Scrutiny Inquiry – Future working arrangements, Agile
Working and Estate Realisation

Performance Update (PM)

Page 207

Scrutiny Inquiry – Agile Working and Estate
Realisation - Staff and HR Feedback (PDS)

Agency Staff at Leeds City Council (PM)
DIS – Vision, Project and Programme Management –
Second Report

DIS – Vision, Project and Programme
Management

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

September

October

November

Meeting Agenda for 20September 2021

Meeting Agenda for 18 October 2021

Meeting Agenda for 29 November 2021

Page 208

BAME CLT Action Plan – Update (PM)

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2022/23 –
2026/27 and Financial Health Monitoring (PM)

Customer Contact – self-service, digital
exclusion and performance – first report (PDS)

DIS – Vision, Project and Programme
Management – Third Report (PDS)

Improving Recycling in Leeds (PDS)

Scrutiny Inquiry – Asset Management and IT
Infrastructure (PDS) (future working
arrangements) – Update (PDS)

Year of Culture/Economy/Recovery (PM)

Electoral Services Update - voting
behaviour, postal voting and turnout (PM)
Scrutiny Inquiry – Agile Working and Estate
Realisation – Interim Statement/Inquiry
Report – Formal Approval

Annual Corporate Risk Management Report
(PM)

Improving Recycling in Leeds (PDS)

Working Group Meetings
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

December

January

February

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Meeting Agenda for 24 January 2022

Meeting Agenda for 14 February 2022

Performance Report (PM)

Social Value Update – Procurement (PM)

Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)

DIS – Service Desk Performance (PM)

Page 209

2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)
Customer Contact – self-service, digital
exclusion and performance – second report
(PDS)
Staff Inclusion Update (PM)
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

March

April

May

Meeting Agenda for 28 March 2022

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Page 210
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

Page 211

This page is intentionally left blank

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 22ND SEPTEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, D Coupar, S Golton,
J Pryor, M Rafique, F Venner, S Arif and
M Harland

44

45

46
47

48

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated
as being exempt from publication.
Late Items
There were no formal late items of business considered by the Board,
however, regarding agenda items 9 (Outcome of Statutory Notice on a
Proposal to Permanently Increase Learning Places at St. Edward’s Catholic
Primary School from September 2022) and 10 (Outcome of Statutory Notice
on a Proposal to Permanently Increase Learning Places at Allerton High
School from September 2022), prior to the meeting Board Members had
received the full (redacted) versions of the representations received as part of
the Statutory Notice process, which was in addition to the summaries as
detailed within the submitted cover reports. (Minute Nos. 51 and 52 refer).
Declaration of Interests
There were no interests declared at the meeting.
Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 21st July
2021 be approved as a correct record.
COMMUNITIES
Leeds City Listening Project - Update 2021
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
providing an update on the Leeds City Listening project. In April 2019 the
Council was successful in its bid for funding for the Leeds City Listening
Project, and the programme of work from that looked to engage with
marginalised women in communities facing multiple barriers to achieving their
potential. The report highlighted the collaborative working undertaken with the
West Yorkshire Mayor’s office and provided details of the overall outcomes
from the project and the work which continued in this area.
Members welcomed the submitted report.
In response to a Member’s enquiry regarding how the women involved in sex
work within the Managed Approach in Holbeck were being supported and
engaged as part of this initiative, further detail was provided regarding the
relevant organisations which were involved in the City Listening Project.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 213

Also, responding to a specific enquiry about knife crime in the community, it
was undertaken that a response would be provided to the Member in question
around the approach being taken towards addressing such issues.
Members also received further information on how actions arising from the
specific conversations had as part of the project would be progressed and
monitored.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the City Listening Project update report, as submitted, be
approved;
(b) That actions continue to be taken to ensure that the voice of women is
heard in key Council work, for example initiatives such as;
 Ending Violence Against Women and Girls Working Group;
 City Centre violence Against Women and Girls Thematic Working
Group;
 Period poverty;
 Forgotten Women Project;
 Women Friendly City.
(c) That the work which is currently ongoing in collaboration between the
West Yorkshire Mayor’s office and Leeds City Council in regard to
Violence Against Women and Girls, be supported;
(d) That the partnership working taking place between Leeds City Council
and Women’s Lives Leeds, be continued; and
(e) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and
Environment is responsible for the implementation of decisions
made by Executive Board in respect of this report.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION
49

Future trends and opportunities in our city and local centres
The Director of City Development submitted a report providing an update on
the work which had been undertaken to date regarding the future of the city
and local centres moving forward, and how the city and local centres respond
to people’s changing routines and the implications arising from the pandemic,
with the report outlining proposed next steps in order to support and progress
this agenda.
In considering the report, Members highlighted the importance of
acknowledging the individuality of each local centre and welcomed the fact
that bidding processes for external funding streams would be undertaken for
appropriate schemes across the city. It was also noted that the actions being
taken to progress this agenda including the Board’s consideration of this
report would help to ensure that the Council had a firm basis on which to
maximise its opportunities to successfully bid for such funding.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 214

With regard to the provision of ‘Changing Places’ toilet facilities, the Board
received an update regarding the current position in Leeds, and it was
undertaken that a further written update would be provided to the Member in
question regarding any funding being sought for further provision across the
city. Members also discussed the role of the Council in ensuring that
developers delivered such facilities in new developments in instances where
prior agreement to do so had been reached.
Responding to a Member’s comments regarding the proposed approach
detailed in the report, it was emphasised that given the financial challenge
that continued to be faced the Council was heavily reliant upon external
funding streams to deliver the proposals outlined. Members also noted that
the overall aim of this agenda was to improve the local and city centre
economies whilst also developing sustainable and inclusive growth. Further to
this, a Member highlighted the importance of robust consultation taking place
with affected communities when considering proposals for local centres,
suggesting the involvement of the Council’s Communities Team in such
matters.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the work which has been undertaken as detailed in the submitted
report looking at the future of Leeds’ city and local centres, be noted;
(b) That the recommendations for next steps, as outlined in the submitted
report and as listed below, be approved; and that agreement be given
that they are the right areas of focus to take forward at this stage with
the resources the Council has available; that the potential for additional
resources through successful Government funding bids be noted; and
that such matters be delegated to the Director of City Development:
(i) We will continue to identify and deliver transformational projects across
the city, linked to external funding streams.
(ii) We will explore how we can facilitate flexible workspaces and coworking spaces in areas outside of the city centre.
(iii) We will work to capitalise on the role of Culture for the future of our
centres, including the opportunities presented through Leeds2023.
(iv) We will continue to support our local centres as we recognise their
importance in providing services, employment and social
opportunities to local people.
(v) We will continue to support businesses across the whole city and we
will continue to support people who are seeking employment.
(vi) We will continue to encourage collaboration and experimentation to
connect activity across centres of innovation, now and in the future.
(vii) We will explore how we can create a long-term, sustainable way of
collecting local data and intelligence for each of our centres.
(viii) We will continue to drive this work and these recommendations for
next steps forward, both externally across the city and internally
within the Council.
(c) That it be noted that this work will inform the development of and be
reflected within the new City Plan for Leeds which is currently
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 215

50

underway, and that it be noted that Executive Board will be kept
informed of work to develop the City Plan as this progresses.
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report on the decision
relating to Summer Born school admission
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which informed
Executive Board of the findings from a recent Local Government and Social
Care Ombudsman report and which provided details on the actions taken by
the Council in response to that report.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further clarification on
the actions which had been taken by the Council in response to the report,
including the fact that all other similar requests regarding summer born
admissions had been reviewed, and it was confirmed that there were no
further outstanding cases.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report and
the recommendations for improvement, as appended to the submitted
report, be noted;

51

(b) That it be noted that the responsible officer for this matter is the Head
of Learning Systems.
Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to permanently increase
learning places at St Edward's Catholic Primary School from September
2022
Further to Minute No. 11, 23 June 2021, the Director of Children and Families
submitted a report detailing a proposal brought forward to meet the Local
Authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. Specifically, the
submitted report presented a proposal to expand St. Edward’s Catholic
Primary School to permanently increase the number of places offered at the
school in Reception from 20 to 30 places from September 2022. The
submitted report summarised the representations received during the
statutory notice period and which sought a final decision on the proposal.
Prior to the meeting, Board Members had received for their consideration the
full (redacted) versions of the representations received as part of the Statutory
Notice process, which was in addition to the summaries as detailed within the
submitted cover report.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted that the matter
had been considered by the Children and Families Scrutiny Board, with it
being noted that the statement and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board
arising from such consideration were appended to the report. The Executive
Member confirmed that he was happy to accept all of the Scrutiny Board
recommendations, and specifically regarding the recommendation that all
consultation responses be shared in full with Executive Board Members, it
was suggested that these be handled as ‘Background Documents’ which
would be published alongside the agenda papers, but not form part of the
formal agenda, so that Board Members had access to such information.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 216

In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring
that any agreed actions arising from consultation with Ward Members,
specifically in response to transport, highways or access issues were not
delayed, but implemented during the relevant construction period, with it being
undertaken that any specific concern that a Member had would be
investigated.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposal to expand St. Edward’s Catholic Primary School to
permanently increase the number of places offered at the school in
Reception from 20 to 30 places with effect from September 2022, be
approved;
(b) That the recommendation to exempt the decisions arising from this
report from the Call In process, for the reasons as set out in paragraph
23 of the submitted report, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems;
(d) That the conclusions and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board
(Children and Families) arising from its consideration of the proposal to
increase learning places at St. Edward’s Catholic Primary School, as
appended to the submitted report, be noted and accepted.

52

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
paragraph 23 of the submitted report)
Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to permanently increase
learning places at Allerton High School from September 2022
Further to Minute No. 10, 23 June 2021, the Director of Children and Families
submitted a report detailing a proposal brought forward to meet the Local
Authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. Specifically, the
submitted report detailed a proposal to permanently expand secondary
provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of 1100 to 1400 pupils by
increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 220 to 280, with effect from
September 2022. The submitted report summarised the representations
received during the statutory notice period and which sought a final decision
on the proposal.
Prior to the meeting, Board Members had received for their consideration the
full (redacted) versions of the representations received as part of the Statutory
Notice process, which was in addition to the summaries as detailed within the
submitted cover report.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 217

In considering the report, assurance was provided that relevant Ward
Members would continue to be kept informed on the progress of agreed
actions being taken in response to any concerns raised around transport and
highways issues.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposal to permanently expand secondary provision at
Allerton High School from a capacity of 1100 to 1400 pupils by
increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 220 to 280, with effect
from September 2022, be approved;
(b) That the recommendation to exempt the decisions arising from this
report from the Call In process, for the reasons set out in paragraph 24
of the submitted report, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for implementation of such
matters is the Head of Learning Systems.
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
paragraph 24 of the submitted report)
LEADER'S PORTFOLIO
53

Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 36, 21 July 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a report
providing the latest details of the wide ranging activity being undertaken
across the multi-agency partnership as part of the response to, and recovery
from the Covid-19 pandemic. Key information in the report included details of
the work undertaken to increase vaccination uptake, recover backlogs on
services, control the number of cases across the city, as well as encouraging
continued testing, tracing and isolating within the context of most restrictions
being removed and living with the virus.
The Board received an update on the progress being made on the continued
vaccination roll out across the city. Also, responding to an enquiry, information
was provided on the actions being taken to monitor the relevant data and
promote vaccinations in communities where hesitancy remained.
Regarding Members’ comments on a number of issues, the Board received
further information on the actions being taken to progress the response and
recovery from the pandemic as set out in the appended plan, with particular
discussion around the scale of the challenge faced, the ongoing resumption of
services, the establishment of new ways of working and the aim of ensuring
that services were delivered in the most effective way. The Board also
received further information on the challenges and pressures being faced
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 218

during the recovery process, not only in Local Government, but across all
sectors.
Responding to a specific enquiry regarding officer attendance at site visits,
reassurance was provided that where appropriate, such visits would be made,
with it being undertaken that any specific concerns that the Member in
question had on this issue could be addressed separately. More generally, it
was noted that such matters would be considered by the Council’s Silver
Group to ensure that a consistent approach was being taken across
directorates.
Specifically with regard to the Council’s Planning Service, Members
highlighted their willingness for further consideration to be given to the making
of representations to Government about providing Local Authorities with
greater powers around the setting of planning fees.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the updated Response & Recovery Plan, as detailed at Annex A
to the submitted report, which is the summary plan for the period ahead
and which also details ongoing response, risks, recovery and service
recovery efforts, be noted;
(b) That the updated Local Outbreak Management Plan for Leeds, as
detailed at Annex B to the submitted report, which the report highlights
is in-line with the Government’s current Contain Framework, be noted;
(c) That a summary of national developments since the last meeting of
Executive Board (Annex C) and the latest Covid-19 Dashboard
detailing information across the seven key themes (Annex D), be
noted;
(d) That it be noted that there are national announcements anticipated
which will influence local plans, with it also being noted that the next full
update to Executive Board will be in December 2021, with regular
Member updates continuing to be provided.
RESOURCES
54

West Yorkshire Pension Fund - Divestment from Fossil Fuels
Further to Minute No. 52 of the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee
(CEAC) meeting held on 18th January 2021, the Director of Resources
submitted a report which presented for the Board’s consideration the Climate
Emergency Advisory Committee’s recommendation to the West Yorkshire
Pension Fund (WYPF) regarding the divestment from fossil fuels.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted that although the
Council had no direct decision making powers over WYPF, it was appropriate
to raise the issue of investment in fossil fuels with the Pension Fund in
response to the Climate Emergency, and the prospect of such investments
losing value.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 219

The Board discussed this matter in detail and acknowledged that the WYPF
Board members had a duty to act in the best financial interests of its
members. Also, Executive Board considered the role of the Council in this
process and that of WYPF Board members. Members also highlighted how
the consideration of the report raised people’s awareness of the issue of
climate change. At the same time it was acknowledged that the
recommendation of CEAC to divest from fossil fuels within three years was
not supported due to the financial risks involved. The Council would look to
receive information from WYPF regarding progress on divesting from fossil
fuels at the appropriate time and in a way that minimised the risk of any
losses being incurred.

55

RESOLVED – That the West Yorkshire Pension Fund be requested to:(i) be explicit about acknowledging the Climate Emergency and the need
to divest from fossil fuels;
(ii) actively look to divest into alternative, cleaner investments with
comparable returns; and
(iii) report annually against the progress on divestment, specifically against
the region’s declared net zero target.
Gambling Act 2005 - Public Consultation on Policy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which presented to the Board details of the triennial review of the Gambling
Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy, and which sought the Board’s
approval to refer the matter to the relevant Scrutiny Board in accordance with
the Budgetary and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, including the
outcomes from the related statutory consultation exercise undertaken, be
noted; and that the matter be referred to Scrutiny Board (Environment,
Housing and Communities) for consideration in line with the Council’s
Budgetary and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.

56

(The matters referred to within this minute, given that they were decisions
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not
extend to those decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and
Policy Framework Procedure Rules)
Taxi and private hire licensing - Proposed new criterion in Suitability
(Convictions) Policy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which sought the Board’s approval to undertake a consultation exercise upon
proposed new criterion for minor motoring convictions for determining the
suitability of applicants and licensees as drivers in taxi and private hire
licensing.
In introducing the report and in outlining the proposed process moving
forward, the Executive Member highlighted the following corrections proposed
to be made to the submitted report:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 220




That the outcomes of the consultation would be considered by
Licensing Committee followed by Executive Board, and not the other
way around as detailed within the report; and
That the consultation period be scheduled for 6 weeks duration, rather
than the 4 weeks, as detailed within the report.

In considering the report, Members discussed several matters including the
importance of continuing to ensure that appropriate safeguarding measures
remained in place, the timing of the proposed consultation process, the impact
suffered by the taxi trade during the pandemic, the actions being taken to
simplify the consultation process for stakeholders and make it as accessible
as possible, the actions being taken to provide wider support for drivers as
part of the recovery from the pandemic, and addressing the issue of wider
harmonisation across neighbouring Authorities.
With regard to the wider harmonisation of the taxi and private hire trade
across neighbouring Authorities, it was noted that work continued in this area,
with the aim that further detail would be presented to the Board at the
appropriate time.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, subject to the inclusion of the
corrections detailed above, be noted;
(b) That a consultation exercise on the new criterion in the Suitability
Policy, as presented within the submitted report/appendices, but
subject to the inclusion of the corrections detailed above, be approved;

57

(c) That a further report be submitted to the Board outlining the findings of
the consultation and making final proposals on the policy to be
adopted.
Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which outlined
details of proposed savings over the next three years to meet the financial
challenge which continued to be faced by the Council. The proposals were
categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’ or ‘Service Reviews’.
Members acknowledged that a number of assumptions have had to be made
in respect of the current position, whilst further detail on announcements such
as the Government’s Spending Review were awaited.
The Board noted the work which was underway, with specific reference being
made to the review being undertaken into procurement services. In
considering such matters, Members noted the intention to submit further
reports and proposals to the November and December Executive Board
meetings.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the financial position for 2022/23 to 2024/25, as outlined in the
submitted report, be noted, and that it also be noted that further
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 221

savings are required to deliver a balanced budget position for 2022/23
and to close the projected gaps in the years 2023/24 and 2024/25;
(b) That the ‘Business as Usual’ savings, as outlined, be noted, with it also
being noted that decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer
Delegation Scheme (Executive functions);

58

(c) That it be agreed that consultation commences where required with
regard to the ‘Service Review’ proposals, as detailed in the submitted
report, with it being noted that decisions to give effect to them shall be
taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, following any
consultation period, in accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme
(Executive functions).
The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2026/27
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which provided an
update on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23 to
2026/27, with the report highlighting how the strategy aimed to deliver a
robust and sustainable approach towards establishing and maintaining a
stable and prudent financial basis upon which the Council’s services were
delivered.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member
in question with the latest information on the Council’s level of Reserves.

59

RESOLVED – That the updated Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23
to 2026/27, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted.
Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – Month 4 (July)
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which provided an
update on the financial health of the Authority in respect of both the General
Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account, as at month 4 (July)
of the financial year.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information
regarding the current budget position of the refuse collection service, and the
reasons for that position.
Also in response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update on the
work which continued around ensuring the Council was ‘energy secure’
moving forward, with specific reference being made to the continued roll out of
the District Heating scheme in the city. Members highlighted that this was an
area of work which was particularly significant at present, given the
considerable price increases being experienced in gas and electricity.
With regard to the collection of food waste and the associated anaerobic
digestion process, Members received an update regarding national
developments in this area which would continue to be monitored.
RESOLVED –
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 222

(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority, as at Month 4 of
the financial year, be noted, with the projected impact of COVID-19 on
that position also being noted;
(b) That for 2021/22, it be noted that the Authority is forecasting an
overspend of £0.4m;
(c) That it be noted that the position as detailed within the submitted report
does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or national
lockdown arrangements on the financial projections, or any potential
additional costs arising from the current 2021/22 pay negotiations.
DATE OF PUBLICATION:
FRIDAY, 24TH SEPTEMBER 2021
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 1ST OCTOBER 2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 223

This page is intentionally left blank

